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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FREE

The Group continued to face various difficulties and challenges
during this financial year. The slowdown in global economic
growth, and geopolitical risks were on the rise as international
trade wars continued to escalate. While the Group has adopted
various measures to maintain the stability of its businesses, it is
inevitable that the Group's performance was affected resulting
with an overall decrease in the Group's revenue and recorded
a loss. Furthermore, the under-performing stock market over
the years led to a less than satisfactory performance from our
financial services business during these years.

The Group is responding to opportunities and challenges,
accelerating our transformation, and diversifying into different
industries to strive for growth in our business. During the year,
the Group has memoranda of understanding entered into with
various third parties to explore the possibility of investments in
new businesses and raising funds, but the Group has not yet
entered into formal agreements in this regard.

All in all, the Group reassesses and re-engineers its strategies
from time to time in response to the ever-changing environment.
The Group will continue to actively identify and explore
investment and business opportunities to strengthen and
broaden its assets and revenue base into a comprehensive
portfolio. The Group may also consider cautiously to secure
financing for its business development.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Board and
colleagues for their effort and dedication. | would also like to
express my deepest appreciation to all our business partners and
shareholders for their continuing confidence in our Group.

Ma Weihua
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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Financial Review

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$73.7 million
with a gross profit of approximately HK$20.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025 as compared to approximately HK$145.0
million and HK$32.7 million respectively for the last corresponding
year. The loss for the year was approximately HK$89.0 million
as compared to approximately HK$87.6 million for the last
corresponding year. The slight increase in loss for the year was
mainly attributable to the net effect of the followings:

(i) adecrease in gross profit of approximately HK$12.2 million
due to decrease in revenue;

(i) an increase in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$6.6 million;

(i) anincrease in aggregate amount of impairment losses and
written off of receivables of approximately HK$3.4 million
due to the uncertain and difficult economic environment;

(iv) there were recognitions of one-off losses on disposal of
interest in an associate and de-recognition of a subsidiary,
and share of loss of an associate (which was disposed of
in the last corresponding year) in the aggregate amount
of approximately HK$19.8 million in the last corresponding
year.

As at 31 March 2025, the total assets and net assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$677.4 million (2024: HK$767.6
million) and HK$639.6 million (2024: HK$723.8 million) respectively.
The decrease in total assets and net assets were mainly caused
by the loss for the year as mentioned above.

Business Review and Prospects

Trading Business

The Group is principally engaged in trading business in the PRC.
The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$53.7 million
with a loss of approximately HK$28.0 million from its trading
business during year ended 31 March 2025 as compared to
approximately HK$113.2 million with a loss of approximately
HK$29.8 million for the same period in 2024. The decrease in
the loss recorded for the year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly
caused by the decrease in provision for impairment loss on trade
receivables.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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It was expected that in light with the introduction of economic
enhancement measurements by the PRC government,
consumption demand in the retail markets would be increased.
However, as indicated by macroeconomic data such as
purchasing managers’ index being close to or even lower than
50 which may represent a stagnant economy, the economic
environment surrounding the Group’s trading business was less
than satisfactory. Although the PRC government announced a
number of economic stimulus policies, with the conclusion of the
US presidential election and international trade wars including
increasing tariff looming over the market again, the fundamental
market sentiment is not optimistic, which compounded by the
uncertainty about the pace of recovery of the economy, the
consumption patterns of customers became more prudent.
As the Group's trading business focuses on discretionary
goods which are not mandatory for people’s everyday lives,
the above factors together with the Group’s management
hoping to minimise our credit risks with regard to the above-
mentioned macroeconomic conditions and the circumstances
of our individual customers, resulted in a significant decrease of
turnover and revenue during the year.

Under such circumstances, the management of the Group
regularly and prudently re-assessed the individual conditions
of our customers to evaluate the businesses and credit risks
with reference to historical trading and repayment patterns, and
conditions of the market as a whole. With the assistance of an
independent professional valuer on the computation of expected
credit losses, impairment loss on trade receivables amounted
to approximately HK$22.4 million was provided for during the
current year. As mentioned by the Group in prior years, this
provision includes certain customers which encountered financial
difficulties in the relatively weak economic environment and
defaulted in repayments, and hence the Group was more prudent
when conducting business with them, which also contributed
to the Group’s decreasing revenue from trading business.
During the years, despite appropriate measures including legal
proceedings against such customers were taken by the Group
with judgement in favour of the Group by the court and certain
of the customers’ assets were seized and recovered by the
Group thereon, after such legal actions and/or the auctioning
and selling of all seized assets, the management considered
that the Group could not recover further sums from such
customers. Accordingly, after due and careful assessment, such
balances were written off during the current year. The Group
will closely monitor the creditworthiness of the customers and
take appropriate measures including legal proceedings against
defaulting customers and seizure of the customers’ assets for
auctioning and selling of all seized assets, to recover sums from
such customers, whenever appropriate. The management will
continue to stay vigilant on the macroeconomic conditions and
may adjust our product mix in order to satisfy the needs of the
market and drive the growth of the Group's trading business.

Annual Report 2025
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Money Lending and Factoring Business

The Group offers corporate and personal loans in Hong Kong and
the PRC to well-established businesses and affluent individuals
of occupations ranging from executives, businessmen and
professionals. Clients are generally solicited through (i) the
directors and senior management of the subsidiaries whom are
in charge of each of the lending businesses; (i) direct approaches
from clients; and (iii) referral from existing clients.

The money lending portfolio consists of loans with initial
terms generally ranging from 1 to 3 years with principals of
approximately HK$3 million to HK$25 million which are principally
for the development and expansion of their businesses and their
corporate and personal needs.

The Group also offers factoring loans on trade receivables in
the PRC with initial terms of not more than 6 months and sizes
ranging from approximately RMB10 million to RMB20 million in
general. The financing purpose of the Group’s clients is principally
for their operation requirements.

The Group has loan portfolios in Hong Kong and the PRC with
outstanding principals of approximately HK$156.1 million and
factoring receivables of approximately HK$18.4 million as at 31
March 2025. The Group recognised an aggregate interest income
of approximately HK$12.9 million and a loss of approximately
HK$11.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 as compared
to approximately HK$16.8 million and a loss of HK$7.9 million
respectively for the last corresponding year. The increase in loss
was mainly caused by the decrease in interest income recognized
during the year.

Collaterals and guarantors would be obtained from clients
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis by considering the
background, repayment ability and creditworthiness of the
potential clients a whole. While the Group aims to have securities
over the loans granted in accordance with the industry practice
and in compliance with the relevant regulations, if applicable,
unsecured loans may also be granted which is considered by the
Group as a balance of our product-mix and part of our portfolio.
Nevertheless, the Group is conservatively prudent in assessing
the creditworthiness of the unsecured loans including but not
limited to the review and inspection of asset title, asset portfolio,
leverage level and liquidity conditions before approval. Amid
the unstable economic environment, the Group has not made
significant increase to the loan portfolio during the year.
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The general market conditions during the year was not as good
due to a number of reasons as mentioned above, and businesses
across different industries are experiencing difficult times,
which in turn affects the financial strength of our lending clients.
The management of the Group has re-assessed the individual
conditions of our customers to evaluate the businesses and
credit risks with reference to historical repayment patterns, and
conditions of the market as a whole. With the assistance of an
independent professional valuer on the computation of expected
credit losses, impairment loss on loan and interest receivables
amounted to approximately HK$15.8 million was provided for
during the current year, which included balances with a customer
written off after appropriate legal actions taken and due and
careful assessment by the management.

The Group will further assess and closely monitor the
creditworthiness of our potential and existing clients, in
accordance with our internal control measures as discussed
below and, when necessary, formulate the appropriate actions to
reduce our credit risk and recovery of the outstanding amounts.

Finance Leasing Business

The Group is engaged in finance leasing business in the PRC
and mainly offers machinery/equipment-based finance leases,
the terms of which generally ranges from 1 to 5 years and with
size not more than RMB30 million. The Group provides both
direct leasing and sale-leaseback services to customers and the
financing purpose of the Group'’s customers is principally for the
development and expansion of their business.

The finance leasing business maintained a portfolio with
outstanding amount of approximately HK$24.5 million as at
31 March 2025. The finance leasing portfolio has attributed
a turnover of approximately HK$3.7 million with a loss of
approximately HK$2.9 million to the Group during the year ended
31 March 2025 as compared to approximately HK$8.9 million
and a profit of approximately HK$9.2 million respectively for the
last corresponding year. The turnaround is mainly due to the
decrease is recognized interest income during the current year
and recognition of a reversal of impairment loss on finance lease
receivables in the last corresponding year.
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As the management considered asset-heavy clients faces more
business risks in this turbulent economic environment and hence
was more prudent in accepting new businesses, no new finance
lease was granted during the year. Nevertheless with the effort
of the management of the Group in collection of the overdue
amount including taking out necessary legal proceedings to
seize and safeguard the assets secured, the Group successfully
recovered from certain clients. The Group will closely monitor
the creditworthiness of the clients and formulate appropriate
actions for recovery of the outstanding lease receivables, where
appropriate.

Loan Portfolio Summary

In respect of our money lending and factoring business and
finance leasing business, in order to diversify the clients and
lower the concentration of our loan portfolio, our portfolio include
corporations from different industries such as hotel management,
health management, computer software and trading and
individuals. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s lending businesses
has 18 clients with outstanding balances from different types of
loans and fell within the following bands:
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customers

Types of loans amiEs EFRHAH
Finance leases MEHE 2
Factoring loans RIBE™R 1
Corporate loans TEER 7
Personal loans BAER 8
18

Number of

loans

Carrying amounts of loans Mz REE BB
HK$5,000,000 or less 5,000,000 708 A~ 8
HK$5,000,001 — HK$10,000,000 5,000,001-10,000,0007 7t 1
HK$10,000,001 — HK$20,000,000 10,000,001-20,000,0007 75 5
HK$20,000,001 or above 20,000,001 758U & 4
18

As at 31 March 2025, the top five clients constituted
approximately 55% of the total carrying amounts of the Group’s
loan portfolio of the lending businesses.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In addition to minimising the risks by restricting the Group's
source of funds to its internally generated cash resources, the
Group has appointed the directors and senior management
personnel of the subsidiaries whom are in charge of each of the
lending businesses (the “Management Teams”) to be responsible
for the credit assessment, granting of and supervision of loans.
Each of the Management Teams have vast experiences and
knowledge in the industries.

Notwithstanding the nature of the loans granted, the internal
control measures are in general very similar to each other. Each
loan application must go through three stages before granting
to the borrower, namely (i) document collection and verification;
(ii) credit risk assessment; and (i) approval. The following is a
summary of procedures the Group conducts on potential clients
assessment:

(@ identity checks must be performed on potential clients
and the ultimate beneficial owner(s) of the potential clients
by obtaining, including but not limited to, constitution
documents, business registrations, identity cards or
passports;

(b)  background checks must be performed by understanding
the business operations, occupation and employment, the
source and origin of funds and obtaining address proof of
the potential clients, which included utility bills, bank/credit
card statements or formal correspondence issued by either
a governmental department or statutory body;,

() repayment ability of potential clients must be assessed
through their financial statements, assets portfolio (e.g.
properties held) and the related leverage level, liquidity
condition, bankruptcy or winding up or litigation searches,
media and news searches, past payment record (where
applicable) and any other available information to evaluate
their repayment ability,

(d)  check the availability of guarantor(s), if any; and

(e) in case of security being provided as collateral for the loan,
the validity, title and value of the security must be assessed.
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Furthermore, guarantors who provide personal/corporate
guarantee in favour of a loan, where applicable, are also required
to meet the same basic eligibility and approval criteria as the
borrower of loans, and will be required to go through the same
verification and approval procedures.

After credit assessment, with the terms determined (having
taken into consideration factors such as the credit quality
of the clients, their recoverability and the prevalent market
interest rates), loan documents will be prepared and the loans
will be recommended for the Management Teams' review and
approval. The Management Teams will monitor on a continued
basis the credit quality of such loans and may require other
credit enhancement measures from the borrowers from time
to time. The Management Teams are primarily responsible for
the approval of loans by considering whether such loans are on
normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Management Teams conduct regular review and carry out
follow up actions on a continuing basis in respect of overdue
amounts to minimise the Group's exposure to credit risk and
follows up closely with its clients as to the repayment deadlines.
An aging analysis of the borrowers is prepared and reviewed
on a monthly basis. As for loan collection, in case of any minor
defaults, the Management Teams shall send reminders and/
or demand letters to its clients. In case the default persists, the
Group may engage lawyers to advise on the recovery and take
out enforcement actions as and when appropriate.
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Financial Services Business

The Group acquired the financial services business in December
2019 (the "Acquisition”) which is principally engaged in provision
of securities dealing broking, placing, underwriting, margin
financing and asset management services in Hong Kong.

The financial services business has attributed a turnover of
approximately HK$3.4 million with a loss of approximately
HK$30.2 million to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2025, as compared to approximately HK$6.0 million and a
loss of approximately HK$31.5 million respectively for the last
corresponding year.

While there were improvements in the market sentiment of the
Hong Kong stock market in the second half of the year, but mid or
small sized brokerage firms might not benefit from such change,
which attributed to the decrease in revenue from brokerage,
margin financing and underwriting and placing during the current
year.

During the Company's preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, based on the latest financial information available
and the market conditions as mentioned above, the Group re-
assesses its position, with reference to the actual results up to
the date of this report and the prospects of the financial services
business. As such, the profit and cashflow forecast prepared by
the Group for the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
financial services business has incorporated the most updated
information for the best estimate of the impairment of intangible
assets and goodwill, if any. Based on the impairment assessment
on the assets of this business unit, the Group noted that the
carrying amounts of this business unit exceeded their recoverable
amounts, and thus, impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately HK$5.0 million was recognised in the current year.
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In respect of the profit guarantee given by the vendors of the
Acquisition, the Group has actively negotiated with the vendors
for the settlement and has instructed our lawyers to issue
a writ of summons to initiate legal proceedings against the
vendors for recovery of the amount receivable in prior years,
and the Company and the vendors agreed on a settlement
arrangement subsequently. Whilst the vendors were still in default
of the settlement of the outstanding amount, the Company
is in the process of continuing negotiations with the vendors
on settlement of the outstanding amounts under the profit
guarantee. Up to the date of this report, an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$10.1 million was settled by the vendors. Further
updates regarding this profit guarantee will be announced by the
Company as and when appropriate.

Impairment Assessment of Expected Credit Losses

As mentioned in the business review of different business
segments above, the Group has engaged an independent valuer
to conduct valuation in assistance of our impairment assessment
over the receivables as at 31 March 2025.

The independent valuer adopted the expected credit loss model
to measure the expected credit loss of trade and account
receivables, factoring receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, and deposits and other receivables.
Major inputs of the model include (i) probability of default of the
debtor which include assessing the loss stages and checking
forward looking assumptions, (i) loss given default, (iii) exposure
at default, and (iv) discount factor to reflect time value of money.
The model was adopted in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 and was consistently applied as the last
corresponding year.

Potential Business Development and Prospects

The Group remains on the lookout for quality investment
opportunities and may consider diversify into other business
segments to broaden its assets and revenue base and may
consider restructuring its business segments pursuant to the
ever-changing economic environment. The Group will cautiously
search for investment opportunities so as to produce a steady
growth in the Group’s long term performance.
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Securities Investments

The Group invested surplus funds in securities listed in Hong Kong
during the year. The fair value of the Group'’s securities investment
amounted to approximately HK$23.0 million as at 31 March 2025.
The Group recorded a gain on changes in fair value of held-for-
trading investments of approximately HK$12.7 million during the
year as compared to a loss of approximately HK$3.5 million for
the last corresponding year. The Group disposed certain of the
held-for-trading investments with a loss of approximately HK$0.6
million during the year, as compared to a gain of approximately
HK$10.8 million for the last corresponding year. The management
will continue to keep monitoring the stock markets closely and
grasping for opportunities to realise gains from its investment
portfolio.

The other details of the securities investments held as at 31
March 2025 are as follows:
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$59.8 million (2024: HK$129.0 million) and
total borrowings of approximately HK$2.0 million (2024: HK$10.8
million). The Group's gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity, was 0.32% (2024. 1.49%). The liquidity
ratio, being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities was
16.91 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 13.25).

Both the decrease in the gearing ratio and the increase in the
liquidity ratio was mainly due to the decrease in lease liabilities
during the year.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$"), Renminbi (‘RMB”) and US dollar ("US$") and
its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB and US$. The Group does
not enter into any instruments on the foreign exchange exposure.
The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement and
will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk as
appropriate.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Capital Structure and Fund Raising Activities
As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 4,120,600,000.

There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year.

The Company entered into 3 placing agreements with the
respective placing agents on 11 September 2024, 8 October
2024 and 11 December 2024 to place certain new shares of the
Company to independent placees. However, as the conditions of
the placings were not fulfilled on or before the respective long
stop dates, the placings were not successful. Please refer to
the Company’s announcements on the above dates for further
details.

Charges on Group Assets
As at 31 March 2025, none of the Group's asset was pledged to
secure any facilities and borrowings granted to the Group.
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Significant Acquisition and Disposal of Assets
For the year ended 31 March 2025, there has been no significant
acquisition and disposal of assets by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING BY THE GROUP

Competition

The Group competes in its ordinary course of business with other
competitors in the PRC and Hong Kong respectively, which may
have substantially greater financial or other resources than the
Group. The Group may also face competition from new entrants
to the industry having business objectives similar to the Group
and have greater financial resources. If the Group fail to maintain
its advantages in cost control, customer base and quality of
service, it may lose its market share in the market.

Business Concentration

A significant portion of the Group’s revenues is derived from the
operations in the PRC. Unfavourable events in the country could
disrupt our overall business, lower our revenues, and impact the
valuation of our assets.

Furthermore, the revenue derived from the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 82% (2024 75%) of the total
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025. If any of the five
largest customers experiences significant financial difficulty, this
could lower our revenues and the recoverability of the trade
receivables.

Financial Risk

Financial risk factors include credit risk, market risk and liquidity
risk. Details of the aforesaid financial risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are set out in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have significant contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2025.

Commitments
Details of the commitments are set out in Note 30 to this report.
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Employees And Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 53 (2024: 56)
employees. The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the
capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training. The Group remunerates its Directors and
employees mainly based on industry practices and individuals
performance and experience. On top of regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may be granted to
eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as
individual's performance.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year under review, there were no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to maintain high environmental
standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group complied with the relevant laws,
rules and regulation that have a significant impact on the Group
in relation to its business. The Group has always encouraged
all employees to participate environmental activities to make
contribution to the community.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board believes that good governance is essential to the
maintenance of the Group’s competitiveness and to its healthy
growth. The Company has adopted practices which meet the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code.
The Company has been in compliance with all code provisions set
out in the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CULTURE AND STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Company is committed to developing a positive and
progressive culture that is built on its purpose and values; one
that allows employees across the Group to thrive, meet their full
potential, and that enables the Company to deliver long-term
sustainable growth and success.

The Company's purpose is to connect, promote and progress our
business and the communities for the prosperity of all. Our values
include:

Integrity — to do the right things

Diversity — to recognize great ideas come from anywhere
Excellence - to promote the best-in-class in what we do
Collaboration - to be better together always

The Company is committed to ongoing strategic planning process
to identify and assess the opportunities and challenges that the
Group might face and to generate sustainable long-term value for
shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of the
Group and its duties include the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, business strategies, internal control systems,
material transactions, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational, financial and legal compliance matters.
The Board delegates the authority to manage the daily affairs
of the Group to the senior management. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the senior management on behalf of the Group.
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Specifically in relation to corporate governance function, the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance function as a
whole, and establishes an internal control group to be responsible
for the specific operation. During the year ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this report, the Board had performed the
following duties:

1. Developing and reviewing relevant corporate governance
policy and practice of the Company;

2. Reviewing and inspecting continuous professional
development and training of Directors and senior
management;

3. Reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company being in compliance with the statutory and other
regulatory provisions;

4. Developing, reviewing and checking code and provision of
conducts applicable to the Directors and employees; and

5. Reviewing that the Company being in compliance with the
CG Code and corporate governance reporting requirements.

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the business
and market changes and the Company’s performance, position
and prospectus to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties. All Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information in relation to the Group as well as
the advice from and services provided by the joint company
secretaries of the Company, if and when required, with a view to
ensure that the procedures are in compliance and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

There are established procedures for Directors upon
reasonable request, to seek independent advice in appropriate
circumstances for them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, at the Company’s expenses.

BRimtXEaRETH EFTEEES
TEEARE TRABEZ/ NMEGEARE
BE-RBE_Z_AF=A=+—HLEF
ERkFTREAM EFGERIT T
fE:

1. BERBSNERBRRBEERELGEERR
B

2. BAABEREFERSREEASNFER
BEERKRIE

3. BHRERAATERTEERAME
ERESENBERER ;

4. FIE-BAKRBREEEREENERTE
A% 5 &2

5. BRARDBTEEELTUREEE
AWEEREVE R

PREFERHEAEBRTHEHEALRD
BIRBE-RRMAIRZBRAEMN UEEFET
BREAREFEETHERE -FIAESHAAT2
ERkBEREREBAEEZAEMREBER
WRERBRENAATRELDMEZR
BRI  BRERFMBAREFGRAE—E
RRA KRB ESET -

AATEHEARRES BEETELHEE
RTEREBIBRUBIRENRERE
> BB ARAARRLE-



MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SR ETRS

Directors’ Liabilities Insurance

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect
of potential legal actions against the Directors arising out of
corporate activities of the Group pursuant to code provision C.1.8
of the CG Code. Such Directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed
and renewed annually.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, no claim has been
made against the Directors.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises 4
executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 4 independent
non-executive Directors from different businesses and
professional fields. The Directors, including non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
balance of valuable and diversified businesses and professional
expertises, experiences and independent judgment to the
Board for its efficient and effective management of the Group's
business.

The Board during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this report has comprised the following Directors:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ma Weihua (Chairman)
(Appointed on 21 August 2024)

Executive Directors:
Ms. Zheng Juhua
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
(Resigned on 10 February 2025)
Mr. Gong Huanghui
(Appointed on 26 August 2024)
Ms. Cao Li
(Appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit (Appointed on 10 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Deputy Chairman)
(Appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter
(Resigned on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Chen Chao
(Appointed on 21 October 2024)
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Save as Ms. Zheng Juhua being the mother of Mr. Lau Hoi Kit,
there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board.
The composition of the Board reflects a diverse yet balanced set
of skills and experience which is essential for effective leadership
of the Company. Biographic details of Directors are disclosed in
the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section of the Report of the Directors.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
also reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
change of such information.

Chairman

The key role of the Chairman is to provide leadership to the
Board. In performing his duties, the Chairman shall ensure
that the Board functions effectively in the discharge of its
responsibilities. The Chairman also has the responsibility of taking
the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company and the Group.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed four independent non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth and Mr. Yeung Yat
Chuen have appropriate professional qualifications and related
experiences in financial matters.

During the year, Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (“Mr. Chi"), one of the
independent non-executive Directors, retired by rotation and,
being eligible, offered himself for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 20 September 2024. Mr. Chi
joined the Company since April 2011 and has been serving as
an independent non-executive director for more than nine years.
The Company has complied with the code provision B.2.3 of the
CG Code that the election of Mr. Chi as an independent non-
executive director was subject to a separate resolution and the
relevant circular contained reasons why the Board was of the
view that Mr. Chi was still independent and should be re-elected.
The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years
which could be terminated by either party giving to the other not
less than 1 month’s written notice.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws"). The Company has established a nomination committee
to assist the Board for reviewing its composition, monitoring the
appointment and independence, where applicable, of Directors,
and identifying suitable and qualified individuals to become board
members where necessary.

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The Directors (including those
appointed for a special term) to retire in every year shall be those
who have been longest in office since their last election but as
between persons who became Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves)
be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the Directors
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors whenever
necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by them.

The Directors are committed to comply with code provision C.1.4
of CG Code on Directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board will be informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities during the year under review.
In addition to their own participation in professional training,
relevant training and reading materials were provided to the
Directors by the Company in the year to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company's
strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The
Company will also take into consideration its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, there are two female
Directors (i.e. Ms. Zheng Juhua and Ms. Cao Li). Going forward, the
Company aims to at least maintain one female representation
on the Board and will continue to take opportunities to further
improve gender diversity over time, by paying due regard to the
proportion of female and male representation in the Board when
identifying potential candidates for directorships.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the implementation of the Diversity Policy to ensure
the effectiveness of the Diversity Policy.

The Board also recognises the importance of achieving
diversity at the workforce level. As at 31 March 2025, the
gender ratio of the workforce of the Group (including the senior
management) was approximately 1 male to 1 female. In striving
to maintain gender diversity in the workforce, the Group adopts
considerations and measurable objectives similar to those
applicable to the Board level when identifying and recruiting key
personnel across the Group's operations.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and valuable experience and input are
available to the Board. Taking into account the following channels,
the Nomination Committee considered that the Company had
in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent and valuable element on the Board:

. Annual meeting between the Chairman and all independent
non-executive Directors without presence of other Directors
providing effective platform for the Chairman to listen
independent views on various issues concerning the Group;
and

. Independent professional advice would be provided to
independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable
request to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

Whistleblowing and Anti-Corruption Policies

A whistleblowing policy for employees to voice concerns
about possible improprieties of the Group in a confidential and
anonymous manner and an anti-corruption policy to promote an
anti-corruption culture have been put in place by the Company.
The policies require its officers and employees to adhere to high
ethical business standards and monitors the implementation
of such measures under the overall supervision of the Audit
committee.

Remuneration of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are paid fees generally
in line with market practice and taking into consideration the
responsibilities and time spent by the independent non-executive
Directors on the Company’s affairs. The remuneration of the
other Directors is determined by the Chairman of the Board in
consultation with the Remuneration Committee after taking into
consideration market trends and responsibilities and performance
of the individual with a view to provide attractive reward to and
retain high performing individuals.
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Responsibilities in Respect of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Group's consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements. The Directors also
acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group are published in a timely
manner.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainty relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor, Reanda HK CPA
Limited (formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.PA. Limited), are set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 117 to 126.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The joint company secretaries are responsible to the Board for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and Board activities
are efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are
achieved through adherence to proper Board processes and the
timely preparation and dissemination to Directors comprehensive
meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and
Board Committees are prepared and maintained by the joint
company secretaries to record in sufficient details the matters
considered and decisions reached by the Board or Committee,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by
any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings
and meetings of Board Committees are sent to Directors and
Committee members respectively for comments and records and
are available for inspection by any Director upon request.

The joint company secretaries are responsible for ensuring
that the Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
that it takes these into consideration when making decisions for
the Group.
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The joint company secretaries are also directly responsible for
the Group’s compliance with all obligations of the Listing Rules
and the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs,
including the preparation, publication and despatch of annual
reports and interim reports within the time limits laid down in the
Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the joint company secretaries advise the Directors
on their obligations for disclosure of interests and dealings in the
Group's securities, connected transactions and inside information
and ensures that the standards and disclosures required by the
Listing Rules are observed and, where required, reflected in the
annual report of the Company.

The appointment and removal of the joint company secretaries
is subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws.
Whilst the Joint Company Secretary reports to the Chairman, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the joint company secretaries. Mr. Chau Kin Cheung, Alfred has
been appointed as company secretary in November 2021. He
joined the Group in October 2021 and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Group's affairs. Mr. Choi Pun Lap has been appointed
as company secretary in September 2024. The joint company
secretaries confirmed that they have complied with all the
required qualifications, experience and training requirements of
the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the
financial and operating performance, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Notices
of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other Board meetings.

For committee meetings, notices are served in accordance
with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms of
reference.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are normally sent to all Directors before
each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to senior management whenever necessary.

Annual Report 2025
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Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions from time to time when a board-level decision on a
particular matter was required.

Guidelines are in place which stipulate that any material matter
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or Director will be dealt with at a duly convened Board meeting.
The Company's Bye-laws also contain provisions stipulating the
procedures according to which any material matters involving
conflict of interests are to be approved at Board meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings, recording sufficient details of
matters considered and decisions reached, are kept by the
secretary of the meetings, and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

During the year, a meeting has been held by the independent
non-executive Directors and the Chairman without the executive
Directors present (the “Independent Meeting”), twenty-four
Board meetings and two general meeting were also held and the
individual attendance of each Director is set out below:
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General Board Independent
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting
%g ﬂﬁij{@ %gs Elni% ﬁjgé
Mr. Ma Weihua (Chairmar) ERERE (78)
(Appointed on 21 August 2024) RZZZMENEZ+—HEZRD) 212 19/19 N/ARIER
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHETL
(ceased to act as Chairlady on [H-E-MENBZT—HEFE
21 August 2024) ETER) 2/2 23/24 17
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEERE
(Resigned on 10 February 2025) ERIZZHEZATHED 2/2 1/22 NARER
Mr. Gong Huanghui EEERE
(Appointed on 26 Auguist 2024) (RZEZMENEZ+AREZD 12 217 N/ARER
Ms. Cao Li EBEYL
(Appointed on 11 December 2024) RZE-_mE+_F+-HEZD) N/AREH 506 N/ARER
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit BAKE
(Appointed on 10 February 2025) (RZE-RE_B+REZEA N/ATRER 112 N/ARER
Mr. YU Pak Yan, Peter SACEE
(Resigned on 21 October 2024) [EBRZZ-METAZ+—HEHD 02 414 111
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General Board Independent

Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting
i BRRAE EE BigsE
MIr. Han Zhenghai (Daputy Chaimmarn) BEBLE @28

(Appointed on 11 December 2024) RZB-ME+-A+-HEZMA) N/AT B 6/6 N/AT B
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEHRE 212 24124 1"
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen BEREE 2/2 24/24 7
M. Chen Chao B@LE

(Appointed on 21 October 2024) (RZBZME+E-+—REZD) NATE 10110 NAT B
BOARD COMMITTEES E5Z8E

The Board has established 3 committees, namely the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman)
M. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

(Resigned on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Chen Chao

(Appointed on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Han Zhenghai

(Appointed on 11 December 2024)

The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Chi Chi
Hung, Kenneth, who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company's existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The main duties of
the Audit Committee include the followings:

(@  To review the consolidated financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
Group's staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, compliance officer or auditor;

(b)  To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures;

() To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit; and

(d)  To review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of management, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor.

The Audit Committee performed the work during the year
includes the followings:

o reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company
as to whether they are in compliance with the accounting
standards and relevant requirements in relation to financial
reporting under the Listing Rules and other laws,

o reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system of the Group; and

o reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
financial reporting and statutory compliance matters.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, four meetings have been
held by the Audit Committee to approve the re-appointment of
the auditor, review the audit plan for the year ended 31 March
2024, approve the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and to review the unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements (including
accounting policies and practices adopted) of the Group for the
six months ended 30 September 2024 and recommended such
consolidated financial statements to the Board for approval.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, the consolidated financial statements and other
reports for the year ended 31 March 2025 and discussed any
significant audit matters with the Company’s external auditor
and the senior management before recommending them to
the Board for consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
recommended the Board in relation to the re-appointment of
Reanda HK CPA Limited (formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited) as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:
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Director Name Attendance
EEH4 HEX
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman) SEBEE (FE) 4/4
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter FRACHKE

(Resigned on 21 October 2024) ERZZ2ZAFE+AZ+—H&D 2/3
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen BmERGE 4/4
Mr. Chen Chao FRiEB A

(Appointed on 21 October 2024) (RZEZWFE+HBZ+—HEZMD 11
Mr. Han Zhenghai BiEB/EE

(Appointed on 11 December 2024) RZZ_NE+_B+—HEZD N/AT3E FR

Annual Report



MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SR ETRS

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Chen Chao (Chairman)
(Appointed on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter
(Resigned on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Han Zhenghai
(Appointed on 11 December 2024)

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties.
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

(@ To review, recommend and approve the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management;

(b)  To review, recommend and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(c) To determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management;

(d) To review, recommend and approve the compensation
payable to Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment;
and

(e) To establish transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.
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The Remuneration Committee performed the work during the ¥MEZEEERNAEERNETZTIEAELUT
year includes the followings: £IE .

e reviewed the remuneration policy for the Directors and o 1ENEBEEASREIEAEZFHINBEER ;
senior management; and P4

e reviewed and approved, with delegated responsibility from o  BEIKLE REZZRE SLEEK
the Board, the remuneration package of each Director and BREEABZFHMNEE  BI1FKRNTE
the senior management including bonus payment, pension A BRI RENE G0B) °
right and compensation payable, if any.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, seven meetings have REEZE_Z_FF=ZB=+—HIEFER"
been held by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration %ﬁﬁMéﬁ@E?ﬂﬁt REE-FMEESE

Committee had discussed and reviewed the remuneration

packages for all Directors and senior management. FiBo

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: ¥ EEE T &M E

SRIBSFTAEEEREMRE

EYN= )|

REBEEZZ_HAF=ZRA=+T—HLEFER>
HEEZENBERNT

Director Name Attendance
EEH4A HEX
Mr. Chen Chao (Chairman) PRI E (/)

(Appointed on 21 October 2024) RZZ_NE+B-+—HEZD 3/3
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RECEE

(Resigned on 21 October 2024) ERZZ2OFE+AZ+—H&D 3/4
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMEE 7/7
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen mEHRSTE 717
Mr. Han Zhenghai BiEB/EE

(Appointed on 11 December 2024) (RZEWE+ "B +—HEZMD 2/2
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Nomination Committee RLEZEY
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairman and the REZEETHARTEEKRUTEILIEHTT
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely: ERAM DRIS -
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Chairman) BERREE (F/EF)
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMLESE
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RACHKE

(Resigned on 21 October 2024) ERE-OE+B-+—HED
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHIEL L
Mr. Chen Chao PRAB A4

(Appointed on 21 October 2024) (RZEZNF+EZ+—HEZD
Mr. Han Zhenghai BIEBESE

(Appointed on 11 December 2024) (RZEZNFE+-B+—HEZD

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of RZLEECER ETEZEBESHE  BR2H A
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The HEBREBS -RL2EEC 2T ERSOHE
main duties of the Nomination Committee include the followings: W F&I& :

(@ To review the criteria and procedures of selection (a) ESEREEERSHKEEASZIZEL
of Directors and senior management, and provide R TiIRHEZ;
suggestions;

(b) To conduct extensive search for qualified candidates of (b)) EZYESEREETEEASHREEA
Directors and senior management; BZ NEE;

() To review the Board diversity policy and the progress on () BTESEME L TIbBISRKRZBURFT
achieving the objectives set for implementing the said HTENEENRITEE ; &

policy; and

(d To assess the candidates for Directors and senior (d) EHBEERSREEBASZEEA T
management and provide the relevant recommendations. IREEREERR -
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Nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee include the followings:

. assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

. in considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Nomination Committee will take into account a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not be
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service of the individual as the selection criteria; and

. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, six meetings have been
held by the Nomination Committee to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and the effectiveness of the
Diversity Policy.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee
Director at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2025 is
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as follows:

Director Name Attendance
EEH4Y HER
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Chairman) BERREE (F/EF)

(Appointed on 22 December 2023) 6/6
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEMESE 6/6
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter FRACKE

(Resigned on 21 October 2024) EREOE+B-+—HFD 3/4
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHIEL L 6/6
Mr. Chen Chao FREB ST E

(Appointed on 21 October 2024) RZE_WFE+A-+—HEZMD 2/2
Mr. Han Zhenghai BIEEEE

(Appointed on 11 December 2024) RZE_MNF+A+—BEZD 171
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Board adopted the Inside Information Policy, which contains
the guidelines to the Directors, senior management and all
relevant employees (likely possessing the unpublished inside
information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code
regarding securities transactions by Directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. The Company has received written confirmation
from each Director that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year. Details of Directors” interests are disclosed in
the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” section of the
Report of the Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the risk management
(including, among others, material risks relating to ESG) and
internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis, and
for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is also responsible
for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems with regard to the
objectives of the Group. The established systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or 10ss.

The Group has recruited personnel to create and amend
appropriate procedures to strengthen the internal control and
compliance of the relevant rules and regulations. The Group will
stay focus on proper risk management and other compliance
issues at firms whilst taking necessary actions and proactively
gatekeeping on the code of the daily operation of the financial
services business, and fulfill the regulatory requirements from
time to time.
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During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review via an appointed internal
control adviser to perform internal audit function, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects on a rotation basis. Based on the
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of
the Audit Committee, the Board considered the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group were effective and
adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas
across the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which
are appraised and maintained. The risk management system, as
well as the internal control system, are continuous, proactive and
systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems is reviewed by conducting internal audit assignments.
Recommendations for major observations of control weaknesses
from the audits will be provided, so as to resolve material internal
control defects.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditors are Reanda HK CPA Limited
(formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.PA. Limited). There has
been no change in the Company's external auditors for the
preceding three years.

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and
service charges of the non-audit services to be performed by
the Company’s external auditor, Reanda HK CPA Limited, and
considered that such services have no adverse effect on the
independence of their audit works.
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A summary of audit services provided by the external auditor for R ZAREE > INERHETIRE > BERREHE
the year and their corresponding remunerations is as follows: MR EERMEWNT

Nature of services Amount

R MEE Ef.L]

HK$'000

THT

Audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 768

BE_T_AF=-A=+—HULEFEZEZRH
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AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has not
amended its Bye-laws.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account the financial
results, general business conditions and strategies and the
capital requirements of the Group. The Board will also consider
the possible effects on the Company’s creditworthiness and the
Company's shareholders’ interests. The payment of dividend
is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong and the bye-laws of the Company. The
Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meetings

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at the general meetings of
the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting (“SGM") to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. Eligible Shareholders
who wish to convene a SGM must deposit a written requisition
(the "Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 2206-10, 22nd Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails
to proceed to convene such SGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
himself/herself/themselves may do so in accordance with
the provisions of section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.
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Right to Nominate Directors for Election at General
Meetings

Shareholder who wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director must deposit
a written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2206-10, 22nd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited (the “Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar”), at 17/
F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary. The Notice must state clearly
the name of the Shareholder(s) and his/her/their shareholding,
the full name of the person proposed for election as a Director,
including the person’s biographical details as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder
concerned (not the person to be nominated). The Notice must
also be accompanied by a letter of consent signed by the person
nominated to be elected on his/her willingness to be elected as a
Director.

The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence on the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting held for
the election of Directors and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified by the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in compliance with the rules of procedures, the Company
Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the Company and
the Board to consider to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting proposing such person to be elected as a
Director.

Annual Re
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of continuing
communications with the Company’s shareholders and investors,
and maintains ongoing dialogues with them through various
channels. The primary communication channel between the
Company and its shareholders is through the publication of its
interim and annual reports.

The Company'’s registrars serve the shareholders with respect to
all share registration matters.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a useful forum
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Board
members and management of the Company are available to
answer shareholders’ questions and explain the procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll, if necessary. Any relevant
information and documents on proposed resolutions are normally
sent to all shareholders at least 21 clear days before the annual
general meeting.

All shareholders’ communications, including interim and annual
reports, announcements and press releases are available on
the Company’'s website at www.midt.hk. The latest business
developments and core strategies of the Company can also be
found on the website, keeping the communications with investors
open and transparent.

The Company has reviewed the above shareholders’
communication policy and considered that the implementation of
such policy was effective during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public who may contact the Company by
phone on (852) 2598 9868 during normal business hours, by fax at
(852) 2598 9878 or by e-mail at info@chaoshang.hk.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Modern Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited (the
“Company” or “Modern Inno DT", together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group” or “We") is pleased to present
our annual Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
(the "Report”). This Report aims to provide our key stakeholders
with a clear and transparent overview of our sustainability
management approach, strategies, policies and performance, in
creating value for our employees, customers, the environment,
and the community as a whole. The ESG Report is prepared by
our Group with the professional assistance of APAC Compliance
Consultancy and Internal Control Services Limited.

Preparation Basis And Scope

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2
to the Listing Rules — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain”
provision in the Listing Rules.

The ESG Report summarises the performance of our Group with
respect to corporate social responsibility, covering its operating
activities which are considered material by the Group’s business
and operations, as well as their sustainability impacts. The
covered business segments are (i) trading, (i) money lending and
factoring, (iii) finance leasing and (iv) financial services in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). With the aim
to optimise and improve the disclosure requirements in the ESG
Report, our Group has taken initiative to formulate policies, record
relevant data as well as implement and monitor measures. The
ESG Report shall be published both in Chinese and English on the
website of the Stock Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy
between the Chinese and the English versions, the English
version shall prevail.

Reporting Period
This ESG Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025.
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Contact Information

Our Group welcomes your feedback on this ESG Report for
our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
info@chaoshang.hk.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in trading, money lending and
factoring, finance leasing and financial services businesses.

. Trading Business: Trading of food and electronic products in
the PRC.

° Money Lending and Factoring Business: Provision of
corporate and personal loans in Hong Kong and the PRC.

. Finance Leasing Business: Provision of both direct leasing
and sale-leaseback services in the PRC, and mainly offering
machinery/equipment-based finance leases.

. Financial Services Business: Provision of securities dealing
broking, placing, underwriting, margin financing and asset
management services in Hong Kong.

OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH TO
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Sustainability Strategy

We firmly believe that sustainability brings benefits not only to the
community but also to our business operations and stakeholders
in the long term. We aim to create positive value for our
shareholders, employees, customers, and suppliers. To embrace
sustainability, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has approved
our sustainability strategy, which is built on four sustainability
pillars: (1) Creating Value for Our Employees, (2) Creating Value For
Our Customers, (3) Creating Value For The Environment, and (4)
Creating Value For Our Community, and corresponding goals and
targets for each of the sustainability pillar.

BrAgE R
EMEEEDEH IR KB R RIERIESG
RERMEOIE - F BB E T RBP4 -
info@chaoshang.hk o
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Goal:

Creating Vvalue for Our Employees:
ARMMESAEEE:

To enhance the well-being and maximise the benefits for our
employees

=B TAVEFMR =

Creating Value for Our Customers:

ABMNERRIEEE !

To uphold a high product quality standard and enhance customer
satisfaction

BREEaELREERE EagRRRE

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE AND
BOARD'S OVERSIGHT

The Board takes the ultimate responsibility for overseeing the
Group's ESG strategy and reporting. Delegated by the Board of the
Company, our ESG Working Group oversees the ESG management
approach, drives the development and implementation of ESG
related matters, and advises the Board on the ESG-related
matters below on a regular basis, including but not limited to:

o Developing and reviewing the Group's ESG responsibilities,
vision, objectives, strategies, framework, principles and
policies;

o Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s ESG policies and
practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o Monitoring communication channels and methods between
the Group and its stakeholders;

o Evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG-related
issues (including but not limited to climate-related risks,
as well as environmental and social risks along the supply
chain), ensuring adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
ESG-related structures and business models, and adopting
and updating the Group's ESG policies as necessary;

o Reviewing the annual ESG report to ensure compliance with
relevant requirements; and

o Assessing and reviewing the Group’s ESG performance and
progress made against goals and targets.
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Creating Value for The Environment:
AIRIRRIEEE !

To combat climate change and incorporate
environmental considerations into our daily
operations by the adoption of green measures
BIBRES AR B RESEAR
IRERZMARMNEESEE SR

Creating Value for Our Community:
ABMANHLERIEEE !

To give back to the community through
donations and volunteering activities
EBEERE T EHEIENE

AFEEREAREFEEE

EFEHEEAEEMESCRE K ERAE R
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Our Sustainability Governance Structure
BMNAEBERERERRE

The Board
BT

ESG Working Group

ESG T{E/\#H

ESG-related Functional Departments
ESG#H B SE 2B P

ESG-RELATED RISK MANAGEMENT ESGHER AR EIE

To ensure business resilience, we implemented a robust
ESG-related risk management system and procedures. The
ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in
identifying and managing ESG-related risks, while the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group's
risk management activities and monitoring material ESG risks.

Our sustainability-related risk management process involves the

following key steps:

Step 1.

Identification
B—%  #A

Step 2.
Evaluation
- 2

Step 3.
Prioritisation
B=9 I BRI

HIEREFHRIE > HFIE I 7 IR 2BIESCHE
FEREERANIZF ESCLIENMERTER
BEEEHNMNEIRESCHEARR MEEE
REEEAEERREEEHNEREKRESC
BRI RQEE - RPN FEEREMA
BREEBRECEUTEESR:

Step 4.
Mitigation
SOY AR

The ESG Working
Group, supported by
an independent third-
party consultant,
identified ESG-related
risks (including
climate-related risks
and environmental
and social risks along
the supply chain).
ESGL{E/\AB7E%& L
FE=HERNIHET
M AIESGHERT AR (B
15 U1z A8 A R B Uz
HEHE P RIRIEN T
FRRE) o

Further information on our risk management approach can
be found in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of our
annual report.

The potential impacts
and likelihood of the
identified ESG-related
risks are evaluated.
T3 A1 B BIESGAB B
R0 BERZER A
BEMEEITE (G ©

ESG-related risks are
prioritised according
to their risk levels

in terms of their
potential impact and
likelihood.

TR HRESGAE BR & P Y
TBTE R E R A] SEME
HEBKFETER
7)o

Mitigation plans

and actions are
formulated to reduce
the impact and
likelihood of ESG-
related risks that
have been identified.
B EREE B RY
ESGHE A Jo Bz B9 52 28
AT BE MRV R AR /5 22
MiTHh o

RN MR REEEIE S HAVEE > T2 RH
PINERIMEXERRE I —H-
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BANEZRFMEENRERBER

Engagement channels
1ZHERE

REGULAR COMMUNICATION CHANNELS el
Stakeholders Issues of concern
Fin&E REEIE
Government and regulatory e Comply with the laws and
authorities regulations
I 2 B B 1 A BFEBERRER
J Proper tax payment
HoEMTR

Shareholders and Investors e
REREEE

Employees o
(=]

Promote regional economic
development and employment
HE RIS B R

Return on the investment
K&

Information disclosure and
transparency
BRHRENEHE
Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders
RIERG R R AT RSB

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

IR B SRR R

Working environment

TEIRIR

Career development opportunities
BELERE

Self-actualisation

BREIR

Occupational health and safety
BERERAZS

Staff remuneration, benefits and
well-being

BT EBF R fait

On-site inspections and checks
iR REE

Research and discussion through
work conferences, work reports
preparation and submission for
approval

FBIFERE REIMFRERIE
e R R 3T K 5 o
Annual reports and
announcements

FIR KA1

Company website

/NS

Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings
RERBFAGREMKREARE
Annual reports and
announcements

FIR A

Newsletter

R

Meeting with investors and analysts
HEEBEERDTEERA

Websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange

A B 48k e Bk 22 P 48 s
Company contact information
PN

Meetings and conferences
BEHNGE

Trainings, seminars, briefing
sessions

Bl g RENE
Entertainment, cultural and sport
activities

1R%E AL BB B G ED
Feedback box

RREKRERE

"ERFFER
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Stakeholders Issues of concern Engagement channels
FinE RAEEIE EHEERE
Customers . Safe and high-quality products o Email and customer service hotline
Eg S EEREBEED BI RE P REAE
o Stable relationship . Visits and meetings
BT R REmE
. Information transparency
BEikERR
o Business ethics
[EEFEXE
Bank . To repay loans on schedule, monitor e Work conferences
R1T operating conditions and risks and TEE=

Financial Institution
ISR

Peer/Industry associations

R TEHE

Media
HIE

Public and Communities
NREANLTRTE

Fid

operate with honesty and credibility
RREEEEN BEREERRTKE
%o WLGHIE A TVEE

Compliance with the laws and
regulations
BEPBERARERER

Experience sharing and cooperation
KERoZHEHSF

Fair competition

NEFHEF

Transparent information
ERHARA

Community involvement
HES2H

Social responsibilities
HEEE

On-site Visits, post-loan

tracking and various business
communication

Bt E ERBHASERER
Eil

Work conferences

TEE=

On-site visits, post-loan

tracking and various business
communication

BT -BREMAEERER
il

Industry conference and seminars
TEEZLMAE

Site visit

BitEE

Media
IR

Volunteering

ELRH

Village visiting

NEEERER

Charity and social investment
BERMERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We conduct regular materiality assessments to identify, prioritise
and evaluate material ESG-related issues that are relevant to the
Group and its key stakeholders. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, both internal and external key
stakeholder groups through online questionnaires were carried
out this year. The materiality assessment follows a three-step
process, outlined as follows:

EEMTME

RMERHETEZ T UHF - BREE

FHHESAERREFTEFDERBNE

ARESGERRE ° 7218 32 BY F 15 48 35 R BE I Y 177 B

TOAFERBS LS HEETEREISND
ERNELETBBR - BEEUTENBERES

BUT =@ :

Step 1.
Identification

F—% . HAl

Step 2.
Prioritisation
B BREE

Step 3.
Validation
B=H I BER

By referencing to the
requirements of the HKEX
Listing Rules and considering
industry trends, the Group
identified 20 ESG-related
issues that are relevant to the
our business operations.
BB EHA I EmARA
ERMITEBS > REREH
AT B B T EAE R
BI201EIESGHE A% RE ©

We conducted an online
survey inviting stakeholders
to rank and prioritise the
identified ESG-related

issues. Based on the survey
results, a materiality matrix
was generated, which
indicates the importance of
these issues from both the
stakeholders’ and the Group's
perspectives. The Report
discloses the most material
issues as determined by both
perspectives.
HMETTHE AT BE
A& HE A BIESCHE R =&
BETT D EREES o 1R
BREER BMGREE
KBRS R IEfEE A B
MAEENAE KR ZEBER
BEEM o ARSHETIRE
EMEAEEENRENE

o

The ESG Working Group and
the Board have reviewed and
validated a list of 9 material
ESG issues to confirm and
finalise the selection of issues
for disclosure in this Report.
ESGTEVEFEEE B
% RN FE S0 M 9B B AESG
HEMFFR > LI EERR
EHRENZESE
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Through our materiality assessment process, we have identified
9 material ESG-related issues that hold significant importance for
the Group’s business and its stakeholders. The materiality matrix
below displays the results, with the most material ESG-related
issues indicated in the top-right corner.

Materiality Matrix

BBRMONEEZMTEBERE  HAH L9
EHNAEBEZNRNEEFEENEKR
ESGHERAZRE - U TV E BB EB/R T 5T
ER - REAMESCIHRZRBAUN ERENSG L
o

BEEER
Eom@ A
® 16 1@ @ @3 @7
9,10
4 150 ®19
]
_8 ® 13
) 20 18 17 14 12
gg ) ° () () (]
c ik
SH
= ®6
&
(7] 5¢ 023
o4
Zw ;
Lo Significance to the Group g
HEERENEEY )
List of ESG Issues Material
ESGaxRESI&R BEREHE
Environmental Protection 1 Air Emission
IRIGfRE EE @ BER
2 Waste
EEEY)
3 Carbon emissions and energy
BRHEIS A2 BE TR
4 Water resources
KE TR
5 Climate change risks
RIFECR R
6 Environmental risks in the supply chain
HAESE P IRIR AR
Employee Welfare 7 Employee benefits v
EEEA BEREH]
8 Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination v
TERE L RRIER
9 Occupational health and safety v
ERRENAZS
10  Employee development and training v
BT REEE
11 Employment compliance v
BIEEHRME




MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
Bibi ~ 4L & RS TR

List of ESG Issues Material
ESG:EES & BEXRZEE
Operational Excellence 12 Social risks in the supply chain v
SHEE g PR E Rk
13 Hazards and emergency response planning v
KRR EERE
14 Product safety and stability management v
EmZeRIEEMEIE
15 Customer service
BAE AR
16 Data protection and cybersecurity
HIRREREELZE
17 Intellectual property rights management
HMHEREE
18  Marketing and advertising
miGHEERES
19 Anti-corruption v
RE=S

Community Contribution 20  Community investment
HEEE HERE
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board'’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the management
of the Group's sustainability issues. During the year, the Board
spent time in evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our
operation and formulating relevant policy in dealing with the risks.
The oversight of the Board is to ensure the management has all
the right tools and resources to oversee the ESG issues in the
context of strategy and long-term value creation.

ESG Working Group

The Group attaches great importance to ESG work. Under the
leadership of the Board, a working group was set up (“ESG
Working Group”) to implement specific safety and environmental
protection work so as to comply with government requirements,
implement the concept of “safety and environmental protection”
in its operation and fulfil its social responsibilities.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process and its risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues were reviewed by the ESG Working
Group at the meeting, which is held once per year. During the
reporting period, the ESG Working Group and the management
reviewed the ESG governance and different ESG issues.

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, a materiality
assessment is conducted each year. We ensure various platforms
and channels of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond to our key stakeholders. Through general communication
with stakeholders, the Group understands the expectations and
concerns of stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the
Group to make more informed decisions, and to better assess
and manage the resulting impact.

Annual Report 2025
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification
by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritisation with
stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and determining
material ESG issues based on results of communication among
stakeholders and the management. Hence, this can enhance
understanding of their degree and change of attention to each
significant ESG issue and can enable us to more comprehensively
plan our sustainable development work in the future. Those
important and material ESG areas identified during our material
assessment were discussed in this report.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have significant impact on the
environment or natural resources. In spite of this, as a part
of our community, we recognise that we have an obligation
to reduce the impact of our operations on the environment
and be accountable for the resources and materials that
are used in our daily operations. We are committed to
continuously improving our environmental sustainability by
responsibly managing our operation, reducing our carbon
footprint and using resources effectively.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all of the
relevant environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong
and the PRC, such as:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution

. Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

° Law of the PRC on the Waste Disposal Ordinance the
Environmental Protection

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)
° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)

° Sewage Services Ordinance (Cap. 463)
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Besides, no concluded case regarding environmental issues
was brought against us or our employees. We also regularly
update itself with the latest developments of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

Apart from complying with the environmental protection
rules and standards, the Group emphasises environmental
protection and seeks ways to enhance efficiency in the use
of natural resources and reduce the environmental impact
of its business operation. We take the initiative to formulate
and implement the “Corporate Environmental Policy” to
establish relevant emissions reduction and energy-saving
initiatives internal policies and campaigns to facilitate
the effective use of natural resources and eco-friendly
operations. We also encourage employees to build up
environmental friendly habits through notice and promotion
to save resources and minimise pollution.

A1. EMISSIONS

Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutant emissions control is essential to mitigate
the impact on the environment and to protect the
health of employees. As the Group is mainly involved
in general office activities, the amount of air pollutant
emissions is insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions
are mainly generated from mobile sources. We take
the initiative to formulate transportation management
plans to reduce air pollutant emissions in our daily
business operation, for example, encouraging
employees and clients to take video conferences
instead of unnecessary transportation. The air
pollutant emissions in 2025 increased was due to the
increase in the use of vehicles for business purposes
during the year. The Group targets to reduce the
emission of air pollutants by 10% by 2030.
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The details of air pollutant emissions of the Group
during the reporting period were as follows:
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RBEBR AEEERS RS
MBI :

For the year ended 31 March

BE3HA3MBLEEE
Type of Air Pollutant Emission Unit 2025 2024°
ERSREMER B{i —E-REF —E g
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 5.8 4.3
RAEYINOY NI
Sulphur dioxide (SOx) kg 1.3 1.0
/BRSO N
Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.7 0.6
TR F(PM) A

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major contributors
to the climate change and global warming. The Group
recognises that climate change is a gradual concern
by the community as it affects our daily lives and
POSES a risk to its business. Hence, we are committed
to mitigating the effects of climate change and to
protecting the health of employees.

Given the nature of our business, which does not
involve raw material processing and packaging
material production, the Group has an insignificant
impact on the environment and natural resources.
The major sources of our GHG emissions are the
fuel used by vehicles and indirect emissions through
electricity consumption for our office operations.
The Group strives to improve energy efficiency and
reduce energy consumption so as to minimise GHG
emissions by adopting energy-saving initiatives
mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” of this
ESG Report. The increase in Scope 1 GHG emissions
for the year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly
attributable to the increase in the use of vehicles
for business purposes during the year. On the other
hand, the increase in Scope 2 GHG emissions was
due to the increase in the use of electricity due to
the inclusion of an addition of leasing properties
business in the PRC during the year. The Group will
strive to reduce the emission of GHG by 10% by 2030.
The detail of GHG emissions of the Group during the
reporting period was as follows:

. The year 2024 data has been restated for enhancing
comparative purpose and more advanced and updated
scientific calculation models and methodologies have
been adopted.
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For the year ended 31 March

HEIH3MHILEEE
Type of GHG Emissions Unit 2025 2024
R RS BEREE R Bl —EZRE “EBONE
Scope? tonnes of CO2e 54.9 477
EE—? WAtk EE
Scope? tonnes of COz¢e 84.2 57.2
HES W —EtREE
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO2e 139.1 104.9
RE RSB E WB-EtREE
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO2e/employee 2.7 2.2
BERBHEREE M_atREE EE
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes BERBEEEY

In our office-based setting, the Group mainly
generates non-hazardous waste such as general
office refuse and wastepaper, while we are not aware
of any significant generation of hazardous waste. To
optimise resource efficiency and minimise waste,
we have implemented various waste management
measures, including but not limited to:

° Promoting duplex printing and utilising
electronic communication channels to reduce
the consumption of waste paper,

. Maximising the reuse and recycling of
wastepaper whenever feasible;

o Installing recycling bins in our offices to collect
recyclables such as paper; and

° Engaging qualified service providers for the
collection and handling of used toner cartridges
from our printing machines.

2. Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or
controlled by our Group.

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by our Group.
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A2.

On top of that, the Group actively promotes electronic
communication such as emails to reduce the amount
of paper used. In addition to paper saving, we also
encourage employees to reuse stationery such as
envelopes and use reusable items such as reusable
cutleries and cups. All these measures are geared
at reducing waste such as paper waste which can
help mitigate the global greenhouse effect as well.
Recycling bags are available for paper collection. All
paper boxes, paper, newspapers and magazines are
collected for recycling purposes. The decrease in
non-hazardous waste generated for the year ended
31 March 2025 was mainly attributable to the raising
of staff awareness about recycling and avoiding
unnecessary consumption. The Group will strive to
find ways to manage the office waste effectively
during the year. The Group targets to reduce the non-
hazardous waste by 10% by 2030.

The detail of non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group during the reporting period was as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March

HE3IBIMBALEE
Type of Wastes Disposal Unit 2025 2024
EEEEYER ==Riv} “EHREF —ZETmg
Non-hazardous waste disposed tonnes 0.8 1.1
FREmIEEEY N
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee 0.02 0.02
BREBEVEE L=
Non-hazardous waste recycled tonnes 0.1 0.4
Cl R EERY) N
USE OF RESOURCES A2. BRERA

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development
of the environment and this is to attach importance
to the efficient utilisation of resources by introducing
various measures in daily office operation. We
understand that staff participation is the key to
achieving such goals. We strive to build up a working
environment that emphasises the “green office” policy
such as a set of guidelines to improve the efficient
use of resources for long-term sustainability. We also
motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities to promote resource saving.
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Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource-saving and implementation
of energy-saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy-saving and emission reduction
into the entire process of its business development
and operation and implement different energy-saving
measures.

Regarding energy consumption of the Group, petrol
and purchased electricity mainly result from fuel used
by vehicles and premises operation respectively. The
Group endeavours to reduce energy consumption by
advocating various energy conservation strategies.
For example, we choose to use power-saving
facilities and reduce the number of equipment used.
Computers are switched to energy-saving mode
when they are not in use for a long period of time.
All power supply in the area is switched off while
idle. Besides, the temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level and increases
energy efficiency by the adoption of LED lights and
energy-efficient electric appliances where applicable
to reduce energy consumption. Energy conservation
reminders are placed to increase employees’
awareness of energy saving. We will consistently
seek ways to improve energy efficiency and reduce
energy consumption in our facilities in the future. The
increase in energy consumption for the year ended 31
March 2025 was mainly attributable to the increase
in the use of vehicles for business purposes, as well
as the higher electricity consumption due to the
inclusion of an addition of leasing properties business
in the PRC during the year. The Group has set an
inclusive total energy consumption reduction target
by 10% by 2030.
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The details of energy consumption of the Group
during the reporting period were as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March

BE3HA3MBLEEE

Type of Energy Unit 2025 2024
AEJREE R B{i —E-REF —ENFE
Purchased electricity Mwh 122.5 102.1
BAET JK R

Petrol MWh 143.6 114.7
Padi:: JE LB

Total energy consumption MWh 266.1 216.8
RERARFES KRB

Energy consumption intensity Mwh/employee 5.2 4.5
BERFERERE KERRBE

Water Consumption

Water is another important resource used during
the daily operations. In spite of this, we strive to
prevent unnecessary water consumption by promptly
reporting to the relevant department in case of a
leaking faucet. We also actively raise employees’
awareness of water saving through green office
policies such as reminding employees to turn
faucets off tightly and conducting regular inspections
and maintenance of water facilities. The water
consumption increased for the year ended 31 March
2025 was mainly attributable to the inclusion of an
addition of leasing properties business in the PRC
during the year. The Group has set an inclusive water
consumption reduction target by 10% by 2030.

The details of water consumption of the Group during
the reporting period were as follows:

2P/ 3
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For the year ended 31 March

HE3FAMBALEE

Water Unit 2025 2024
K B i “E"hHEF T E
Total water consumption m? 816 98
HBREKkE 77K
Water consumption intensity mé/employee 16.0 2.0
RKERE THKEE

ZETRFFR
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

Given the nature of our business, which does not
involve raw material processing and packaging
material production, the Group has an insignificant
impact on the environment and natural resources.
Notwithstanding, we continue to enhance the
environmental awareness of our employees,
customers, shareholders and business partners and
enlist their support in improving our environmental
performance. With the integration of policies and
measures to reduce air pollutants and GHG emissions,
waste generation and resource consumption, we
strive to enhance environmental sustainability and
minimise our impacts on the environment. We
will review our environmental policy from time to
time and will consider implementing further eco-
friendly measures and practices in order to enhance
environmental sustainability.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on
the nature of the risk to our operations. The physical
impacts of climate change, including extreme weather
events, or damage to facilities have immediate
operational impacts and are treated as operational
risks. Long-term challenges, such as emerging ESG
issues and climate-related risks and opportunities,
may be discussed by the ESG Working Group.
Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly
during board meetings and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend
of climate-related issues, climate competence training
will be provided to ensure it has the necessary
expertise and skills to oversee the management
of climate-related issues. Our Board also seeks
professional advice from external experts when
necessary to better support the decision-making
process.
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Our ESG Working Group provides effective
governance for integrating and addressing ESG
issues, including climate change, within our business.
The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as
a gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in both
disclosure and policy relative to the best practice
standards. Moreover, the ESG Working Group works
closely with the Group’s ESG-related functional
departments and other operation departments,
with an aim to develop consistent and enhanced
approaches to addressing ESG risk issues and
reporting to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk
profile through its role in increasing the frequency
and intensity of certain diseases, and the health and
mortality impacts resulting from natural disasters.
We assess the overall level of risk by taking into
consideration a range of diverse risk factors across
the many categories in our product or services range.
This diversity of risk is combined with our business
strategy and broad geographic footprint helps us
distribute risk and provide protection against the
impacts of short-term climate change effects.

Our services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and heat
related diseases. Besides, we continue to explore
opportunities to engage our business partners and
encourage them to develop climate resilience and
reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking
into consideration different climate-related scenarios,
including a “2°C or lower scenario” through the
following steps:
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Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies including
the introduction of and increases in carbon pricing,
as well as advances in technology and changes in
customer awareness. In light of these climate change
effects, based on the International Energy Agency
("IEA") scenarios and others, we developed multiple
future images of the external environment that will
surround our Group.

With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on
the 2°C scenario (2DS) and pictured future images in
case climate change measures do not progress and
where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each
of the future images developed in Step 1. We believe
that it will be possible to expedite carbon dioxide
reduction effects in our society.

With regard to the effects on raw material
procurement and production, the introduction of
and increases in carbon pricing is anticipated in
accordance with the global advance of climate
change measures, leading to the possibility of higher
raw material procurement and production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society,
production interruptions and supply chain disruptions
are likely to increase as a result of higher frequency
and intensification of natural disasters such as
flooding.
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Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
non-renewable energy in our daily operation. This
strategy will allow for flexible and strategic responses
to each demand for the regions where the emission
factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions reductions
throughout the world through these types of
initiatives, we are working to achieve zero carbon
emissions in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through
comprehensive energy-saving and the introduction of
renewable energy. With respect to renewable energy,
in particular, we have set a new target, achieve a
reduction rate for purchased electricity in the coming
few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the
suitability and progress of the Group's strategies,
we believe that we will have opportunities for stable
funding and sustainable increases in corporate
value through appropriate information disclosure,
and dialogue with institutional investors and other
stakeholders.

Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change-related risks
or tests the existing risk management strategies
under climate change with the aid of risk assessment.
Hence, the areas where new strategies are needed
could be identified.
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The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based AR ERBAERRABNIZET
approach using national data, local information and VA M F) BB R B s AN E R
expert knowledge, which can identify how climate B BES A mAEEE U
change may compound existing risks or create new MEIERA & b sl 2 37 B b o 52 A
ones. The risk assessment is conducted through the RT3 LUT 2 BT -

following steps:

Step 1.
Establish the context
B—%:
Bum=R
> Objective/goal > Time frame
B2 Fas B
> Scale > Climate change scenario for most climate variables and sea level
AR BREBEZHRENERR B TERENRIEZCER
Step 2.

Identify existing risk (past and current)

%
BERBREMKE BERRE)
> |dentify the record of the occurrence of climatic hazards in the past in the area
BEAMEBEZEEREXENECE
> Risk management strategies in place to tackle future occurrence of the hazard

RAREHARRKEN AR EIERE

Step 3.
Identify future krisi( and opportunities

T TE oK 2R 1Y [ B Rz 4% 38

> Explore climate change projections for the selected time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)
BRRETFRHBBERNKBNER TREE2ETEA

> |dentify potential hazards
HABEERE

> Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get worse under future projected changes
RIERRFEREEDITE Z L HERRE RIS I SEME

> |dentify new risks that can emerge under future projected changes

BB AR 2R TR B2 o BT BE tH 3R AV LR

Step 4.
Analyse and evaluate risk
FME .
53t Tz 54k [ B
> |dentify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e. geographical areas, business operations, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that have the potential to be at risk in future.
HE—MARRAIEFERMIAREINAZS HE EHKES - BEE -ERBRHRD) o
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As outlined within the Governance section above,
the Group has robust risk management and business
planning processes that are overseen by the Board in
order to identify, assess and manage climate-related
risks. The Group engages with government and other
appropriate organizations in order to keep abreast
of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in
regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint
in our daily operation. However, there remain
gaps in understanding how such climate risks and
opportunities may impact our operations, assets
and profits. Our Group assesses how the business
addresses climate change risks and opportunities
and takes the initiative to monitor and reduce its
environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate
related physical risks and transition risks, which have
impacted and/or may impact our Group’s business
and strategy in (i) operations, products and services,
(i) supply chain and value chain, (jii) adaptation and
mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research and
development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the
steps taken to manage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks

Steps taken to manage the

description Financial impact risks

SRR A8 BA R bR B HE At M E # B 5% F B R R B Ay HE 5

Physical Risk

BERER

Acute physical risks

SHERRE

e Increased severity and e QOperating cost increases ¢ Planned to adopt scenario
frequency of extreme weather 8 B AN I 0 analysis to disclose an
events such as cyclones, organization’s planning
floods and earthquakes, the under future scenarios, most
frequency and severity of notably one with ina 2°C
traffic accidents. These have scenario.
the potential to cause both FEIRABEE o UIEER
idiosyncratic and systematic HMEHARRIEENEE B
risks, resulting in non- R BE2EB S PE
favourable financial impacts. 5t o
miH KRB GIRDE K
T RE) B ER B RN HEER
RBEWRNEEEMEEIG
0o ZF BRI P REE BUH T
MRAGENRRE WmES
R FER B -

¢ Increased likelihood and e Revenue decreases e Planned to establish a natural
severity of wildfire. Financial e disasters emergency plan and

loss occurs as there are
interruptions of supply chain,
logistics and transportation.
BAEUNBATREM R ERE T
1800 o (HFESE ~ Y0 RE B
ENRIRES I BB FEIR K o

to provide certain trainings to
the staff.
SEIFCEERAKRERER AR
KmE B TRHEETIE
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Climate-related risks
description
SRU1% A8 B =) B A9 i Ak

Financial impact

Rt

wE
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Steps taken to manage the
risks
ATEZER MR EE

Chronic physical risks
B ERERER

Extreme variability in weather
patterns. Frequent extreme
weather events and rising in
sea levels are likely to pose
disruptions to communities
across the region over the
long term, affecting economic
output and our service
continuity.
AREENmHIEME R
ERE SEENBIRRREG
FETHELAPTEEHEE
M@mtRENTE FEL
B E LR EMRFEESE -

The scarcity of natural
resources due to deforestation
may lead to the increase in the
cost of material consumed in
our business operation.
HREMREERNBARAE
TRIEER O BEE R MIZETRE
EFTAE R A A R o

Revenue reduces from
decreased service capacity
and the negative impacts of
workforce

BRFEBES TR T AZEN
smEEgERWE R

Operating cost increases
EE AL

e Planned to develop a Board-
authorized risk tolerance
Statement or system,
including a written climate
risk management policy.
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&mﬂ@

AZRENERKR HERE
a%ﬁi%ﬁw@ﬂ@%
B

e Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.

LIt 75 58 E 7 B 75 SR =R
B EMENERZA

e Further enhanced the
climate-related risk
policies, and included the
measurement, monitoring
and management of the
climate-related risks.
E—TREREEMNRRE
B iR e R R
e ERKEE
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Climate-related risks
description
SR {154 A B Y e

Steps taken to manage the
risks
AEIEZE R MEEEE

Financial impact
M

Transitional Risk
BB
Policy risk
B 26 2 Bez

The government may restrict
the use of the traditional fuel
vehicles by the environmental
services sector and provide
the allowances to those
entities which purchase hybrid
vehicles.

BT & B BIRIE RSP
PR 515 R B4R WA B0 S B >
HEBE RS/ BEME
BT Ao

Operating cost increases

for the increased insurance
premiums paid by the Group.
REEPFRNRIBEIENER
EIE AN o

Planned to acquire more
hybrid vehicles for the
business operations to obtain
the corresponding allowances
and subsidies.
FrREEEZRESEFAE
FARERES > LIEBERE
BIF AL AN B o

Monitor the updates of

the relevant laws and
agreements, to avoid the
unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to non-
compliance.

B ABRA A B R B B
1B B RREERS TNE

B BY A e e S 8 0 o
Legal risk
EERR

0 Annual R e

Exposure to litigation risk. We
have to adapt the tightened
law and regulations issued

by the government due to
climate change. Our Group is
exposed to the risk of litigation
once we fail to obligate the
new rules.

SREAERE o BN RIEE L 3K
P94 7B 58 FE BT 18 7 B B8 R
MBS ERERER ) —BREEE
SPETARA > Bl A S B E EREFEA
JELBg ©

Enhanced emissions-reporting
obligations. We may have to
spend much time on fulfilling
the ESG reporting standards
to comply with the new
regulation.

NNeRBEMER & & 75 HMInI A8
EEEE KNS RFEZERESGHR
HHER] > UBSFRBIRA) -

Operating cost increases

for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.
B AR S A B R
BIBMNEEEMAIG 0 -

Monitored the updates of
environmental laws and
regulations and implemented
GHG emissions calculations in
advance.
BERIRIREARRERNEMN
1B5 RAETRAERESHE

MBSt E -



Climate-related risks
description

Financial impact

wE
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Steps taken to manage the
risks
ATEZER MR EE

SRU1% A8 B =) B A9 i Ak Bt
Technology risk
29 & B

e More green building strategies e
with low-carbon, energy-
saving technologies are
adopted by industry peers.
Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges. o
B % B BNAERATAY
B R RS ERNEITER
Mo BB P SE R HI S5 F I
R ER -

Market risk

iz E

e The government and o
environmental services
sector are considering
climate-related risks and
opportunities, which may
lead to changes in customers
preference.
B RIRIBRFEEFIETS
BRIZERNE R RS B

FREBENRFPREFELSE

ke

¢ |nability to attract co- o
financiers and/or investors
due to uncertain risks related
to the climate.
HRREERANTREE R
G FOERS MBS ER
K/ RILEE-

AR

Capital investment in
technology development
increases.
RiFRENEARGEIL -

Operating cost increases
due to the adoption of green
technologies.

KBS ERITREEE R
Ao

Revenue decreases for the
change in revenue mix and
sources.

Wz A W s 4B & Bz 2R IR BY
1B o

Operating cost increases as
abrupt and unexpected shifts
in energy costs.

EE AR BE R AR ZEAA
RBSMR s o

e Examined the feasibility
and efficiency of applying
the latest environmental
technologies, to raise the
feasibility and scientific
efficiency of energy saving for
the business operations.
BB EARMRREMHE
THEMMAEE IREEBEE
FREARERY AT T M R B2

Hb"

e Fulfil the climate-related
regulations by the

government.
FE1T RS Fi AR A0 BY SR = AR B
BYRR Y

e Make climate change as a

high concern in the market
decisions to show to the
customers that our Group is
concerned about the problem
of climate change.
B RIEECERTIZRER
e EREERL M A &RA
RERH RIEECRIENE
/_:E ¢
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Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the

description Financial impact risks
SRUN5 8 A L Bk B i 2t MBRE A EIEZE BT R AR

Reputational risk
HER

Shifts in consumer
preferences: More

customers are considering
climate-related risks and
opportunities, potentially
favoring environmentally-
friendly businesses.
HEERENEEH ELER
B RIENERE R RS T
EERERRETHEIRRE
TEREE o

Stigmatization of our business
sector, such as more negative
stakeholder feedback.

KM EREHEZ 5L F
WHHENEEREIES -

Negative press coverage
related to support of business
activities with negative
impacts on the climate (e.g.,
GHG emissions, deforestation,
water stress).
HLFHREEERTEN
R RN B M ERE
(B SR = RABHER ~ R
R~ FI7KERER) o

Revenue decreases from
decreased demand for
services and the decrease in
service capacity.
RFBETBRB D RARFEBEST T
FEB U ©

Operating costs increases
from negative impacts on
workforce management and
planning.
FENEEKRRENEE
BREEEMAIG I

Fulfilled the social
responsibility by organizing
more activities or executing
actions to demonstrate how
we place importance on
climate change.

AT L IEENIRETENEE
BE M ERREEE
MIEETHEEE-

Avoided of supporting the
projects or activities which
may have detrimental effects
to the climate.

PRSI ENREEET
MEEWNEE R EEH -
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During the reporting period, the primary climate- #iEiHHF’Eﬁ’,Liﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁi?zﬁk%
related opportunities and the corresponding financial BRAAENTHEZENT .

impacts were as follows:

Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities
RAZMERA B RS AR R it

Financial impact
MBTE

Resource efficiency

EHIRWE

o Reduce water consumption
B KE R EEE

Energy source

EI:./F_FF'_;E/}_
Use of lower-emission fuel sources
18 BB R HE R SR

o Use of supportive policy incentives
BRI R IE TR

o Use of new technologies
188 PR F I A0

Products and services

éuu)ﬁ’zﬁﬁk
Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions
B AR E K AR B SRR R R 5 B2

o Ability to diversify business activities
L EEBEBNEES

Markets

Mz

. Access to new markets
EAFTIG

Resilience

B

o Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures
U4 RERETE R IR ENE AT

o Resource substitution or diversification
BERERH®Z It

. Operating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions
BB E AL R D E A

° Operating cost reduces through use of lowest
cost abatement
B ERERA RV EEM R

° Returns on investment in low- emission
technology increases
EHERUI T 1% & [l 3R 1% /0

. Revenue increases through new solutions
to adaptations needs, such as insurance risk
transfer products and services
EBREERERERMRFEBRERN
iR A 2B Ml s

. Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets
B AE AFTHY Ko Hr E T ISIE U aR

° Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as infrastructure, land and

buildings
EBMERER T RIS FE B FRE G
MG EE

3 Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate
under various condition increases
e A SR R E S IR N EERBE 1S
58

o Revenue increases through new products and
services related to ensuring resiliency
5B B (R 55 1 AR BRI DO 37 2 R B AR 75 3 N UK 2
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Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and
manage climate-related risks and opportunities. The
energy consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions indicators are the key metrics used to
assess and manage relevant climate-related risks
where we consider such information to be material
and crucial for evaluating the impact of our operation
on global climate change during the year. Our Group
regularly tracks our energy consumption and GHG
emissions indicators to assess the effectiveness of
emission reduction initiatives, as well as set targets
to contribute to our effort to have minimal impact on
global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target
applies and the base year from which progress is
measured are described in section A1: “Emissions”
and section A2: “Use of Resources” of this Report. Our
Group adopts an absolute target to manage climate
related risks, opportunities and performance.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1.

Annual Re

EMPLOYMENT

We highly value our talented workforce and recognise
their crucial role in our long-term success. Our goal is
to attract, retain, and nurture exceptional individuals
while fostering strong and positive connections
with them. We are dedicated to cultivating an
inclusive work environment that prohibits all forms
of discrimination and empowers every employee
to maximise their potential and seize growth
opportunities.

HERERBR

A EB RN RE ERELG
R EBRIEERRER RS- HR
MRBBEREN A ERFIES
RERRERREZEHEZEM
EBEAKRER RISSRHFERR
ERE CRERER) BFRER A
Rt R EERBRIEHERER
PURH R SR - AN HE HBHE
SEREFER B E R B I BIERU
TR BB M m e Wk E B
B ABRERMEEXERNTE
fELERR

FRERERNERERTEEE
NWEEFEFBEHMNARAT !
THER ) A2 TERfER ) Mo
AEFEERMNEHERUEER
AR R R B B e B AR R 3R

B. #t&5m@
EBERSE TER

B1.

&%

A EERKMEFNET I
AR MAERMYRARIF
BURASR (R « ARSI 48
BMIEEBRFHIAT > 7 R
BT AN IE E BB B - FAFIIE
TE—EEEsNIFRIE Bik—
IR AR W T B 8 T3
BENMARAES -
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To safeguard the rights of our employees, promote a
harmonious workplace and ensure a comprehensive
understanding of our internal policies, we outline
employment-related arrangements such as
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, as well as
other benefits and welfare in our Employee Handbook
and other human resources policies.

The Group is fully committed to strict compliance
with all relevant employment laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions where we operate. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
regarding compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any
non-compliance (2024 nil) with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on our Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare. Any changes in employment
terms will be notified to staff and agreed in writing
to protect the lawful rights and interests of all
employees.

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)
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AT RES TR (R EMEAY
TRiGPR MHERMPIZE T AL
FIRERE R > AIFECE T FMHAN
HMM AN ERBR B 55405 H 2
BREBAZH SEHFNREE B
RE TR R TF %
g Znfb s REEUREMES
R A8 H] o

FERBBRINEBTRMAEFTEE
FREMBIPR BB R B AR A
MR EHRE > FEBILANE
ERERHFHNRER BERS
FTER#B R TERE 2
To1E ~ RIBAR AR BLAth 5 8 K A2 )
WERERBER

RSN > AL AR EEAR
BTARMNRERE -BRERE
FTERBE R FERE 2
ToiE s RIRAR LU ELMh 7558 K @ 7]
ZHRBERREREMETERE
FERTEZIER (2024F 1 ) ©
BEERUEEFES)  REBEA
STUWMUEBERE  LUREFTE B
B2 AERN R e
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2025538310 EEEES1%
BT (2024 £ : 564%) 2% R &
B8R FHAR M E - BELE
R EREREI D ZEEAMBER
FEEDEAE 0T

As of 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of
51 employees (2024: 56). The employee compositions
(in percentage) by gender, employee category, age
group, geographical region, employment category and
employment mode were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March

HEIHMBILEEE

Employee compositions BES4AKER 2025 2024

20254 20244
By gender i RIEl 5
e Male o B 61% 55%
e Female o LM 39% 45%
By age group HERHAR R 5
e Age 30 or below e 30RREUT 16% 20%
e Age 31-40 o 3R EL0R 27% 30%
e Age 41-50 o AR ES0R 18% 21%
e Age 51 or above o SIEREU E 39% 29%
By geographical region Bt &EE 2
e Hong Kong o BE 65% 59%
e The PRC o [ 35% 41%
By employment category HEEERE S
e Senior management s SREEE 43% 25%
e Middle management o HMREIRE 20% 18%
e General staff o —RET 37% 57%
By employment mode BEHNERED
e Full-time staff o 2R 100% 100%

e Part-time staff

o FRE




B2.

The employee turnover rates by gender, age group
and geographical region at the end of the reporting
period were as follows:
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IRERERAR > MR FE AR K
ez EERRLERMT :

For the year ended 31 March

HE3HMBLEE

Turnover rates (%) K EEZR(%) 2025 2024

2025%F 20244
By gender g E B
e Male o B4 17% 15%
e Female o L 31% 13%
By age group HEERE R 5
e 30 years old or below o 30BREMUT 35% 10%
e 31-40 years old e 31 E405% 21% 7%
e 41-50 years old o AR ES0RK 22% 27%
e 51 years old or above e 51 E 19% 13%
By geographical region &2 53
e Hong Kong o« HAE 19% 14%
e The PRC o MR 29% 14%
Overall et 23% 14%
HEALTH AND SAFETY B2. #FE#H%Z2

Ensuring workplace safety is our utmost priority as
we deeply value the well-being and safety of our
employees. We strictly comply with all relevant health
and safety laws and regulations. To create a safe and
healthy work environment, we have implemented
a comprehensive occupational health and safety
policy and various measures. Regular disinfection is
conducted by a trusted service provider to enhance
the overall safety and hygiene of our offices.

To prioritise employee safety, we provide essential
protective equipment to prevent work-related injuries.
In the event of any workplace injuries, we promptly
notify the respective department heads and the
human resources department, taking necessary
follow-up actions in accordance with national labour
insurance regulations. Moreover, we have developed
guidelines for reporting duty during typhoons
and rainstorms, ensuring that appropriate work
arrangements are in place during severe weather
conditions to safeguard employee safety during their
commute.

ETNRENZEHAMEMRE
2> FAIERERILESRZ2EH
WEZ2EH - RMIRRETRAR
BRRENZ2EZRER BT
Bze2MERNIIFRE HME
Bt 2 T BY B 3E R B S 2 2 BRI
REEENR - HFIZFEAEEDR
BiRHEERETES  LURT
RENERZE2MNFERE-

HITREINZE2EREN 3
RELENER R LR TE
ER-FEHEEMIER > HME
IBVERAEREFIE S AMA S
EIRERPT > WARIEEI RS TIRIER
TE PRER 0 22 B9 BR A FE 7 o LB Sh > 3K
FI%ITE T e & A 2 R HA 1 B9 (B DE
BEER BEESSRAMGET
BREBERNLELH UREET
FEEFHARTHZE -
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B3.
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We actively promote awareness of workplace safety
among our employees by participating in fire drills
organised by the property management. These drills
equip our employees with essential knowledge on
responding effectively to fire accidents, including the
proper use of fire extinguishers and familiarisation
with escape routes within the building.

During the reporting period, our Group was not aware
of any non-compliance (2024: nil) with the relevant
laws and regulations that had significant impact on
our Group in providing a safe and healthy working
environment.

During the reporting period, there was no employee
(2023: nil, 2024: nil) injured and no lost day (2023:
nil, 2024. nil) due to work-related injuries. There
was no fatality case (2023: nil, 2024 nil) during the
year. The Group will continue to improve the safety
management system in order to protect employees’
health and safety in the workplace.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group believes that the knowledge and skills of
our employees are vital to our continued business
growth and success. We have established a “Staff
Training and Development Policy” to support our
employees in the performance of their designated
roles and help them to fulfil their potential during the
course of their employment. We provide diversified
on-the-job training for our employees and continue to
improve the training system in order to enhance their
requisite knowledge and skills in discharging their
duties. During the reporting period, the percentage
of employees trained by gender and employment
category was as follows:

B3.

HMPI2EYEEEEBREY R
BEE LAERREA B THITFS
PR ERMNEIEE
HEHNKEROERIH B1F
IR e R N S M AR R
BYRKE BR AR

REREEAR > AEE W A H A
EERHZE2RBENIFRIEE
SEREENBREEEIRNAR
BIR1TA (20244 : f®) o

RREBR TERERIZSHS
(20234F : % > 20244F : ) Rl fE
THEREREERRE (2023£F !
# 20246F | ) o NERMMEIEET
Z2 4 (20234 : 4 > 20244F © ) o 7
EREREETETE2EERA R
EREETFSMNEERT R

2R R

AERERRE BEZ MBS
EBEERHBLERBRANIIERE
Z-RMERIEETHIRER
HER R EENZERBBEET
EERBST MRS EEE R
FRESRMEZ TEEREI I
RENEEIIFE BRILEHE
TSP TR S K B BE o IO IR A
W 2R R R EERE 5z =
EEBDLEINT
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For the year ended 31 March

HE3HMBLEE
Percentage of employees trained Z:{EEF L 2025 2024
2025%F 20244
By gender EIERE 2
e Male o B4 60.0% 40.0%
e Female o L 26.7% 29.8%
By employee category iEEERE S
e Senior management s BREERE 80.0% 75.0%
e Middle management o HIREIEE 52.2% 31.6%
e General staff e —RET 9.5% 20.3%
Overall st 45.7% 35.3%
The detailed breakdown for employees trained in BRI REEERE D TR
each of the gender and employment categories and SRMAREMER REEER B D
the average training hours completed per employee B2 EERHR 2 FHEIEINRE
by gender and employee category was as follows: BHAREEZIA0T -
For the year ended 31 March
HERMBLEE
Average training hours (hours/ Percentage of employees trained
employee) (%)
FENRE (NG BR) ZifEEE 7 th(%)
Composition of ZiHlfE S R4
employees trained 2025 2024 2025 2024
2025% 2024 20254 20244
By gender b b
o Male o Bt 3.7 36 75.0% 61.1%
o Female o Tl 2.6 22 25.0% 38.9%
By employment category IR{E{RIER 2%
o Senior management o BREER 5.6 6.8 66.7% 50.0%
o Middle management o HREEE 3.2 30 25.0% 16.7%
o General staff o —RET 1.4 1.2 8.3% 33.3%
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LABOUR STANDARDS

As part of our sustainability strategy, we ensure
that our employees’ rights are fully protected.
We strictly adhere to labour laws and regulations,
maintaining a zero-tolerance approach towards illegal
employment practices such as child labour, forced
labour, discrimination and harassment. Our human
resources department verifies candidates’ identity
documents, age, work experience, education and
other information to ensure lawful employment. In the
event that a candidate fails to meet all the applicable
legal employment requirements, the recruitment
procedure will be terminated. Our Human Resources
Department reviews the employment practices
regularly to ensure the effectiveness of our existing
measures against child and forced labour.

We provide fair remuneration, overtime compensation
and other relevant benefits in line with applicable
laws, regulations and internal policies. This ensures
that employees have adequate rest time and are not
subjected to forced labour in our business operations.
Regular inspections are conducted to ensure that
no child or forced labour is employed. Upon the
discovery of child or forced labour, the labour
relationship will be immediately terminated, and
thorough investigation and corrective measures will
be implemented to prevent any recurrence.

During the reporting period, our Group was not aware
of any non-compliance (2024: nil) with relevant laws
and regulations related to recruitment of child labour
or forced labour practices.

B4.

BIIR%E
ERRFANAFESE RN —
B FAIEFRE THEFSEIT
DERE - RPIBBEBTHE AR
R MPIR B ANRETR
WET ~RHE T R RMEE
F RERTHEE -HMANASD
EREFEZERBENS MR
AN Fe TFER -BER
SMEMER > UREREGEME-
MREHEREWMERBEBERYN
GAEMEER BEEFEHERK
I PN ANERBPIEHES
BB UEFRHFIPLEETN
SRS TRIRARERN AL

FFIRRBABVER AR ARER
EUERIR M AT BIFM ~ MR EA
HERAEH) RS TH E5K
RERE LRERERMANESRE
B R 5 E) - HPIE#E
TRE UEFRLIERBETINR
BT —BRIFET R@H|HET
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OPERATING PRACTICES ZEEN

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5. {HFEHEEIE
The Group’s supply chain management primarily AEBNHEREEFEERN
applies to its trading business. As our financial service B2EB BN MV SRR E
businesses do not involve the physical production B RBEENEREE ALLT
of goods, significant procurement activities are not FHREEANRBEH FBEWILL
involved. Nonetheless, we remain committed to EMDHHEEEREENEE
upholding product quality and promoting supply chain HERTIFEERE AERELR
sustainability. To fulfil these goals, we adhere to a 12 IR PR A E R EEM
rigorous supplier selection and evaluating procedure, AR AR T o

which is outlined below.

Step 1: Supplier Assessment
B9 HEREZ

Potential suppliers undergo a comprehensive evaluation based on criteria such as product
and service quality, pricing, innovation capabilities, reputation, as well as compliance with
environment, employment, health and safety laws and regulations. Factors such as the provision of
environmental, health and safety training to employees are also considered.
HEBETHERREERMRFESE - ER BIFEN BEUKRERIE RBE - BRNZ 280
ERNETEAEREETEEE ANTEEEINIRE - BREMNZE2EIIFREK-

Site visits are conducted to ensure that the supplier meets all the necessary requirements set forth
by the Group.

HEEMETEMZ R BEARSAEBRHENMELEE K.

Step 2: Incorporation in Supplier List
B MMASRMHERRE

Suppliers that meet our stringent requirements will be included in our approved supplier list.
RFERMBERERNHERBMARMOSEEERRE-

Qualified suppliers are required to sign a Supplier Integrity Commitment, which explicitly prohibits
any form of corruption.

ERNEEREES(HEMBRZEES) BR2 TEAEANESITRC

Step 3: Supplier Performance Monitoring and Evaluation
B=D | HEERREE T

We perform quality assurance checks on incoming products to ensure that the purchases align with
our specifications and meet our quality expectations.

EMEESERETEERERD  BRRBNERTSRMANKREEIRERMEBEEH
o

We maintain a continuous process of reviewing and assessing the performance of our existing
suppliers to ensure that our requirements are consistently fulfilled.
EMFEERMNREHERNRIETCHREENT G BREEREHMIER-.
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To mitigate environmental and social risks, an
ESG related risk assessment has been carried out
to identify potential environmental and socials
risks of our supply chain. The Board and ESG
Working Group closely monitor and manage the
ESG risks along the supply chain on a regular
basis. Based on our risk assessment results, none
of these risks were considered “high risk” in the
assessment. Nevertheless, we strive to minimise the
environmental and social risk of our supply chain
by requiring new and existing suppliers to meet
environmental and social requirements.

To promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, we have
incorporated environmental considerations into our
procurement processes, such as:

. Prioritising the use of energy-efficient
equipment, such as LED lighting where
applicable;

. Prioritizing the purchase of office supplies that
are more durable to reduce waste;

. Encouraging the adoption of products that have
more environmentally friendly packaging; and

o Prioritising local sourcing to reduce the carbon
footprint resulting from the transport of goods.

During the reporting period, the Group had a total
of one supplier (2024: 3), which was from the PRC
and implemented the practices relating to engaging
suppliers.

A TR HEENIRENTER
B > FAIHETT T ESGAE R BB 51
fir o DU B (AR B B B TR IR IR A
HEREKE - EFEGMESCT F/\E
EHREEREMEEHERFN
ESGJE KR o 1R 45 3 9 B9 B 5T ik A5
o AP I AL A AR E
mIEREE -BEWIL > FFINE
HEIGHEEEMNIRA HER W
RIRIEME G EZR > LUBEH SR
POIRIE A+ & R o

/TEREHEBRREESHIR
REMMRE > MR IRIZE R
AR RAEBEZS > AEEE !

e BRARBRTELEAEHAER
1# > YILEDIRER ;

e BABEEMAHNMLA
e BURDRE

e DRMERAERFNEEE
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY B6. EmEE

The Group regards service quality as a key
competitive advantage of its business. We continue
to provide high-quality services in order to enhance
customer satisfaction. We strictly comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC. During the reporting period, our Group was not
aware of any non-compliance (2024: nil) regarding
product responsibility.

Quality Management

Money Lending and Factoring, Finance Leasing and
Financial Services Businesses

As a provider of financial-related services, we uphold
the responsibility of delivering services of the highest
quality and safety. Our commitment to enhancing
the quality of our financial services is reflected in our
internal policies, such as the Internal Control Manual,
Operation and Risk Manual, and the Credit and Risk
Control Policy. We have established robust investment
management procedures that involve comprehensive
review, screening, research and approval processes
for investment opportunities, to ensure effective
control and monitoring of the Group’s investment
projects.

To keep abreast of market trends and leverage the
latest technology, the Group has launched our online
trading platform and mobile app to enhance customer
experience and provide flexibility for our financial
services customers. We have formulated robust
measures to ensure stability and security of our online
services, enabling a convenient user experience:

o Implementing two-factor authentication login
practice to verify user identities and protect
their private information from unauthorised
access

o Continuously monitoring system and network
performance to proactively detect and address
network issues and enhance operational
efficiency

o Conducting thorough stress tests before
system implementation and after major system
changes to assess stability and identify risks in
our online systems

FEBRRBEEERETERZ
FTEFRFED - BMTEHREEER
R BURSERWEERE -
PEBETEBRABENERZE
BREGER - MNIREERN > RER L
FTHBEAERBEBAEREEZER
159 (20244 © #E) o

HEEE
BEERRE -HEHERESHMRT
E 5
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. Tracking client trading activities to identify and
respond to any abnormal user activities

. Generating incident reports in the event of
significant system delays or failures to prevent
similar incidents from recurring

Trading Business

In our trading business of seafood and electronic
products, we implement stringent measures to
maintain the quality and safety of our products,
including but not limited to the following:

. Imposing strict requirements on suppliers to
ensure compliance with relevant standards;

o Engaging exclusively with licensed vendors and
reputable suppliers for product procurement;

. Providing comprehensive training to staff on
food handling practices and hygiene;

. Implementing thorough product inspection
procedures and conducting regular checks on
supplier-provided products; and

. Adhering to regulatory requirements and
standards for food handling procedures.

complaint Handling

Customer feedback plays a vital role in enhancing
the quality of our products and services. To better
understand our customers’ needs and interests,
we have established a customer satisfaction
management mechanism and implemented
comprehensive procedures for handling feedback.

We regularly invite our customers to participate in
customer satisfaction surveys, where they can rate
our performance in areas such as product quality,
pricing and services. Additionally, we encourage
customers to share their suggestions, which we
incorporate into our improvement plans where
applicable.
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To maintain effective communication with our
customers, we utilise various communication
channels including email, WeChat and QQ to collect
their opinions. Our commitment to enhancing
customer satisfaction is reflected in our timely and
appropriate handling of inquiries and complaints.
We conduct thorough reviews of complaint cases
and carry out necessary investigation procedures
to address customer concerns. During the reporting
period, the Group did not receive any material
complaints (2024: nil).

Customer Data Protection and Privacy

In our efforts to protect the rights of the Group and
our customers, we consistently strive to enhance data
protection and maintain the privacy of our customers.
In this regard, we ensure strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations. To protect the Group's
confidential data and information, our employment
contracts include provisions that require employees
to uphold strict confidentiality of information.
These provisions specifically require employees to
undertake not to disclose any information, technical
data, trade secrets, know-how or other confidential
information to any third parties without obtaining
written consent from the Group.

In line with our commitment to data security, we have
implemented a range of measures outlined in our
Information Technology Systems Management Policy,
including but not limited to the following:

o Regularly conducting computer virus scans
using reliable antivirus software;

o Encrypting important documents and
confidential data to maintain their integrity and
protect against unauthorized access;

o Enabling the anti-malware protection feature
on all computers connected to the corporate
server to mitigate the risk of malware attacks;
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B7.

. Conducting regular backups of information
to prevent data loss and ensure business
continuity; and

° Providing comprehensive cybersecurity training
to our employees to enhance their awareness
and understanding of potential threats and best
practices.

In terms of customer privacy, we have established a
comprehensive privacy policy that clearly articulates
our dedication to customer confidentiality. When
collecting customer information, we strictly adhere
to the principle of gathering only the necessary
personal data required to provide relevant services
and products. Under no circumstances is customer
information utilised for any other purposes. The
Group ensures the appropriate protection of sensitive
customer information to prevent unauthorised
access, processing, deletion, or any unintended use.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is devoted to creating a working
environment with integrity and transparency. We
strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption. In accordance with
our Code of Conduct and anti-corruption policies,
employees are prohibited from soliciting, receiving,
or accepting any form of benefits from customers or
suppliers of the Group. Moreover, employees are not
allowed to establish commercial or financial ties with
suppliers, customers or competitors without written
approval from the Group. To mitigate the risk of
bribery, employees are required to declare any actual
or potential conflicts of interest to the Group.
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To combat and prevent money laundering and
terrorist financing activities within the Group, we
have established the Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter Terrorist Financing Policy, which stipulates
measures aimed at prohibiting third-party transfers
and reporting suspicious activities. These measures
include conducting risk assessments, identification of
beneficial owners and maintaining ongoing customer
monitoring. We also adopt rigorous customer due
diligence procedures to prevent money laundering.
As part of our loan application review, we carefully
verify the identity of customers and conduct a
comprehensive risk assessment by thoroughly
analysing the documents, data and information
provided.

Our Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy
provides employees with various channels to
report any suspicious incidents involving potential
corruption risks. In the event that an employee
identifies potential malpractices, they are strongly
encouraged to report such incidents to the Group
using our designated email or anonymous hotline.
Subsequent investigations will be conducted in a
manner that ensures fairness and impartiality, with
appropriate corrective measures implemented
promptly. To safeguard the whistleblower against
any form of harassment, stringent measures are in
place to maintain the strict confidentiality of their
identities. We provided directors and employees with
comprehensive anti-corruption training sessions
to enhance their understanding and awareness of
business ethics, including providing external training
and distributing relevant anti-corruption training
materials from the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC") to them.

During the reporting period, there was no legal case
regarding corruption practices brought against the
Group (2024: nil), and we were not aware of any
material non-compliance relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
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At the end of the reporting period, the number of
employees received anti-corruption training and
the training hours by employment category were as
follows:

BERSHR KBEHOHNET
B REBEINIA B IE I
QI

For the year ended 31 March

HE3H31BLEEE
Anti-corruption training REEEN 2025 2024
20254 20244
Number of employees received EZIZHIE T A
training
e Board of directors o EEF 10 7
e Senior management s BREERE 2 3
e Middle management o HREEE 2 2
e General o —RET 2 1
Total employees BT4EE 16 13
Number of training hours o [[:5314
e Board of directors o EEWF 20 14
e Senior management s BREERE 4 6
e Middle management o HREEE 4 4
e General o —RET 4 2
Total training hours pib e [1:53:58 32 26
COMMUNITY HE
B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8. #HERKRE

Annual Report 2025

—

We believe in the value of creating positive
contributions to the development of the communities
we serve. Our community Initiatives, Sponsorship
and Donation Policy guides our commitment to
community investment, with a focus on four main
areas. improving the environment, enhancing
education and development, fostering community
wellbeing, and promoting the development of arts and
culture.

During the reporting period, due to the global
economic slowdown, we prioritized safeguarding
the health and livelihoods of our local community.
As a result, we did not engage in any community
and charity activities. Following government
recommendations, we provided guidelines and caring
advice to ensure the well-being of our employees.

We actively encourage our employees to participate
in charitable activities and contribute through
donations. Moving forward, we remain committed
to seeking additional opportunities for community
contribution.
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
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A.Environmental

AIRIE

A1: Emissions

A1 B

General Disclosure “Emissions” 56
—RRIFE THER).

KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective  “Emissions — Air 57

emissions data
RISRERMIERE A1 BEW L8 B R HE E

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where
appropriate, intensity
FRENIERE A2 BERBENEEMURBEEE R THRE-

KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where
appropriate, intensity
FRENIEE A1 ESESEEVEERTE

KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and,
where appropriate, intensity

FRENIERALL FIEEESERVBERTE

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions
and results achieved

RSEMISIR ALS  H RSB RE T KPS A R

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

FEHR B —HRIEERARERIEE E=1:11] B

A2: Use of Resources

A2 : BEiRfER

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 59

— R EE MERA A

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by  “Use of Resources — 61
type in total and intensity Energy Consumption”

RRENIEIE A2 HBEBANREDINEREN REEZERE TERFA—-ERERE
¥E

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — 61

Water Consumption”

RIRENIEIZ A22 HBFEKERETE M RH] A — K HFE)

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives  “Use of Resources — 60
and results achieved Energy Consumption”

REREMIEZ A2.3 MBS RFERA MG B RATERR M RF] A —SE TR FEY

KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in  “Use of Resources — 61
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water — Water Consumption”
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

FRENIERE A24 HARBGERANKRE LA BEEAME UKRiE TERMA-KERE
FAKE B RFAERE

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished  Not applicable for N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to  disclosure due to the
per unit produced business nature
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A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 RERBARER

General Disclosure “The Environment and 62

Natural Resources”
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KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of  No significant impact N/A
activities on the environment and natural  of activities on the
resources and the actions taken to manage  environment and natural
them resources was noted.
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Description of the significant climate-related
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Employment and Labour Practices
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B1: Employment
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General Disclosure
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KPI B1.2
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Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region
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Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region
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B2: Health and safety
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General Disclosure
— R B

KPI B2.1
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Number and rate of work-related fatalities
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KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury No lost days due to work N/A
injury were noted.
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Operating Practices
EEEG
B5: Supply Chain Management
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General Disclosure “Supply Chain 81
Management”
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Management”
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KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  “Product Responsibility — 83
recall procedures Quality Management”
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ASSUMPTIONS AND REFERENCES

Assumptions of calculating KPIs

1.

We have assumed that the accuracy of information
provided to us by the Group and relied to a considerable
extent on such information in arriving at our result of
calculation and consumption data is adjusted so as to be
consistent with the reporting period of the report.

Key references of calculating KPIs

1.
2.

Appendix C2 to the rules governing the Listing Rules
Sustainability Report 2024, HK Electric Investment & HK
Electric Investment Limited

Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong, the
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department

Heat Values of Various Fuels, World Nuclear Association
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company present their
report together with the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, there were no significant
changes in nature of Group’s principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, can be found in the sections “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 4 to 19 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this Directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating segments is
set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set forth in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 127 to 128.

The board (the “Board”) of Directors did not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY, PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment property of the Group are set forth in Notes 14 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during
the year (2024: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set forth in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share options scheme below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 September 2023 and the
Stock Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission
to deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme
(the"Share Option Scheme”) on 29 September 2023, the Company
adopted the Share Option Scheme in replacement of a share
option scheme adopted on 3 September 2013 which had been
expired on 2 September 2023. The Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 28 September
2023, unless otherwise terminated. The followings is a summary
of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel of the Group, to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants and to promote the success
of the business of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will give
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal stake
in the Company and will help motivate the eligible participants in
optimising their performance and efficiency and attract and retain
the eligible participants whose contributions are important to the
long-term growth and profitability of the Group.

Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite person(s) who
or which is/are eligible to participate as grantee(s) and receive
options under the Share Option Scheme, to take up share options
to subscribe for shares.
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Maximum number of shares available for
subscription

The total number of share options to be granted, at the end of
the reporting period, under the new Share Option Scheme shall
not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at 28
September 2023, which was 412,060,000 shares, with a service
provider sublimit at 1% of the issued shares of the Company as at
28 September 2023, which was 41,206,000 shares.

The Company may seek approval of the shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the scheme mandate limit and/or the service
provider sublimit under the Share Option Scheme after three
years from the adoption date (or the date of shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment), provided that the limit so
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the relevant class of shares
in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution. The
Company must send a circular to the shareholders containing
such information as required under the Listing Rules. Any
refreshment of the scheme mandate limit and/or the service
provider sublimit to be made within three years from the
adoption date (or the date of shareholders’ approval for the
last refreshment) shall be subject to independent shareholders’
approval.

Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme will not be regarded as utilised for the purpose of
calculating the scheme mandate limit and the service provider
sublimit.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report, no share options has been granted under the expired and
current Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option
Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Any excess over 1% shall
be subject to the approval of the shareholders at general meeting
with such participant and his/her close associates abstaining
from voting and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option
The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
twenty-one days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HK$1 as consideration for
accepting the offer of the share option granted. The grantee may
subscribe for shares during such period as may be determined by
the Board (the said period shall not in whatever case be later than
the last day of the 10-year period after the day on which the offer
relating to the option is duly approved by the Board in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
specify any condition in the offer letter of the grant of the
relevant option which must be satisfied before an option may be
exercised. Save as determined by the Board and provided in the
offer letter of the grant of the relevant option, the Share Option
Scheme does not stipulate any performance target a grantee is
required to achieve before an option can be exercised under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme nor any clawback mechanism
for the Company to recover or withhold any options granted. The
Board believes that this will provide the Board with more flexibility
in setting out the terms and conditions of the options under
particular circumstances of each grant and facilitate the Board to
offer meaningful incentive to attract and retain quality personnel
that are valuable to the development of the Group.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Save for the circumstances prescribed below, an option must
be held by the grantee for at least twelve months before the
option can be exercised. The Board may at its discretion grant a
shorter vesting period to an employee participant in the following
circumstances:

(@) grants of "make-whole” option(s) to new joiners to replace
the share options they forfeited when leaving the previous
employers;

(b) grants to an employee participant whose employment is
terminated due to death or occurrence of any out of control
event;
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(c) grants that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons, which include
options that should have been granted earlier if not for
such administrative or compliance reasons but had to wait
for subsequent batch. In such case, the vesting period may
be shorter to reflect the time from which the option would
have been granted;

(d) grants of options with a mixed or accelerated vesting
schedule such as where the options may vest evenly over a
period of twelve months; or

(e)  grants with performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of
time-based vesting criteria.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years
starting from 28 September 2023 (which can be terminated
before expiration).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 131 and in Note 34(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE ERBZ o 3ikfEE
COMPANY
The Company's reserves were as follows: KABZHEENOT .
2025 2024
—EZHE =Sl )=
FET FET
Contributed surplus EHRER 34,178 34,178
Accumulated losses RETETIE (479,463) (392,938)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of the contributed surplus if:

(@ the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2025
are set out in Notes 14(b) and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 263 to
264 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Ma Weihua (Chairman)
(Appointed on 21 August 2024)

Executive Directors:
Ms. Zheng Juhua
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

(Resigned on 10 February 2025)
Mr. Gong Huanghui

(Appointed on 26 August 2024)
Ms. Cao Li

(Appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit

(Appointed on 10 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Deputy Chairman)
(Appointed on 11 December 2024)
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter
(Resigned on 21 October 2024)
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
Mr. Chen Chao
(Appointed on 21 October 2024)

In accordance with bye-laws 86(2) and 87(1) of the Company's
bye-laws and to comply with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, Ms. Zheng Juhua, Ms. Cao Li, Mr. Lau Hoi Kit, Mr. Han
Zhenghai, Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen and
Mr. Chen Chao will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

_h?§ .
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within three years without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Other than the transactions as disclosed in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 March 2025
or at any time during the year then ended.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors was interested in any business (apart from
the Group’s business) which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or
any contract of significance for the provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements were connected transactions which
were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters
of appointment entered into between the Directors and the
Group were connected transactions which were exempt from
any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register as required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Directors’ interest in the Company:
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Approximate
percentage
Name of Director Number of shares of shareholding Capacity
EE e Ri¥E RESNERTE S92
Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares (Note (i) 20.26%  Interest of controlled corporations
BHEet 17 5834,767,1408% (I=E() RENEER
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit Long position 246,416,000 shares (Note (i) 5.98% Beneficial owner and interest of
AEARLE $572246,416,0008% (F5(i)) controlled corporations
EaBEBARZELRER

Note: PEE -

(i) 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart Limited (“Superb
Smart”), a company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua,
an executive Director. Accordingly, Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to be
interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(i) 197,816,000 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Hoi Kit, an
executive Director, and the remaining 48,600,000 shares were held by
Costrade Group Limited, a company wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit. Accordingly, Mr. Lau Hoi Kit is deemed to be interested in
all of the above mentioned relevant shares under the SFO. Mr. Lau Hoi
Kit is a son of Ms. Zheng Juhua, an executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and/or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” section on pages
98 to 101 in this annual report and Note 26(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors,
or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had
any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND

OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known by or otherwise
notified by any Director or chief executives of the Company,
the particulars of the corporations or persons who had 5% or
more interests in the following long positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO or were entitled to exercise,
or control the exercise of, 10% or more of the voting power at
any general meeting of the Company (the “Voting Entitiements”)
(i.e. within the meaning of substantial shareholders of the Listing
Rules) were as follows:

Name of substantial
shareholder Number of shares
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding Capacity
RIERNERLE &2

Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares
ML+ (Notes (i)
17 2834,767,1408% (MFEE())
Superb Smart Limited Long position 834,767,140 shares
(Notes (i)
47 72834,767,1408% (fE())

Dragon Mind Holdings Long position 341,132,000 shares
Limited (Note (ii)
ERERBRAT 47 A341,132,0008% (Fft=E(i))

20.26% Interest of controlled
corporations
SR ZYNCIL

20.26% Beneficial owner
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8.28% Beneficial owner
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Name of substantial

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

Approximate
percentage of

shareholder Number of shares shareholding Capacity

TERRER R #E REFHTILE B2

Managecorp Limited Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Trustee
(Note (ii) ZEEA

4 A&341,132,0008% (%))

Mr. Zhang Lirui Long position 341,132,000 shares
SRAER Ao E (Note (ii))

47 78341,132,0008% (B3 5E(i)
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit Long position 246,416,000 shares
RN E (Note (iii))

Y & 246,416,00008 (BEEE(iii))

Notes:

(i) 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart Limited (“Superb
Smart”), a company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua,
an executive Director. Accordingly, Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to be
interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(i) 341,132,000 shares were held by Dragon Mind Holdings Limited which
is wholly-owned by a discretionary trust of which Mr. Zhang Lirui ("Mr.
Zhang") is the settlor and Managecorp Limited (“Managecorp”) is the
trustee, and accordingly, Mr. Zhang and Managecorp are deemed to be
interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(iif) 197,816,000 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Hoi Kit, an
executive Director, and the remaining 48,600,000 shares were held by
Costrade Group Limited, a company wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit. Accordingly, Mr. Lau Hoi Kit is deemed to be interested in
all of the above mentioned relevant shares under the SFO. Mr. Lau Hoi
Kit is a son of Ms. Zheng Juhua, an executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
corporations or persons who, as at 31 March 2025, had the Voting
Entitlements or any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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trust
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Ma Weihua, aged 77, is a non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Ma has
been a member of the Board since August 2024. He was a former
executive director, president and CEO of China Merchants Bank
Co., Limited. He has a doctor's degree in economics. He has
served as the chairman of the board of directors for Wing Lung
Bank Ltd., CIGNA & CMC Life Insurance Company Ltd. and China
Merchants Fund Management Co. Ltd. He was a member to the
10th National People’s Congress and a member of the 11th and
the 12th National Committee of the People’s Political Consultative
Conference of China. He is currently the chairman of the National
Fund for Technology Transfer and Commercialization (B &% % i
Ba(E5|EES), chairman of Global Philanthropy Institute (BIFR
A # P, chairman of Susallwave Digital Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd., chairman of Alliance of Social Value Investment (#t&
BEKRERZE) and chairman of One Foundation (E&%). He
is also adjunct professors of several top universities including
Peking University and Tsinghua University. In March 2019, Mr.
Ma was appointed as special advisor to the China office of the
United Nations Development Programme and the chairman of
the Financing Advisory Committee of Sustainable Development
Goals of the United Nations, and was appointed as a member
of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal Impact
Steering Group in April in the same year. In July 2021, Mr. Ma was
appointed as a member of Mainland China Advisory Group by the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ma currently serves as independent non-executive directors
of China Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 384) and Haidilao
International Holding Limited (stock code: 6862), and all of the
above-mentioned companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He also serves as a supervisor of Fuyao
Glass Industry Group Co., Limited (@ company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange)
(stock codes: 3606 and 600660). Mr. Ma was an independent non-
executive director of Legend Holdings Corporation (stock code:
3396) from June 2015 to June 2024 and was the chairman and
a non-executive director of Bison Finance Group Limited (stock
code: 888) from May 2018 to September 2023, and all of the
above-mentioned companies are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He was an independent director of Guangdong
Qunxing Toys Joint Stock Co., Limited (BEEREAEITEKRHERA
g]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) (stock
code: 002575) from August 2020 to October 2022.
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Executive Directors

Ms. Zheng Juhua, aged 53, is an executive Director of the
Company. Ms. Zheng has been a member of the Board since
April 2011. Ms. Zheng conducts a property rental and investment
business in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China. She has
over ten years of experience in securities investment in Hong
Kong.

She is the mother of Mr. Lau Hoi Kit, an executive Director. She is
the sole beneficial owner of Superb Smart Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company which holds approximately 20.26%
of the issued share capital. She has not held any directorships in
the last three years in any other public company the securities
of which are listed on the securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Gong Huanghui, aged 55, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Gong has been a member of the Board since
August 2024. He currently serves as the chairman of Shenzhen
Boshi Investment and Development Limited (RIS BEIEE
BEAMRAT). He was the co-chairman of ZTE Development
Company Limited. Mr. Gong is responsible for providing
leadership for development to the above-mentioned companies
and managing their daily operations. He possesses extensive
experiences in areas including investment and financing, digital
technology, communication technology and new energy. He is
also a practitioner mentor of the Business School of Southern
University of Science and Technology. He has not held any
directorships in the last three years in any other public company
the securities of which are listed on the securities market in Hong
Kong or overseas.
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Ms. Cao Li, aged 41, is an executive Director. Ms. Cao has been
a member of the Board since December 2024. She graduated
from the Central South Branch of Wuhan University of Science
and Technology (EVERH A2 5 1R), majoring in advertising
planning. Ms. Cao has served as general manager of several
hotels and has extensive experience in business management,
administration, and formulating strategies on corporate
operations and development. She has not held any directorships
in the last three years in any other public company the securities
of which are listed on the securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Lau Hoi Kit, aged 29, is an executive Director. Mr. Lau
has been a member of the Board since February 2025. Mr. Lau
holds a Master of Science degree in International Business from
Brunel University London. He is currently a business manager
in CInEEZE CFI) BRAE (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company). He has extensive experience in business
management, administration, and formulating strategies on
corporate operations and development.

He is a son of Ms. Zheng Juhua, an executive Director. He is
currently interested in approximately 5.98% of the issued share
capital of the Company. He has not held any directorships in
the last three years in any other public company the securities
of which are listed on the securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenghai, aged 49, is an independent non-executive
Director and the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors
of the Company. Mr. Han has been a Board member since
December 2024. He has extensive experience in investment and
management business. Mr. Han is not related to any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of
the Company. He was a non-executive Director of Capital Realm
Financial Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 204), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, (the “Capital
Realm”) from 20 January 2021 to 12 December 2024, additionally
as the chairman of the Board of the Capital Realm since 11 March
2021 and re-designated as joint chairman of the Board of the
Capital Realm since 22 January 2024. He has been serving as a
manager of Beijing Zhongmin Zhenxing Construction Technology
Co, Ltd. ERFEIREEZFFARAR) and a president of
Beijing China zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd. Gt R EIER
BIRAE) since June 2020 and May 2017, respectively. He was
also appointed as an executive Director of Golden Faith Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2863), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange from April 2021 to January
2022.

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chi has been a Board member since April 2011.
He has over 30 years of experience in accounting and financial
control area. He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow member
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom, an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Chi is not related to any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. Chi is currently an independent non-executive director of
Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (formerly known
as “Perfect Shape Medical Limited”) (stock code: 1830). He was
an independent non-executive director of Hephaestus Holdings
Limited (formerly known as “Union Asia Enterprise Holdings
Limited") (stock code: 8173) from November 2019 to March 2022.
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Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 42, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung has been a Board
member since December 2023. He holds a bachelor's degree
in mathematics from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He has over 18 years of experience in corporate
finance and listed companies management. Mr. Yeung is not
related to any Directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company.

He is currently an independent non-executive director of MIE
Holdings Corporation (@ company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555). He was an independent non-
executive director of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 932) (“Shunten”) from May 2022 to September
2022 and has been the chief operating officer of Shunten from
September 2022 to January 2024, where he is mainly in charge of
monitoring financial and development of Hong Kong and China
business of Shunten. He is the chief financial officer of Changyou
Alliance Group Limited (stock code: 1039) since November 2020.
Between June 2019 to November 2020, he was the chief financial
officer of a private Hong Kong company where he was in charge
of pre-IPO group restructuring and fundraising. Mr. Yeung was also
engaged by several corporate finance companies, where he was
responsible for several IPO projects and acted as the financial
adviser, independent financial adviser and compliance advisers to
a large number of listed companies in prior years.

Mr. Chen Chao, aged 36, is an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Mr. Chen has been a Board member since
October 2024. He holds a bachelor’s degree in Communication
Engineering and a master’s degree in Applied Mathematics
from the United Kingdom (the “UK"). Mr. Chen is not related to
any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company. He is currently the deputy director
of Super Computing and Artificial Intelligence Computing
Professional Committee of China Communications Industry
Association. He has extensive experience in artificial intelligence,
and has coordinated a number of artificial intelligence modelling
and computing projects in the industry. Mr. Chen worked in a UK-
based hedge fund from 2013 to 2015, and worked in a Chinese
hedge fund from 2015 to 2019. He is currently working in a
Chinese artificial intelligence enterprise since 2019.
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Senior Management

Mr. Chau Kin Cheung Alfred, aged 40, is a joint company
secretary and financial controller of the Company. He holds a
bachelor degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. He has extensive
experiences in auditing, accounting, financing and company
secretarial matters. He joined the Group since October 2021.

Mr. Choi Pun Lap, aged 47, is a joint company secretary of the
Company. He holds a bachelor of business (accounting) degree
and a master degree of laws in Chinese business law. He is
currently serving as the company secretary of several companies
listed in the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined the Group
since September 2024.

Ms. Li Yue, aged 37, is a head of risk management of the
Company. Ms. Li has a Master of Financial Management from
the University of Alberta and a bachelor degree in Business
Management (Accounting) from Jilin University of Finance and
Economics and she has the certificate of accounting profession
issued by Finance Commission of Shenzhen Municipality. She has
over 5 years of experience in banking industry. She joined the
Group since July 2015.

Ms. Kwan Chung Yan, aged 46, is a responsible officer and
an executive director of the Company’s subsidiaries namely
ChaoShang Securities Limited and CHAOSHANG ASSET
MANAGEMENT LIMITED. Ms. Kwan is primarily responsible
for supervision of retail brokerage and asset management
businesses under the regulation of the SFC. Ms. Kwan holds a
bachelor degree in Business Administration from the University
of Thames Valley in the United Kingdom and has over 20 years of
experience in the financial industry. She joined the Group since
September 2016.

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

=REEAS

BEERE 405 REARBZ—IBER
BIMERMBRE - BRNEBRIXKRERE
EEEH B IR -HABFEAAEZ
ERAGERBARDABAGZEE BN
B 25 MBRADNEEHHEREEK
BN B —F+AMALTER-

BARNEE 75 BERTZ—UBERF
WE - REABEE (F5H) BLB2USEREL

(PEREZE) B -RIBFETHERETE B
BRSAARAE (TEAZFR) GEMETAF
ZABME - BBBBGHAMATERGE
RN -2 _MEABMALRER-

FHLL 7R RERBREFEE-FTL
ITREBEHEAZREYBERRLIRNE
MM REREMSEES (§518) BB
WRHARNTHMHREEGRENGSARES
BB -RNIBITEEEALFEER KN T
—hETAMARER-

RAAEEUNVE > A6px 0 IR AN AT E A BB
BEERADMNAHEEEEARLATINE
BEABRATEZ -HNEREEEEIE
EEETZTELELCREEEEER B/
ERRFRERELACAKBEIHEEES T
241 W BT RREER BE20FER - W
TERENAMARER-

—E_LFER

113



5 114 annvar Report 2025

MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, approximately 82% (2024: 75%) and 58% (2024
38%) of the Group's turnover was attributable to the five largest
customers and the largest customer respectively.

During the year, approximately 100% (2024: 100%) and 100%
(2024: 94%) of the Group's purchases were attributable to the five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers above at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the laws of
Bermuda or the Company’s Bye-laws, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Bye-law 168(1) of the Company's Bye-laws, every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any
loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred
by the Company in the execution of the duties of his/her office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-laws shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company have maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s shares during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications, experience and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong are
required to participate in a contribution retirement scheme of
the Group set up in accordance with the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Under the scheme, employees are required to
contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per month and they may choose to make additional
contributions. The employer’s monthly contribution is at the rate
of 5% of each employee’s monthly salary up to the maximum limit
of HK$1,500 per month.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate in
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant local
government authorities since incorporation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 43 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the sufficiency of public float
requirement under the Listing Rules at any time during the year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising four independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations
of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Reanda HK CPA Limited (formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited) who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Ma Weihua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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n REANDA

Reanda HK CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY
LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP
LIMITED)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Modern
Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 127
to 262, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the "Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

21/F, Tai Yau Building
181 Johnston Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS RAREETEIE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FAEE T EEEREBERFINFEHE > 27
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the HAHGEMBERRNEBEAERARAZTENS
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These IH ELFERERMBABBERSHMBHR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the RARLABRRFETEEN RMTEHZ
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ZFEIEREHBENER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are (i) impairment FHFITEBFTHHNNEERESABBEIEE
assessment of trade and account receivables, finance lease UWERFR BN ERENRIE - BUWE R KT
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables B~ FEURIBRIEM %% ~ TEI R EAMFEUL

and deposits, prepayments and other receivables, and (i) RIBZBEN L Ri)EERELEEZHE

impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets. Pt o
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
FAREEE EKME s EE

Impairment assessment of trade and account
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan and
interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables

FEWERF - BB BEHENRE -BRRERKFIE FE
WERERIEMZE  BOIRREMERRIEZRE

Ak

Refer to notes 19, 21, 18, 20 and 22 to the Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of
consolidated financial statements trade and account receivables, finance lease receivables,
BHR2RGRE M HBRRMEE192118~20K%22 loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and

deposits, prepayments and other receivables included:
BMARMEUIRR - BB ERIE - BIRE R K F
B BRRIBRIBMZ S B R E MR ISR UK
EIMMETER 8 !

—E_LFER
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Key Audit Matter
RAREtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B E st RE

As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying amounts of the
Group’s trade and account receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring
receivables and deposits, prepayments and other
receivables were HK$242.2 million, HK$19.3 million,
HK$160.1 million, HK$18.3 million and HK$46.9 million
respectively, in which allowance for impairment losses
of HK$63.1 million, HK$5.2 million, HK$27.2 million,
HK$1.2 million and HK$13.1 million were recorded.
RZE_RFE=ZA=+—H> E£EWNEKIE
MoK RMEREEMRIE BWRERKRAE - ERRF
EBERENZS AR REMERRIEZEED NS
242,200,000 7T ~ 19,300,000 7T ~ 160,100,000 7T ~
18,300,00078 715 546,900,000 75 © £ 51 R (B ZE FE iR 28
3 BI#%4863,100,0007% 7T ~ 5,200,0007 7T ~ 27,200,000
7t~ 1,200,000 75 52 13,100,000/ 7T ©

Management assessed the impairment loss on trade
and account receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables based
on assumptions about expected credit loss rates. The
Group used judgments in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment loss
calculation, taking into account cash collection history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates.

EEEENEHEEBRAETNEREEUEER &
WREE TR EMIE BN E RURF] B~ BRI IEA]
e FANAREMBRRIENREETT G &
EETAMEBRMNEZRESENBAGBR T &
TiIBFEWRIER RENTIG R R ARGt o

Understood key controls in relation to expected
credit loss (“ECL") impairment assessment.
BRRBEREERA 2R MBET EEAN RS
il o

Understood the ECL model used by the Group.
R EEYEREEEAEELNER-

Discussed with management to understand and
evaluate the basis and reasonableness of the
rationale for expected credit loss rate of different
aging and types of debtors and compared for
changes, if any.
HMAEEEERmTUERKIERRER RER
ANEHEEBRAXENEER GRS LLEREF)
@A) -

Examined the ageing profile of the debtors
and checked the accuracy of the calculation of
impairment loss allowance.

BEBEBANRKEE R ERETENERE -

Obtained and understood from management of
established policies and procedures on credit risk
approval, monitoring and debts recovery process.
NEEREEENIEREREZEEREILEREE
RHHRMRIBEINAZF ©

Evaluated management’'s assessment of the
recoverability of those individual debtors with little
or no settlement subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.
TEEEEHREMHEARBEELVESREERW
BRERS A B BT Y [0 14 7F H Y 5T 4 o
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Key Audit Matter
FREtEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B R E

We focused on this area as the balances of trade and
account receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables were
material to the consolidated financial statements
and the assessment on the impairment loss on
these receivables involved significant judgments and
estimates by management.

HMEERZEE ThHERERERSR  FEWRERE
B FEREREF B BIRRERIBENZE 8N
MREMENRESERGREVBRREABHZE
FEWGER IR B s R B IEE AV B K H B2 (& o

- Evaluated the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade and account receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, factoring receivables and deposits,
prepayments and other receivables in accordance
with the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards in notes 19, 21, 18, 20 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

—  REBERTEEIREHBRRR  BUNRERE
MIEEREREMNE ERRERIENZE T8
R EMEWRIBELR &M HBIRERMEE19 21~
18~ 202218 2 # BB E & -

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

BEMENEEZREG

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial
Statements
H2REE R BTN

The carrying values of the Group's goodwill and
intangible assets as at 31 March 2025 were amounted
to HK$1.0 million and HK$0.5 million respectively and
were contained in two cash-generating units (“CGUS")
identified by management, the Comercializadora
Ven 2010 CGU and the ChaoShang Financial CGU
respectively. Allowance for impairment l0ss on
intangible assets of HK$5.0 million was recorded for
the year.

N ZEZRF=ZA=+—H> BXEEBHELELE
EREREE 7 5 7%1,000,0007 75 5 500,000 75 » I
BERrMEEEEHNNIREELEM (BREEL
B 1{iL1) 9 BlIAComercializadora Ven 201089IRE&ELE
BUKHETMPNREELBEUN -BEEERE
&5 18 £ 1 & 9 #% 185,000,000 7T ©

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets included:
KMEmMEmERREEERETLNEFTIEFEE .

- Evaluated the Group's identification of CGUs and
the value of goodwill and intangible assets allocated
to the CGUs and assessed the methodology
applied by management in the preparation of the
discounted cashflow forecast with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

- HME E£EREELBEMUNHNKRIEERRSE
EFEANEERBRTEEENBERTHEIRE
K2ERTEFENRENGREMIRIBERETE
RIS FTEFRBY /5 0% ©

—E_LFER

121



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B N A% B

Key Audit Matter
RAREtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B E st RE

Management performed an annual impairment
assessment of its goodwill and the associated
intangible assets. Management compared the
carrying values of the CGUs to which the goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated against
a discounted cashflow forecast to determine
the amount of impairment loss which should be
recognised, if any.
EEEYHAEREANEREEETFERET
B EEERREELEUNBERBEEENER
EESEMIBRERERAETIEE NETE TR
R HERBEEE WA)

The preparation of a discounted cashflow forecast
involves the exercise of significant management
judgement, particularly in estimating the long term
revenue growth rate and the discount rate applied.
HHREERESREEAT RELERNEIEREHE
THERGSRAKNAIEEXRRBEANGIREEER
TEREARHIER -

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill and intangible assets as a key audit matter
because the impairment assessments prepared
by management were complex and contained
judgemental assumptions, particularly the long term
revenue growth rate and discount rate applied,
which could be subject to management bias in their
selection.
B sThEE B EEN BT LN ERHRE
BEEE THNEEERRENAETHEEKLE

FHEMERR LHEERERARmIERERFE
RARENEBERIENEEEFHEERRHERD
PR

'122 Annu§/_

Evaluated the discounted cashflow forecast
prepared by management by comparing specific
data and significant assumptions in the preparation
of discounted cashflow forecast. Our evaluation has
taken into account our understanding of the Group's
future business plans.
ERBENMIRBESRERATCHANEREIERSA
BARBETLEE TEEEERENILIRIEEM
SR -TEEE BRMERE BEERKRE
etdEle

Compared the discount rate adopted in the
discounted cashflow forecast with that of
comparable companies and external market data.
BRI R ETEA P HRANLIBRETIERA
EIAVARRE LR R SR T 45 BB AET T LB o

Obtained from management the sensitivity analysis
of long term revenue growth rate and the discount
rate adopted in the discounted cashflow forecast
and assessed the impact of changes in these key
assumptions to the conclusions reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there were
any indicators of management bias.
NFMBRRERSRAFMRANRRKRGDE &
T&%ﬁxmaﬁﬁﬁﬂf DT R ET i EE KR
RELREHHTHENRET EERNTERE
BHEAEEAEEEREINIIR-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee of the Group assists the Directors in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.

BB R EMBRRARENE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuea)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Reanda HK CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Tsang Cheuk Bun

Practising Certificate number: P07122
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A T B HAt 2 i s %

For z‘he year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE_—ZFE_A&F=H=+—HIFFEZ

2025 2024
—E-REF —E &
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FAET TFAET
Revenue & 5 73,706 144,950
Cost of sales THEM K (53,195) (112,283)
Gross profit 7 20,511 32,667
Other income Hang A 7 3,930 5,841
Impairment loss on loan and interest ~ FEWE = Bl BRER 1
receivables 18 (15,759) (14,159)
Impairment loss on trade and FEUBR FUR BB 18
account receivables 19 (25,387) (27,462)
(Impairment loss)/Reversal of FEURIBRRIER(E
impairment loss on factoring (B538) [o]%
receivables 20 (607) 43
(Impairment loss)/Reversal of FEW R E R ERIERE
impairment loss on finance lease (F18) ol
receivables 21 (4,153) 3,376
Impairment loss on deposits and & R EMEWIERE
other receivables 518 22 (6,941) (6,846)
Loan and interest receivables FEW E =R F) B EH
written off 18 - (4,407)
Loss on changes in fair value of KREME RN DEEEEIE
investment property 15 - (763)
Impairment loss on intangible assets  EEERERE 17 (5,025) (11,275)
Gain/(Loss) on changes in fair value H{’E,\,\ S E AN EE
of held-for-trading investments &=/ (B548) 12,653 (3,474)
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of held-for- HEFIEEERE
trading investments (§518) Wz (637) 10,815
Loss on disposal of interest in an HEBME N HREER
associate 16 - (5,868)
Loss on de-registration of a subsidiary — sEE5MIE AT AR 8 - (10,579)
Administrative expenses THEHR (62,121) (55,497)
Operating loss EERIE (83,536) (87,588)
Finance costs FE A 9 (281) (793)
Share of results of an associate DMEBE AT ES 16 - (3,386)
Loss before taxation PRI ARS8 8 (83,817) 91,767)
Taxation I8 10 (5,146) 4,204
Loss for the year REERE (88,963) (87,563)
CECREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZ_—F_#AF=H=+—HIFE

2025 2024
_ERE —E U4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
MisE FAT TFAET
Other comprehensive income/(loss): HMZmEUE, ~ (&518) :
ltems that may be reclassified K518 BT SEE T D HEE R 1Y
subsequently to profit or 10Ss: HH
— Share of other comprehensive —DiEEE AR Hthem
income of an associate W - 5
— Exchange differences arising on —%@%iﬁﬁl\% SEEDN
translation of foreign operations AR 509 (31,909)
— Realisation of exchange reserve and ﬁh RENGIESS *IE
derecognition of B S0 1B 1 B A% L TE %
non-controlling interests upon JEER R
de-registration of a subsidiary - 10,199
— Realisation of exchange reserve —HEBZE QB mE
upon disposal of interest in BIRE R EE
an associate = 42)
509 (21,747)
Items that will not be reclassified BEET BB D IEE IR m Y
subsequently to profit or 10ss: EH
— Gain on revaluation of owner- —(FRYELEER
occupied property upon transfer BEYENEGWRE
to investment property 5,746 -
- Deferred tax liabilities on recognition —458E &Y ERFHERE
of revaluation of owner-occupied MEFERYESEE
property upon transfer to FHRERIBEE
investment property (1,436) -
4,310 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year ZAEEBEEEEE (84,144) (109,310)
Loss for the year attributable to: MTFATEEERFERSIS !
Owners of the Company EKREFBA (88,963) (87,432)
Non-controlling interests JEPERE R - (131)
Loss for the year REERIE (88,963) (87,563)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income MUTFALTEEAEEZESTE
for the year attributable to: (B518) WA
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSTESY SN (84,144) (122,138)
Non-controlling interests JEPERE - 12,828
Total comprehensive loss for the year ARFEEARE=HEEE (84,144) (109,310)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AT ZLERAIFE AREM
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS  &Ef&iE518
OF THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted HARRKEE (2.16) cents (2.12) cents
12 AL AL
The notes on pages 134 to 262 form an integral part of these IEZ 4G EMEREDSHNFI1UE262E Y
consolidated financial statements. MizEo
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MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR e A BIR DL

Asat31March2025 R _ZE_#ZFE=H=4+—H

2025 2024
—EZRE B NE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JERENE E
Property, plant and equipment Y ERN IS e Y 14 3,976 31,482
Investment property "B 15 71,820 37,044
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 1,616 8,363
Intangible assets mLEE 17 500 5,525
Goodwill S 17 1,000 1,000
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 205 230
Loan and interest receivables EINERRF B 18 - 98,851
Deferred tax assets FIETRIBE E 27 11,934 21,690
91,051 204,185
Current assets RENEE
Trade and account receivables FEUS AR =R 19 242,184 230,675
Factoring receivables FEW(RIZRNIE 20 18,322 18,449
Finance lease receivables FEWREREHIE 21 19,294 22,051
Loan and interest receivables FEWEREF B 18 160,078 65,586
Deposits, prepayments and other e~ FENTRIE R
receivables Hih g IE 22 46,871 68,695
Tax recoverable FEURFR TR 203 203
Held-for-trading investments FIEFEBERKE 23 22,979 12,957
Net investment in sublease DHEKEFER 14 - 1,902
Cash held on behalf of clients BEEFRER 24 16,579 13,815
Cash and bank balances HBERIBITERS 25 59,845 129,045
586,355 563,378
Total assets BERE 677,406 767,563
EQUITY Rem
Capital and reserves BARRKG#EE
Share capital (&N 26 82,412 82,412
Reserves B 557,229 641,373
Total equity g k] 639,641 723,785
ZE T AFFR



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR e A BIR DL

Asat 31 March 2025 R _ZE_a&#=H=+—H

2025 2024
—ECRE —E g
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
N FHET FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HESE 14 1,221 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 27 1,861 1,254
______________________________________________________________ 3,082 124
Current liabilities Bt U=k
Trade and account payables FE(TAR X 28 16,978 13,909
Lease liabilities HEESRE 14 505 10,705
Accruals, other payables and FEET &R~ HtERIE AR
deposit received [SYlen 10,714 8,491
Amount due to a Director B —EENIE 29 306 70
Tax payables FE{TIRIE 6,180 9,349
_____________________________________________________________ 34683 42524
Total liabilites ~~~~~~ ®&®% 37,765 43778
Total equity and liabilities R KkaEERE 677,406 767,563
Net current assets ROEEFE 551,672 520,854
Total assets less current liabilities BEEAAER & E 642,723 725,039

The notes on pages 134 to 262 form an integral part of these IEHFLAESHBHRREIHNF134E2628H 2
consolidated financial statements. B 5F o

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 262 were N E127E262B 2 iz BB BREREN T
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and were _—HAENB_+NBEEESRATIE#RES

signed on its behalf. Eo
Ma Weihua Zheng Juhua
BRTEE BREHTE
Director Director

EZE EF




MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

»
B HE AR AR E R
e i’
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B EZ_—F_#AF=H=+—HIFE
Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests
FATREAELE FFERER
Property Share of net
Share Share Contributed  Exchange Surplus  revaluation Accumulated assets of
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total subsidiaries Total
NEBHE EEHBAR
Bx  ROEE BAERR  ERHE  BBOR s RHER it BEE 3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Fin T TR FEn FiEn TR TR TR TR
A1 April 2023 RZEZ=%MB-H 8412 1,000,745 34178 (37,619) 9,729 725 (250,767) 845,923 (12,828) 833095
Comprehensive loss 2EHR
Loss for the year rEESR - - - - - - (87432) (87.432) (131) (87,563)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Eftr2EKE / (818
Exchange differences on translation of BERINEBUBRRL
financial statements of ERER
foreign operations - - - (32,476) - - - (32476) 567 (31,909
Share of other comprehensive AMEBEATEMRERE
income of an associate - - - 5 - - - 5 - 5
Realisation of exchange reserve and HENBATIRERESR
derecognition of non-controlling interests B RAR IEBESBIERRRR
Upon de-registration of a subsidiary i - - - 2193) - - - (2193 1239 10,199
Realisation of exchange reserve Lpon HERENTRARER
disposal of interest in an associate ERHE - - - ) - - - #2) - (#2)
Transactions with owners BREAZRS
Tranfer 1o statutory reserve ENEERE - - - - 680 - (680) - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=B=1+-8 8412 1,000,745 34178 (72,325) 10,409 725 (338,879 723,785 - 723,785
At 1 April 2024 RZBE_MERA-H 82412 1,000,745 34178 (72,325) 10409 725 (338,879) 723,785 - 723,785
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FEEFS - - - - - - (83963) (83963) - (88963)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Et2EME / (5#)
Exchange differences on tranglation of BB LR BRRZ
financial statements of EREE
foreign operations - - - 509 - - - 509 - 509
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied LIEANEEER
property upon transfer o investment REMENEENE
property - - - - - 5746 - 5716 - 5716
Deferred tax iabiliies on recognitonof ~ BERHBN LR
revaluation of owneroccupied property  BfEETUEEYEEES
Upon transfer to investment property MELHIEAR - - - - - (1.436) - (1.430) - (1.436)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=B=1+-H 8412 1,000,745 34178 (1816) 10409 11,555 (427,842) 639,641 - 639,641

IEGREMBRREIUNFI134E26028
PysE o

The notes on pages 134 to 262 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SrAa BRI R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZ_—F_#AF=H=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E_RE BT E
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b= FET FET
cash flows from RETFRERE
operating activities
Cash used in operations REEBEMBAIRE 31(a) (58,545) (5,591)
Profits tax refunded, net BREIFFEM > JFRE 612 6,097
Net cash (used in)/generated from #&£&:5Z8) (FiA) FriiERE
operating activities R (57,933) 506
Cash flows from investing REZHRERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE REKREZM
equipment 14(a) (3,802) (1,096)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE REKRSIT
plant and equipment FrigRIa 111 29
Capital injection to an associate AEMREREATIEE
through rights issue 16 - (10,631)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HEME AR ERPIERIE
an associate - 15,528
Net cash outflow from disposal HEWBRATZ
of a subsidiary WM FEE (494) -
Purchase of held-for-trading BERFEERE
investments (14,046) (36,175)
Proceeds from disposal of held-for- HERFEERE
trading investments FiRIE 16,040 38,002
Bank interest received BUERTTH] R 848 751
Dividend income S A 302 -

Net cash (used in)/generated from 3&E;E% (FrFE) FriSiRE
investing activities pEL (1,041) 6,408




e BlEiRR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B EZ_—F_#AF=H=+—HIFE

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2025 2024
—EZRE —ETmE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b5 FET FRT
cash flows from MEEBRERE
financing activities
Increase/(Decrease) in amount due FEN—%EERIE
to a Director g, Gazl) 236 (1,466)
Payment of principal portion of lease YNHEEEEY
liabilities REE 5 14(b) (10,690) (10,177
Payment of interest portion of lease AN ==Npd
liabilities FEED 14(b) (281) (793)
Net cash used in financing MEEBFTARE R
activities (10,735) (12,436)
Net decrease in cash and RERREEHEEE
cash equivalents W PR (69,709) (5,522)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHzRERRE
beginning of the year %EIEE 129,045 138,497
Effect of foreign exchange EREE 2 FEE
rate changes, net 509 (3,930)
Cash and cash equivalents at EXRZAETKRRE
end of the year £fHEE 25 59,845 129,045

The notes on pages 134 to 262 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

HEGEEVBRRTETHNE134R26028 2
B EE o
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

_ 134 Annu§/_

GENERAL INFORMATION

Modern Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)
(the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
Company’s registered office is located at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton Il, Bermuda. The principal place
of business in Hong Kong is situated at Suite 2206-10, 22nd
Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in trading, money lending,
factoring, finance leasing and financial services businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 26 June 2025.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment
property and held-for-trading investments that have
been measured at fair value.

— R E

MEHFREARLE FIBEEHE
EBERRNE) (KAB) A —FKRE
REFMMRILIZERAT LN E AR
EXRZFABMRAE (THAZAT)) £k E
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House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton II,
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BT R IB265% 2= K E22182206-10
Eo
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis notwithstanding
that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$88,963,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025. The
directors have carefully reviewed the Group's cash
position as at the end of the reporting period and the
cash flow forecast prepared by the management for
at least the next twelve months from the date of this
report. The directors are therefore of the opinion that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
Statements on a going concern basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

2

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHERK#E
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE B
(i) Adoption of amendments to standards () RPEARREZ(ET (&)

and interpretations

The HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments to standards and interpretations
that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or
HKAS 1 Non-Current

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKAS 1

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
HKFRS 16

Amendments to Presentation of Financial Statements -

HK Int 5 (Revised) Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments listed above
in the current year has had no material effect on
the Group's financial performance and positions
for the current and prior year.

Y
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards, interpretation and
amendments that have been issued but
are not yet effective

(i)

The following new standard, interpretations and
amendments have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become

effective.

Amendments to HKAS 21
and HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HK Int 5

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Lack of Exchangeability’

Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature — dependent
Electricity?

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 112

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause®

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 The amendments shall be applied prospectively

to the sale or contribution of assets occurring in
annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(i)

New standards, interpretation and
amendments that have been issued but
are not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is currently assessing the effect
of these new accounting standards and
amendments, other than as explained below,
the management did not anticipate these new
accountings and amendments will have material
impact to the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements, which was issued by the
HKICPA in July 2024 supersedes HKAS 1 and will
result in major consequential amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards including HKAS
8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements
(renamed from Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors). Even
though HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on
the recognition and measurement of items
in the consolidated financial statements, it is
expected to have a significant effect on the
presentation and disclosure of certain items.
These changes include categorisation and
sub-totals in the statement of profit or loss,
aggregation/disaggregation and labelling of
information, and disclosure of management-
defined performance measures.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

Changes in accounting policy on
offsetting arrangement in long service
payment scheme in Hong Kong

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment
Ordinance”) which will be effective from 1
May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, any accrued benefits
attributable to the employer’'s mandatory
contributions under mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF Benefits”) of an entity would no
longer be eligible to offset against its obligations
on long service payment (“LSP”) for the portion
of the LSP accrued on or after the Transition
Date. There is also a change in the calculation
basis of last monthly wages for the portion of
the LSP accrued before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied
practical expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b)
(the “practical expedient”) to account for the
offsetable MPF Benefits as deemed employee
contributions to reduce the current service
costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong”
(the “"Guidance”) which provides clarified
and detailed guidance on the accounting
considerations relating to the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism. The Guidance clarified
that following the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance, LSP is no longer a ‘simple type
of contributory plans’ to which the practical
expedient had been intended to apply.

2

EXE

21

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

sTEUER ()

RABEE (B
(i) FEERPBRFZBIRHEE

BEz St R E S
122022568 » EEBFHIE
(2022 12 1% K2 B R 5t &
E R BE) (1B5]) 1&
B) (METHEA) » HE 8
20255818 (M&EH 7)) &
M IRBETIER  BEEM
BHEMEAEEAEETRE
B 58 1) 14 fHE =R T 2R A 19T A
RetiEm (Mameinml) &
TEFEEREEENEH
Az ®RANWEHERS
(TEfRHB ) XN E
HAARFE & B (F o K& 3 Al
KN ERRF S ONER
B—ER ITENHEEE
WA PR o

K2023F1A1HAN AEE
FEREBEERFE19%S
3 ERBE TR % (TH]
TRERZE) REEHEP
BRERmI RS RIEREE
iR LUR D B 1R 1448 B AR
AR E AR A A

1$2023F78 > HEEGEHEIA
gRXREENERES -
HARFE S H IS 2 g5t
&) (M551)) » HEMBUEY
SIS 5T E BB (LA R
KEEEMIES| B85 B AR
BT IEFBEMmE > KRR
EIrBBRERERNITE
BAZEN TEEERHAR
2o

—E_LFER

139



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(iii) Changes in accounting policy on

offsetting arrangement in long service
payment scheme in Hong Kong (Continued)
By following the Guidance, the Group has
therefore changed its accounting policy and
ceased to apply the practical expedient and
reattribute the deemed employee contributions
on a straight-line basis from the date when
services by employees first lead to their benefits
in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a).

The abovementioned change in accounting
policy does not have material impact to the
financial statements of the current and prior
years.

2.2 Subsidiaries

(@

5 140  sAnnval Report 2025

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

|
ST

(@

U

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation
are measured at either fair value
or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their
acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continuea)

(@) Consolidation (Continued)
()

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date,
any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

(@

()

(iff)

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded
in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Costs include direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3

Investments in associates (Continuead)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group'’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3

5 146  annvar Report 2025

Investments in associates (Continuea)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal
or partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3

24

2.5

|
ST

Investments in associates (Continuead)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive Directors of the Company that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars
("HK$") which is the Company’s functional
and the Group's presentation currency. Other
functional currencies are Renminbi (‘RMB") and
US dollar (“US$").
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

_ 148 Annu§/_

(@

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
(Continued)

The Directors consider that presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in HK$ will
facilitate analysis on financial information of the
Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income within “finance cost”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or 10ss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
2.5 Fore

()

ign currency translation (Continuea)
Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing exchange rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

- all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in the
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (that
is, reductions in the Group's ownership interest
in associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the item'’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Property over the unexpired

period of the lease
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Leasehold improvement 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amounts if
the carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2.7

152  snnvar Re

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed
as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that item (including the relevant prepaid
lease payments) at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated
profits.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property
is measured at its fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
is included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposals.
Any gains or losses arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which the item is derecognised.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwiill
is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUS to
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.9 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition and recognised
separately from goodwill. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible assets may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each reporting period end.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

_ 154 Annu§/_

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Other assets subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets

|
ST

(@

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (OCI) or through
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held-for-trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

()

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

()

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

2 EXE

stBUR (@

2Q21MEMEE (&)

()

(d)

e @)

#mTA
NEBMEBBAAEERN
ERERE MAEEER
BEEFREMZEKRAEE
TIRERENAABERE
BARBEREBAENERER
BRIEEIDEEFHDEEE
I o B 7 52 [ e xT W RV AE A
B ZERENREREE
PIBRBERAEMUTA

BAnEstEBEEHEA
BENEREENQAEE
NGRS EERANES (1
BR) FREBEANESER
HEgFHst AHM 2 E WA
THEESTENREREN
BERE (REERBERE)
FTEEAEMANEZLEDH
E0 %

e

FEBEABLIFZATE
SPABEFANEH TAR
sSEEERE ((RREE
BR)) EE-AREEERR
REGNIHRENREME
SAEEBRHPWEAMARS
MEBZENERE BRER
MR LUERE TR - FRHTR
ERERBEHEMFAR
AR E KRR A AT S ERAY
HthEERAEENHEERM

=
g=°



2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

|
ST

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAXGHEEK @
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 21N EMEE @
(d) Impairment (Continued) (d) RE#E
General approach (Continued) —AR 7 E (48)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject BN AT ENEHEE
to impairment under the general approach N—M7m%ETERE B
and they are classified within the following TR ALAE A ML s A B RE
stages for measurement of ECLs, except for YRR A FEW R EFA B A
trade and account receivables and finance S ZEETHMEERDER
lease receivables which apply the simplified MU TEBEEBRETEMRE
approach, as detailed below: E% .
Stage 1 -  Financial instruments for which F—PEEE — BT
credit risk has not increased RHEES
significantly since initial [ g I fm B
recognition and for which the EBENEE
loss allowance is measured at BEEEER
an amount equal to 12-month HBER121E
ECLs BTERES
BEENETEE
AENER
IR
Stage2 -  Financial instruments for FMEER — BT HES
which credit risk has increased REESR
significantly since initial Rl rEE
recognition (but that are 10 (I I
not credit-impaired financial EEERE
assets) and for which the loss ETREE)
allowance is measured at an BHEEE
amount equal to lifetime ECLs BREER
ZHATEHER(E
EEiEE
FTENERE
IA
Stage3 -  Financial assets that are credit- FEEE — R&®EH
impaired at the reporting date HMESRE
(but that are not purchased or (I FEBE
originated credit-impaired) and SIREN
for which the loss allowance is EERE)
measured at an amount equal BHEEE
to lifetime ECLS BREER
ZHATEHER(E
BB
2RSSR
BE




2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery includes generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified on
the cash and cash equivalents.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.12 Financial liabilities

162  Annvar Rer

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
account payables, accruals, other payables and
deposits received, lease liabilities, amount due to a
Director and amount due to non-controlling interests.
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, and adjusted for transaction costs unless the
Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL where
applicable.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised to the profit or loss over the life of
the financial liabilities, except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes
in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit
or loss are included within finance costs.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.13

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.14 Trade, account and other receivables

|
ST

Trade and account receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade, account and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Margin financing service refers to the lending of funds
by the Group to customers for purchase of securities
for which the customers provide the Group with
collateral.

The Group recognises margin financing services
to customers as margin accounts trade receivable,
and recognises the commission as interest income
accordingly.

Trade, account and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair values and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and at financial
institution.

Bank deposits which are restricted to use are
classified as “restricted bank deposits”. Restricted
bank deposits are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade, account and other payables
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Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers.

Account payable to brokerage customers are all
deposited in the bank accounts designated by the
Group. The Group recognises the funds as liabilities
for settlement to the customers. The Group executes
trade orders through stock exchanges on behalf
of the customers. If the total amount of purchased
securities exceeds that of sold securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers decrease by the
difference in addition to the withholding stamp duty
and commission. If the total amount of sold securities
exceeds that of purchased securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers increase by the
difference after deducting the withholding stamp duty
and commission. Trade, account and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade, account and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.18

2.19

Borrowings

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that part or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Provisions

|
ST

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXGHHEE &
(Continued)
2.20 Provisions (Continued) 2.20 #15 &)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.21 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and consider whether it is
probable that a taxation authority with accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHHEE &
(Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.21 ENER BB EFR1STR (18)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements.

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group
is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXGHHEE &
(Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.21 ENEARIREEFR ISR ()

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment property that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
property are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.22

|
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or services is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

J does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

_ 170 Annu§/_

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the buyer, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the buyer’'s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the buyer, and either
the buyer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.22

|
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Rendering of services

Revenue from money lending, factoring and finance
leasing consultancy fee and handling fee are
recognised at a point of time when the services are
rendered.

Revenue from the securities brokerage services is
recognised at a point of time when the customer has
obtained control of the service, generally when the
trades are executed.

Revenue from placing and underwriting services
is recognised at a point of time when the relevant
placing and underwriting are completed.

Revenue from asset management services is
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over
time.

Revenue from other sources

Finance lease, factoring and loan interest income is
recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

ERGHHER @

2.22 W FESE (#8)

ERAHWE (&)

FEHIRTS

BE - REKRELAESHERT
BEWARREZSIRBVEH
BLFEST

B IRB U AR E P EUS IR
BRI RN E— R EMEST &
EREEETR-

P & e A3 7K 85 AR 755 WA S AR A
P& R LR A S e AR FEST ©

EEEERBBARBOEERE
FiRy [ 22 Pl B R 500 o

HL Wi 25 3R TR
MERE RERERFBIWAR
BRAEERFRER - iR # Y
PRATIZ A SEFT AR M E @
(FJ#%8) BUEEERENTR
EEMS  HHEREEERBAERR
RopELFEERENTREEM
o WHEHAA REREER
IR RAERNX

T WA 7 T R PO R R b
IS

R E WA A W ERIE Z REF)
Fe 37 Ry RS

—E_LFER

171



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits

(@

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Retirement scheme obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans organised by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments
in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC
based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated at a
percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC
government.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
2.23Emp
(b)

()

loyee benefits (Continued)

Retirement scheme obligations (Continued)
The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
("MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme
are based on minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed
as incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the relevant Group entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundantly the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)
(d)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-
based compensation plan, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options)
of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options
granted. In determining the fair value of the
options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions are taken into considerations
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

|
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(d)

Share-based payments (Continueqd)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period,
the Company revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and
services conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares and the proceeds received
net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The options granted by the Company over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
are treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity account.

A cancellation during the vesting period (other
than a grant cancelled by forfeiture when
the vesting conditions are not satisfied) is
accounted for as an acceleration of vesting, and
therefore recognise immediately the amount
that otherwise would have been recognised
for services received over the remainder of the
vesting period.
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(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXGHHEE &
(Continued)
2.24 Leases 224708

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leased properties Over the lease terms
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.24 Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

|
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®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including insubstance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.24 Leases (Continued)

_ 178 Annu§/_

port 2025

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office properties (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment that are considered
to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases and sub-leases in which the Group does
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases and sub-leases that transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEARIGHER @
(Continued)
2.25 Government grants 2.25 BT ##Bh

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to assets refer to
government grants which are obtained by the
Group for the purposes of purchase, construction
or acquisition of the long-term assets. Government
grants related to income refer to the government
grants other than those related to assets.

Government grants related to assets are recorded as
deferred income and recognised in profit and loss of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a systemic basis over the useful lives of the assets.
Government grants to compensate the future costs,
expenses or losses are recorded as deferred income
and recognised in profit or loss when related costs
incurred. Government grants related to income that
compensate the incurred costs, expenses or losses
are recognised in profit or loss directly in current
period.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group's and
Ccompany’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

2.27 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
3.1 Financial risk factors

180  Annuar Re

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and account receivables, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, other receivables, trade deposits
paid, net investment in sublease, held-for-trading
investments, cash held on behalf of clients, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and account payables,
accruals, other payables, deposit received, lease
liabilities and amount due to a Director. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The
risks associated with these financial instruments,
include liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and price risk, and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Group has adopted the risk management policies and
guidelines. The board of Directors meets periodically
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to different risks arising from the
use of financial instruments. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk
management. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(@) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed for
each operating entity of the Group and are
aggregated by the Group finance department.
The Group finance department monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements
to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet
operational needs and may consider securing
external financing or facilities when the need
arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMERMEEEERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HHEREEEAR @
(@) Liquidity risk (Continued) (@) RBEERMR @)

The table analyses the Group's financial TRIBERBREHREED
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings B GRS ANEE
based on the remaining period at the end of ZEmaEEn e R
the reporting period to the contractual maturity MR- RANFIIMETEAS
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the ARAGIFIREME o

contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between Total
1 year or 1and Over undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
DRE RERRE

HEEK 1E5% SENE RERE fREE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL THL TER

At 31 March 2025 RIE_RE
=A=+-H
Trade and account payables JEfTERR 16,978 - - 16,978 16,978
Lease liahilities HEERE 581 1278 - 1859 1726
Accruals, other payables e ER EfESN
and deposit received DENEYERE 10,714 - - 10,714 10,714
Amount due to a Director E—REETE 306 - - 306 306
28,579 1,278 - 29,857 29,724
At 31 March 2024 RIE-mE
=A=1t-H
Trade and account payables JERTER 13,909 - - 13,909 13,909
Lease liahilities HEER 10,970 - - 10,970 10,705
Accruals, other payables e ER HHESN
and deposit received TEREWRE 8,491 - - 8,491 8,491
Amount due to a Director EN—REENE 70 - - 70 70
33440 - - 33,440 33175
Loan commitment EREE 14,000 - - 14,000 -
47 440 - - 47 440 33,175
—z-negg 181




MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its trade and account receivables, factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, net investment in sublease,
cash held on behalf of clients, cash and
bank balances which represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sale of goods and provision of services are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and appropriate financial strength. It also
has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
and account receivables, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables
and net investment in sublease, to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. To manage credit risk,
cash deposits are mainly placed with reputable
banks which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

|
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(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of financial asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

. internal credit rating;
° external credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

. actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results and finance position
of the borrower; and

° significant changes in the expected
performance, payment status and
behaviour of the borrower.

The trade and account receivables, factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, net investment in sublease, cash
held on behalf of clients, cash and bank
balances are subject to the ECL model.

3

R 75 L B

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

BEEBRREE @

3.1 BHRABER @

(b)

EERR &)
AEBETREENGE
BEE EIRRB A A S B
HMEESETREEFEN
BREHERSEEEEAR
WRERERM - EFEEEE
RELBEERNE AR
RIS ARERMEEREIR
ARBY BT AEME B2 4] R ST ARy 3
EIRIRAIPIREMETTLER
FERtEEARESENA
EEM - UTHERREEM
ERE

o RBMEEFRE
o SMEBEEETAR

e ERITLENHEEH
EERRMHRR
MEBRFERNEK
AMEBCRBERE
MABBEEIRE
BHRENELEERE
1E;

e MBRANKEERRK
MHRREREER
EFRREEEREIE,
K

. ERANERER-G
BERRTAELES
At

FEUSBRR ~ FEUR (RIZTRIE  FE
WRERAERE  BWER
KB~ B K HAth P WK
B DIAREFE - FRE
EFR-BHERIRTEFER
HEERKXRAENERLE
A o

—E_LFER

183



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BMHERNEEBEEREE &
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq) 3.1 HBRAREZE @
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERK &

184  snnval Re

As at the end of the reporting period, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

While cash held on behalf of clients and cash
and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment of HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was
identified.

Trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECL which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
and account receivables and finance lease
receivables from initial recognition. To measure
the ECL, trade and account receivables and
finance lease receivables have been individually
assessed based on respective credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in Notes 19 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Receivables which the simplified approach is
not applied

Impairment on factoring receivables, loan and
interest receivables, net investment in sublease,
deposits and other receivables are measured as
either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of
default occurring on the asset as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of default as
at the date of initial recognition by considering
available, reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.

Maximum exposure and staging classification
The table below shows the credit quality and
the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on the customers’ creditworthiness
information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and the staging
classification as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
and the exposure to credit risk for financial
assets.

3
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHEAMEERERBER @&
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMEBERBREZR #@
(b) credit risk (Continuead) (b)y EERK #@)
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B B i O % B8 B 77 48
(Continued) (&)
31 March 2025
ZZEZRE=R=+—-H
stage Il
Stage | Stagell  (Lifetime
(12-month  (Lifetime ECL-  Simplified
ECL) ECL) impaired)  approach Total
PEE=
PEER = ({8
PR E— (BE FE8A

(12/8BRA  #EHR  FEEEE
BHEE BEHEE B%-
B%) B%) BiRfE  @EEE &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FTERT THET THET TET FTET
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
FEE () B FEE(G)

Trade and account receivables  FEUTEER - 304,876 304,876
Factoring receivables FEWRIERIE 19,480 = = = 19,480

Finance lease receivables FEFERERIE - - = 24,473 24,473
Loan and interest receivables  FEWERRAIE

Note (iii) T =) 135,052 21,937 30,309 - 187,298
Deposits and other receivables %5 & EL A fEUREIE

Note (i) i 2(i) 11,673 44,039 3,237 - 58,949
Cash held on behalf of clients ~ EAEEER 16,579 - - - 16,579
Cash and bank balances ReEMRTERE 59,845 - - - 59,845
Gross carrying amount on REMBERRRZ

consolidated statement of IRERE

financial position 242,629 65,976 33,546 329,349 671,500
Less: Allowances for B OREBERE

impairment losses (6,025) (11,997) (23,487) (68,276)  (109,785)

Net carrying amount on REMBRRERZ

consolidated statement of REE

financial position 236,604 53,979 10,059 261,073 561,715
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHERAKREEREREEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) o
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBREBEZR @)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) fEERER #) .
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B i O] R B R 7 4R
(Continued) (#)

31 March 2024
“EME=ZA=1+—H
Stage | Stage | Stage Il
(12-month (Lifetime  (Lifetime ECL Simplified
ECL) ECL)  -impaired) approach Total
fEER=
BEER— (22(8
PEE— (EE HFEER
(12BBR  FEHRN  EHEEE
EHEE  BBEER BR-
B BX BiHfE  BEaE &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FTAET AT TAT FTET
Note (i) Note (i) Note ()
B EE() HEE() FIEE()
Net investment in sublease DELETHE 1,902 - - - 1,902
Trade and account receivables  FEUZERFR - - - 290,299 290,299
Factoring receivables ERERIE 18,999 - - - 18,999
Finance lease receivables e R AR ERIE - - - 26,080 26,080
Loan and interest receivables  FEIREZRF B
Note (iii) Bk (i) 126,912 19,479 62,784 B 209,175
Deposits and other receivables ¥ & K Bt FE U IE
Note (ii) i EE() 68,448 - 8,313 - 76,761
Cashheld on behalf of clients ~ ZFEEsEER 13,815 - - - 13,815
Cash and bank balances ReRBIEE 129,045 - - - 129,045
Gross carrying amount on FEMBRARZ
consolidated statement of REAE
financial position 359,121 19,479 71,097 316,379 766,076
Less: Allowances for B ORERERE
impairment losses (9,176) (630) (46,730) (63,653) (120,189)
Net carrying amount on REMBRARZ
consolidated statement of REZE
financial position 349,945 18,849 24,367 252,726 645,887
Loan commitment BRAE-RASHE
- Nominal amount 14,000 - - - 14,000
Less: Allowances for B OREBERE
impairment losses (245) - - - (245)
Net nominal amount off REMBRRIRNZ
consolidated statement of RESE
financial position 13,755 - - 13,755
Total &t 363,700 18,849 24,367 252,726 659,642
Notes: 5T
(i) Among which, the financial assets falling in stage | (i) Hrp o BARE—HNEHE
are mainly credit rated as Pass, all of the financial EIETRBIER PABER
assets falling in stage Il and stage Il are credit ABE _MEE =& R
rated as Special Mention and Non-performing, BE TR BEN R
respectively. Ro
(i) Deposits and other receivables amounted to (ii) BE_ZEZ_AHF=ZAH
approximately HK$44,039,000 has been moved —t+—HIEFER &
from stage | to stage Il during the year ended 31 T ELAth & UG 3R T8 R <5 2B 4Y
March 2025 (2024: Nil). The respective allowance #344,039,0007% 75 & F [ B
for impairment loss of approximately HK$6,394,000 —BERE_ (ZZ 0
has also been moved from stage | to II, with i) o HAHRA R B R E R
additional impairment losses of approximately T 88#Y 736,394,000/ 7T 0 B
HK$4,954,000 provided during the year ended 31 RZE_RAFE=F=+—
March 2025 (2024: Nil). HIEFERNRRKE —E%
BES B — o b 3% 0 R 1B 5 1B
B 5494,954,0008 7T (ZZ
P ;) o
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and staging classification

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iif) No loan and interest receivables has been moved
from stage | to stage Il or from stage Il to stage III
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

Interest rate risk

The Group's operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group was not exposed to
significant interest rate risk as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 as there was no variable interest
bearing assets or liabilities at the end of the
reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Directors are of the opinion that almost all
of the transactions of the Group and recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, Renminbi ("RMB”) and United States
dollar (“US$"). Given the HK$ is pegged to
the US$, the management does not expect
that there will be any significant currency
risk associated with such US$ denominated
balances and therefore no sensitivity analysis
is presented thereon. Otherwise, the Group
had no material exposure to currency risk as
majority of the Group’s asset were denominated
in its functional currency of either HK$ or
RMB. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management will monitor the foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.

3 HERAREEHEREE &
3.1 MBRAKREE &

(b)

()

(d)

FERRE &)

&R AR BE R & B 7 2R
G-

MizE © (&

iy MBE_E_HRE=A
=t HIEFER > WEE
B R F S H MR —
EREER T PEER —EERE
B=(CE_NE: &) o

FRER
FEBZEERERERN
ERZHGHREHTE -

FA P T 3R &5 B R I B B) 5t
BEERARG Rt A&E
N _E_RAFRZEFIMF
ZA=+t—HIEESEXRF=X
JR\ Bz o

S i & B

BEERA AERNLTFR
BREMERICMEERK
SEHLEBT AR (TA
Ri&) RkEmx (&) 3
BomlETEETHNE &
EEEAEr g HIRT A
EnstEEFEEEZERS
e L B AT S L LG 2 51) BRURK
B o BRIbZ 5 RS A&
EALNDEEMUEINESIE
BTHAREE HAE
i EARSEREEER-
5 B B Al S5 BE R R
ek EEEBBNERE
HEONE R



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(d)

()

(i)
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3 HEEAKEEBERBEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBRBAR @
Foreign currency risk (Continued) (d) 9I"¢1§ﬂ[‘“ #&)
Exposuire to forejgn exchange risk () I LR R
The following table details the Group's ‘F RFVWAEBRUE
net exposure at the end of the reporting FER ZINEE
period to currency risk arising from 9|\Z ST EZ B
recognised assets/(liabilities) denominated REE/ (BB FESE
in a currency other than the functional B R BN R SR
currency of the entity to which they Z)‘LFM/%E °
related.
2025 2024
—E-RE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
RMB ARHE 76 1,164
Us$ E=7T 689 730
EUR Eaw 4 4
769 1,898
Sensitivity analysis (i) BREZHT
The following table indicates the TERETAEBRRE
approximate change in the Group loss REBERIR SR K
before taxation (and accumulated losses) = % KRBz 9B
in response to reasonably possible HIECEEE M
changes in the foreign exchange rates to tHZB%%R IR (KR
which the Group has significant exposure FTES18) BEAE ) o
at the end of the reporting period.
2025 2024
“EZRE “ETUE
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss before (decrease) loss before
in foreign taxation and in foreign  taxation and

|
ST

exchange accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

Shis HERRA SN HERIAA]

BEERIEM - MBERBE EXENS  BiERRs

(R  EEIEMEE OB)  EiEnEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET

RMB AR 10% (8) 10% (116)
(10%) 8 (10%) 116

EUR BT 10% - 10% -
(10%) - (10%) =

—E_RFFR
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)
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SR e A AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

190  Annval Re

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(1) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period, and that
all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. Results
of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the effects
on the Group loss after tax measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2024.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its held-for-trading investments in listed
equity securities. Decisions to buy or sell listed
equity securities are based on daily monitoring
of the performance of individual securities
compared to index of relevant stock markets
and other industry indicators.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the end of the reporting period. If
the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 10% (2024: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group's pre-tax loss for the year ended 31
March 2025 would decrease/increase by
HK$2,298,000 (2024: pre-tax loss decrease/
increase by HK$1,296,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

3 HHRABREEBRREE #®
3.1 MBRBEZR @

(d)

(e)

SRR (2)

) HEESYT (B
BRE 2T R
WERNBREHRD
REFMAAEEMA
BRE (CHRME) R
RTAEMEE -

FratEshis T BB R
T—EFEERSHIEH
RO NS E R S ]
BEEBNEL 25T e £
KEF2H DRI
HEAEEBUZSNES
A2 Z2RREEBER
SLEMRTE IR IR
SHRBTEXRKRE
ABT LU ET] &
DR _ZT _INER
—HAEE T

B E R
FEREBEFFEERE
B £ Th IR AN 58 55 1 [ ¥ 58 55
EBRER - BEE L HRAE
FRREDSREESHEREE
RS RIRERRRE
B R EMITEISRILBREF
Yo

HREDHT

LTS E D ERER
R AR AY IR A E AL BB 5
BoHEZEENRATAENE
BELEFHTEI0% (CTF
Z V94 D 10%) 0 BAREREP
BE_E_RF=B=+—
AIEFEENBRAIGER”RS
RAEFEEREN AN EE
oL, h02,298,000%8
7T (BN BRRATEE
L1 101,296,0005 7T) ©



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 March
by level of the inputs to valuation technique
used to measure fair value. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Group engages independent valuers to
perform valuations of financial instruments
which are categorised into level 3. Valuation
reports with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement are prepared by the independent
valuer at the end of each reporting period, and
are reviewed and approved by the management
of the Group. Discussion of the valuation
process and results with the management of
the Group is held once a year to coincide with
the end of each reporting period.

3
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEEAREEEERBE @&
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq) 3.1 HBRAREZE @
() Fair value estimation (Continued) f) LnEHE
The following table presents the Group's assets TREINR_E_HFEKR_
that are also measured at their fair values at 31 E_ME=BA=+—HB7
March 2025 and 2024. NAEFEZRERBEE-
2025 2024
ZECRE —ECME
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4k B B =t 1 ) =R A3
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS(000  HK$'000
TER TEr TER TEn TER Thr TER ThEr
Investment property & &% - - 71,820 71,820 - - 37,004 37,044
Held-fortrading ~ #HEEEM
investments; =
- Listed equity —-EmkE
securities E5 22,979 - - 22,979 12957 - - 12,957
Total e 22,979 - 71820 94799 12,957 37,044 50,001

There were no transfers between any levels
during the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise equity securities
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange classified as
held-for-trading investments.

RAEFER Bz EILE
=B

F—RABIETHILA
RERTSEENEMIA
R ET RN RS R
THREFE - HARMBRE
ZIRKREIERBERZZ P
I R TTEER VB
BIRGHAEERE BZF
HRERREBERKRERIZAF
RAVETHTIBR S &H
BRIRAR R AR - FEEF
BENERMEEPMERNTS
BEABITEAB-LLEFT
BIIAE—#R-FIAE—R
WTAOERERFFELE
RENEBMMRAT LHRA
ey



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation technigues. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

The valuation technigues and key inputs used
for investment property of level 3 fair value
measurement is disclosed in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHERANEEREREEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BMEBERBREZR #@
(f)  Fair value estimation (Continued) ) A[AnEG @)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) FoRZZHBT A (B
The following table presents the changes in ‘F%E@JTESZ%E TTHER
level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 March “EINFE=RA=+—H1E
2025 and 2024. FEEZHEZHIT AEHo
Investment
property
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2023 R_E_=FMB—H 39,900
Fair values changes recognised in profit or loss  PRBmERINA R EEE) (763)
Currency translation difference BRI (2,093)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZBEZNFE=A=+—Hxk
“ZMFEME—H 37,044
Transferred from owner-occupied property HET (LB EER 29,030
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied property ¥ T1ERYELEEBEEHEMEN
upon transfer to investment property Bhlm 5,746

At 31 March 2025 RIZZHFE=B=+—H 71,820




3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
and borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders or sell assets to
reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the
basis of gearing ratio. The total debt to equity ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including lease
liabilities and amount due to a Director) less cash and
bank balances. The total debt to equity ratio at 31
March 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

3
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MEREEEERRER @

3.2

BAXEBRERE
FEBEEEAZBRERES
EREFBEEZRE KMmAk
LGP NEIEE

AEBZEXARBOEED MG
B-REFUABELRNE £ &
EREgREZNTRRZKREE
BRALEEELURVEE AEE
NEEERERER B [RERY
o b R &R RAFRAE R m 5t
B-aEFHEARMEE (BEEE
BEREN—RESFHR BRE
RIFTHEFEAE - R T AFRK
_T_NE=RB=+—Hz&afE
RN LR

2025 2024

_ERE TR N4E

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Lease liabilities HEEsE 1,726 10,705
Amount due to a Director B —2%EEHE 306 70
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIRITEE (59,845) (129,045)
Net cash b e et (57,813) (118,270)
Total equity A 639,641 723,785
Net debt to equity ratio BEFENERILE N/A RE B N/A 38 B
TE_REFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

4

EEGSHAERAIE

i & R I B & A B 5145 > M0 DUB T ACER
REMARBER SEKREBERAR
REMHEEEERGE RS-

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning AEBCDHRKIEFHHERBRSR -E
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by ARz ERME  BREBER BLE

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Useful lives and impairment assessments

of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determine the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
and amortisation charges for property, plant and
equipment by reference to the estimated periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets. Management
will revise the depreciation and amortisation charges
where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives and actual residual values
may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic
reviews could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in the future periods.

The Group reviews tangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be
recovered. Assessing the impairment loss requires a
determination of fair value which is based on the best
estimates and information available.

196  Annval Rer
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Useful lives and impairment assessment
of intangible assets

The intangible assets comprises of trading right and
licences.

Trading right is the right allows the Group to trade
securities in the Stock Exchanges.

Licences comprise the licences of Type 1, 2, 4 and
9 regulated activities licences under Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

The Group's trading rights and licences are classified
as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance
with HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. This conclusion
is supported by the fact that there were no specific
terms for the rights and the Directors of the Company
expected that the business underlying the rights can
be operated perpetually.

Under HKAS 38, the Group re-evaluates the useful
lives of the trading right and licences at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support the view of
indefinite useful life for the assets. As at 31 March
2025, the carrying amount of the trading right of
the Group is approximately HK$500,000 (2024:
HK$500,000). Licences are fully impaired as at 31
March 2025 (2024 carrying amount of HK$ 5,025,000).

4
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)
(c)

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of the financial assets (including
trade and account receivables, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables, net
investment in sublease) based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The
Group used judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past collection
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of these financial assets and impairment
charge in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. The details of the key assumptions
and inputs used in the impairment assessment are
set out in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

4 EEGHEHEERAE @
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)
(d) Fair value of financial instruments

(e)

()

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation
technigues including the discounted cash flow model.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values. The judgements include considerations of
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill and intangible assets are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Further details
of impairment testing of goodwill and intangible
assets are given in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair value of investment property

The fair value of investment property is determined
by using valuation technique. Details of the judgement
and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 FBEGHEHEERFE @
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)

(8) Income taxes and deferred taxation (8) FRFMBRIERERIA

200 Annual Re

Significant judgments and estimates are required
in determining the provision for income tax. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Deferred taxation on investment property
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets arising from investment
property that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property and concluded that
the Group's investment property in the PRC is not
held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group's deferred taxation on investment property
in the PRC, the Directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment property measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale
is not rebutted and deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE 5 W=
Revenue represents () net invoiced value of goods sold, W BN() s R il B 2209 8B (JFRR S
after allowances for returns and trade discount; (i) interest B s(MfEE-RE-RMEHER
income from money lending, factoring, finance leasing ReEEMBENBWA (B EFFLL
and margin financing; (i) brokerage commission income HAEWAKRMVMEHEKREEREWA

from securities dealing and (iv) underwriting and placing
commission income.

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as KEERNFERZZ NN :
follows:
2025 2024
—_E_RE —ZEmg
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Sales of goods 5 Rl & 53,674 113,181
Interest income from money lending, EE-RE -REHEER
factoring, finance leasing and margin -~ {RsE &R E ) B WA
financing 18,957 28,946
Brokerage commission income SR ON 474 1,068
Underwriting and placing commission S84 RECE RS I A
income 601 1,755
73,706 144,950
Revenue from contracts with EBUBHREEUNFEISRIET
customers within HKFRS 15: BEREHKE :
Recognised at a point of time R —BF B ERR
Sales of goods 7 G iH 53,674 113,181
Brokerage commission income KSR ON 474 1,068
Underwriting and placing commission S84 &EE B A
income 601 1,755
7777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 54,749 116,004
Revenue from other sources: HthRIFEWA -
Interest income from money lending, IRERFIEEAEZEE
factoring, finance leasing and margin -~ {R12 Bt BT S & 1R:5
financing calculated using effective FREMEUWA
interest method 18,957 28,946
73,706 144,950
—E_AFFR
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Board. The Board reviews the Group's internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments
based on these reports.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations. Each of the Group’s reportable segments
represents a strategic business unit that is subject to
risks and returns that are different from other reportable
operating segment.

The Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

o Trading segment engages in trading of goods in the
PRC and Hong Kong;

. Money lending and factoring segment engages in
provision of loan financing in Hong Kong, and loan and
factoring financing in the PRC,

o Finance leasing segment engages in provision of
finance leasing and sale-leaseback in the PRC; and

o Financial services segment engages in provision of
securities dealing and broking, placing, underwriting,
margin financing and asset management services in
Hong Kong.

EXSFRATEEERRAN BHEE
Bz mEikE Mt ERBERDEE
R-BEBEENRIEEREINEED
e

FEBNEEEZ D BIURBRIGES
MEFHBIEE AEENSEAZR
MEDBARDRBUEEBEMN BH
REMBZHEE D EFIAZ B AR K
[E]¥R -

FERZERKREEDEIMT -

s HBENERTEAREBENEER
N

LI

s BERFRENENEBLFRMH
EMmEE Uk PEREER K
RIEME ;

s RMEBEESHENPENEMEME
BEREREMEE ; &
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REEMERBEEERT



SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit/loss represents the profit/loss earned by each
segment without allocation of incomes or expenses which
are not recurring in nature and unrelated to the Group's
operating performance, including central administration
costs, Directors’ emoluments, changes in fair value of
investment property, changes in fair value of held-for-
trading investments, gain/loss on disposal of held-for-
trading investments, gain/loss on disposal of interest in
an associate, gain/loss on de-registration and disposal of
subsidiaries, share of results of an associate, finance costs,
impairment loss on deposits and other receivables (non-
trading nature), exchange gain/loss, dividend income, rental
income, sublease interest income and interest income from
cash and bank balances.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments, all assets are
allocated to operating segments other than investment
property, held-for-trading investments, net investment in
sublease, cash and bank balances, tax recoverable, deferred
tax assets and other corporate assets. All liabilities are
allocated to operating segments other than amount due
to a Director, tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other
corporate liabilities.
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 NEEN®
The Board assesses the performance of the operating EEERBEES B EBLEEET
segments based on their underlying operating results, HERID HIEMURRBI 2 EE5T=-

which is measured by results before taxation.

(@) Segment revenue and results (@) DEREKRFES

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-RE-R=1—HILEE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading  factoring leasing services Total
B5 fRERRE MERE SRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue and results BN ERES TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
Segment revenue bar it 53,674 12,915 3,717 3,400 73,706
Segment results NEEE (28,040) (11,217) (2,893) (25,215) (67,365)
Impairment loss on BREERESE
intangible assets - - - (5,025) (5,025)
(28,040) (11,217) (2,893) (30,240) (72,390)
Corporate expenses ERY (26,528)
Operating loss &g (98,918)
Corporate income TERA 3,225
Gainon changes in fair valug of ~ FHEEBEREARE
held-for-trading investments b=l 12,653
Loss on disposal of held-fortrading HERFEEEREEA
investments (637)
Finance costs =% (140)
Loss hefore taxation PRiRAIEE (83,817)
Taxation "E (5,146)

Loss for the year FEEHE (88,963)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 DEEMN®
(@) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (@) DEWRERES @

Year ended 31 March 2024
BEZ-_ME-A=+—HIFE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing Services Total
85 GBERRE MERE SRR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue and results DERERESE TERT TET TET TET TET
Segment revenue NG 113,181 16,831 8,940 5,998 144,950
Segment results DEEE (29,802) (7,865) 9,185 (20,266) (48,748)
Impairment loss on BYEERERR
intangible assets - - - (11,275) (11,275)
(29,802) (7,865) 9,185 (31,541) (60,023)
Corporate expenses EREY (23,424)
Operating loss = {p (83,447)
Corporate income ERA 5291
Loss on changes in fair valug of R EVEANELEGE
investment property (763)
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ FEEEREAAE
held-for-trading investments SR (3,474)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading  HEFEE ERE e
investments 10,815
Loss on disposal of interestinan &M AT EHEE
associate (5,868)
Loss on de-registration of a HENEARER
subsidiary (10,579)
Finance costs MEMAE (356)
Share of results of an associate  DMhEEE AR EE (3,386)
Loss before taxation PR RIS 1R (91,767)
Taxation HIE 4,204
Loss for the year AEEBE (87,563)
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

SEEN @
(b) DEBEERER

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

As at 31 March 2025
RZE-ZRE=R=+—H
Money

lending and Finance Financial
Trading  factoring leasing services Total
B5 fRERRE MERE SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment assets NEEE FTERT FERT FTERT TR TR
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W SEREM 129 68 3,058 9 3,264
Intangible assets EBVEE - - - 500 500
Goodwill GRS = = 1,000 = 1,000
Other non-current assets HtEReEE - - - 205 205
129 68 4,058 714 4,969
Current assets REEE 231,108 178,547 20,121 38,104 467,880
231,237 178,615 24,179 38,818 472,849
Unallocated: KA
Cash and bank balances RERRTESE 59,845
Others Hith 14472
Total assets per statement of FBRRREERE
financial position 677,406
Segment liabilities NEaf 769 897 1,652 17,494 20,812
Unallocated: KA
Amount due to a Director e —REEHIE 306
Others Hith 16,647
Total liabilities per statementof ~ BIEH KRG EAE
financial position 37,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR
6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 NEEN®

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) PEBEEREERE @)

As at 31 March 2024
RIZZMFE=B=1+—H

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing Services Total
B85 GBERRE MEHE ERRE Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment assets DEEE TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEREREM 516 470 29,339 131 30,456
Right-of-use assets FRESE - - - 5,663 5,663
Intangible assets B EE - - - 5,525 5,525
Goodwill S - - 1,000 - 1,000
Other non-current assets HtEREEE - - - 230 230
Loan and interest receivables FEWERF 2 - 98,851 - - 98,851
516 99,321 30,339 11,549 141,725
Current assets TEEE 217,376 84,550 25,624 41,789 369,339
217,892 183,871 55,963 53,338 511,064
Unallocated: RAE:
Net investment in sublease DEREFHE 1,902
Cash and bank balances BERIBTER 129,045
Others Hitt 125552
Total assets per statement of IBERRREERE
financial position 767,563
Segment liabilities NEaER 900 905 1,391 21,196 24,392
Unallocated: RRE
Amount due to a Director B —RESME 70
Others Hith 19,316
Total liabilities per statement of B MAREELE
financial position 43,778
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 SHEEN @
(c) Other segment information (c) HihpiasEk

Year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-IF-A=-1+-HLEE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services  Unallocated Total
8% fEERRFE MEHE SRR RAE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Other segment information HthHEER TER THER THER TER TER TER
Depreciation of property, plantand %1% REREVNE
equipment (137) (349) (312) (120) (978) (1,896)
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets ~ FREZENE - = = (5,664) (2,794) (8,458)
Capital expenditure BARY = = (1,120) - (4,393) (5,513)
Impairment loss on finance EWHERETEAE
lease receivables - - (4,153) - - (4,153)
Impairment oss on trade and TEWERTRERS B
account receivables (22,365) - - (3,022) - (25,387)
Impairment oss on factoring PN RIEIB R E
receivables - (607) = = - (607)
Impairment loss on loan and RN ER KA SHE
interest receivables B8 - (15,759) - - - (15,759)
Impairment oss on deposits and BEREMEYTE
other receivables REBE - - = = (6,941) (6,941)
Impairment loss on intangible assets &R/ B ERERE - - = (5,025) = (5,025)
Gain on changes in fair value of RIEBERELNE
held-for-trading investments =56 - - - - 12,653 12,653
Loss on disposal of held-for-trading ~ HEREEERERE
investments - - - - (637) (637)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENBARKE - - - - 352 352
Dividend income BREBA - - - - 302 302
Bank interest income BTFEIRA - - - - 848 848
Finance costs MEME - - - (141) (140) (281)

Taxation it - - - - (5,146) (5,146)
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 SDEEN@#
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) Ha@mEN @
Year ended 31 March 2024
BEZS_NE=B=+—HUIEE
Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services  Unallocated Total
2% fRERFE MEHE SRR ok st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Other segment information HithHEEH TER TER FTERT TER TER TER
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% RERBVINE
equipment (264) (442) (958) (2,806) (269) (4.739)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ EREEERE - - - (5,664) (2,700) (8,364)
Capital expenditure BAEY 71 - - (16) (1,009) (1,09)
Reversal of impairment loss on ENRmERENE
finance lease receivables AR - - 3376 - - 3376
Impairment oss on trade and MRS ER R
account receivables (27,393) - - (69) - (27,462)
Reversal of impairment loss on e RIERIE A E
factoring receivables - 43 - - - 43
Impairment loss on loan and EREF KA ERHE
interest receivables B8 - (14,159) - - - (14,159)
Impairment loss on deposits and e RAMENRTE
other receivables AEBR - - (910 - (5,936) (6,846)
Loans and interest receivables M ERRA MY
written off - (4,407) - - - (4,407)
Loss on changes in fair value of BREMELNEET
investment property B8 - - - - (763) (763)
Impairment loss on intangible assets &R EEHERHE - - - (11,275) - (11,275)
Loss on changes in fair value of REEEREARE
held-for-trading investments SEEHE - - - - (3474) (3474)
Gain on disposal of held-fortrading ~ HEREEERE W E
investments - - - - 10,815 10,815
Loss on disposal of interest in HEHEADRRER
an associate - - - - (5,868) (5,868)
Loss on de-registration of a subsidiary s BAEAE - - - - (10,579) (10,579)
Share of results of an associate AMEBENEES - - - - (3,386) (3,386)
Bank interest income RITRIEMA - - - - 751 751
Finance costs REMA - - - (437) (356) (793
Taxation wE N - - - 4,204 4,204




MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 SDEEN®#E
(d) Geographical information (d) thEHEX
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and HEZZEAFERZZIMN fE =
the PRC for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. B=+—HLFE  AERZEE
IR EERFE -
Information about the Group’s revenue and external BRAERKREHIEL ZWm
customers is presented based on the location at ThiERMENIEME IR 2
which the goods or services are delivered or provided. EE=R I
The Group’s total revenue from sales of goods and REFZMES D2 ERKERFE
services by geographical location is detailed below: HELWERFFIRUT -
2025 2024
ZEZREF “Z2TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
PRC FE 66,257 132,755
Hong Kong EE 7,449 12,195
73,706 144,950
The Group’s non-current assets excluding goodwill AEBZEEMMTMEI D 2 IER
and deferred tax assets by geographical location of FEE (FEERERELEREER
the assets are detailed below: BE) ST
2025 2024
—ETHE == r1: = 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
PRC FE 73,923 166,161
Hong Kong EE 4,194 15,334

78,117 181,495
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(e) Revenue are derived from the following

major customers:

The following customers attributed to 10% or more of
the Group's total revenue during either or both years.

MEHFHRBRAE]

(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEEN @

(e) WmBKRETIHEERR:

UTFERPREBUAMEFERNS
MAEREBYmBIB10%-

2025 2024
—_ERHE —E O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer A EEH 42,964 27,417
Customer B Z2RZ 10,710 54,799

All the major customers are customers of trading FMEXERRTVER2ERER

business.
7 OTHER INCOME Hthg A

2025 2024
—EHE —ETE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income IRITR B WA 848 751
Sublease interest income DHEBEF EWA 48 135
Rental income HEWA 994 900
Dividend income & E WA 302 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB A B WE 352 -
Others Hith 1,386 4,055
3,930 5,841
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8 [PRMAIEIE
The Group's loss before taxation has been arrived at after NEMBRBTBEDENR, GIA) T
charging/(crediting): FEIE®E .
2025 2024
—ECEHE “ETmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of inventories sold GFEHEMA 53,157 112,091
Salaries and wages included in HekIE (BENTHERRA) :
administrative expenses:
Directors’ emoluments (including EEE (BERTHEURKET
contribution to defined TR 2R
contribution plans) 6,639 5,163
Salaries, wages and other benefits ~ #7&~ TE REMER]
(excluding Directors’ FEEESHS)
emoluments) 18,411 18,022
Contribution to defined contribution  F & #FER KEF 58] 2 HER
plans (excluding Directors) T EEES) 993 950
26,043 24,135
Auditor's remuneration ZEEB &
- Audit services —E LIRS 903 964
Depreciation of property, plantand  #)% R E RIS ITE
equipment 1,896 4,739
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ ERELENE 8,458 8,364
Rental expenses in respect of WRHfER Y
short-term lease 327 298
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, — HEYE 5 1%&%%@‘
plant and equipment 18 (R 271 ¥
Impairment loss/(Reversal of %H&%@é%ﬂ%%’xlﬁiﬁﬂé
impairment loss) on finance lease 518,/ ([B]#)
receivables 4,153 (3,376)
Impairment loss on trade and FEWCERTUR BRI
account receivables 25,387 27,462
Impairment loss/(Reversal of W RIERIBER(E
impairment loss) on factoring g8,/ (E#)
receivables 607 (43)
Impairment loss on loan and interest  FERE R K& BRERE
receivables 15,759 14,159
Impairment loss on deposits and & M EMERREURERE
other receivables 6,941 6,846
Loan and interest receivables e E TR F E i35
written off - 4,407
Loss on changes in fair value of REMEANEEFEIE
investment property - 763
Impairment loss on intangible assets EF & ER{ERE 5,025 11,275
(Gain)/Loss on changes in fair value  FEBBREA A EES)
of held-for-trading investments (s) /B518 (12,653) 3,474
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of HEFEEEKRE
held-for-trading investments E51E/ m) 637 (10,815)
Loss on disposal of interest in an HEBE B ERESE
associate - 5,868
Loss on de-registration of a subsidiary =t #5518 A 558 - 10,579
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AT DR (352) =
Share of results of an associate DIEBE N B EE = 3,386
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SR e A AR B

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continuead) 8 [PRIRAIESIE (&

Note: There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of PEE *EEmE%ﬁfolﬂZEﬂﬁ (HEFAZETH
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such MEBHEBRIRHFEZEEEL) LUK
contributions) to offset existing contributions under the defined fﬁ%,ﬂt MELBITHIRBHR
contribution schemes.

FINANCE COSTS 9 MEBE/RE

2025 2024
“EhREF =T OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HEaEd s 281 793

TAXATION 10 M1\

2025 2024
“ERE “ET O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Current income tax BEAPRISIR
- Hong Kong profits tax —&BFE (3,277) -
- PRC corporate income tax —HREBEMER (504) 2,640
(3,781) 2,640

Deferred tax IRERR I 8,927 (6,844)

Taxation expense/(credit) MIBER, (K%) 5,146 (4,204)

Hong Kong profits tax BEBAER

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25% on the
first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated assessable profits of the
qualifying entity of the Group and 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2,000,000. The assessable
profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime are continued to

be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

RIBFERMAT > BEEFERTLIRE
NEESEREEEE?2,000,0008 T2 (f
FHEEMRERIUS.25% 2 K E M
i8482,000,0007 7T 2 1t 5 & 3R 12 i A1) LL
16.5% 2 MEHE - LRI G TSR MRS
ZHhWEBEEER Y ERREAN
SEIR AR — TR F16.5%E 5 ©
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

10 TAXATION (continuea) 10
PRC corporate income tax
The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations
in the PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the
estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The amount of taxation expense/(credit) for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

MIA (4=

PEEEFREH

ERTREEB 2 PEEEMERERE
RBITEP - 2RREREMSAFEM
SHERIR A RBERARKEH -

FEEREER, (B%) BRIRATER
ZHIRWT

2025 2024
—E"RE —EmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET
Loss before taxation GG oF = (83,817) (91,767)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BERRESEZRE (17,766) (17,791)
Tax effect of: RIERE
Income not subject to tax B ZIMA (2,198) (3,687)
Expenses not deductible el Zz &R
for tax purposes 966 11,944
Overprovision in prior years BEFEEBEEE (3,953) (4,209)
Share of results of an associate PMEBE AR EE = 559
Temporary difference not recognised — SRFERRIE BFIE =& 6,477 1,752
De-recognition of previously RIEERUFEEERZ
recognized temporary differences BRI ER 9,756 -
Tax losses for which no deferred SRR IEFT 1SR 2
tax asset was recognised M EE 11,962 7,387
Tax concession MEER = (159)
Utilisation of tax losses EIHMIEEGE (98) -
Taxation expense/(credit) MIBER, (%) 5,146 (4,204)
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11 DIVIDEND 11 RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any EETEZNMBE_ZT 15 =A°
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil). —t—HLEFERTEAERE (ZF
ZHsE )
12 LOSS PER SHARE 12 EkEGiE
2025 2024
ZEZRHE —E s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Loss attributable to shareholders B R FE{L A58 (88,963) (87,432)
Weighted average number of HEESREABE
ordinary shares, for the purposes LRI E (FR)
of calculating basic loss per share
(shares in thousands) 4,120,600 4,120,600
Basic and diluted loss per share BRERNREEEE HK(2.16) cents &fll  HK(2.12) cents #fll
As there is no dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding RIEZAFERZEINF=A=1+—
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the diluted loss per share is B #iEESBEAEErE  ZER
equal to the basic loss per share. WERE S EERESREREIEER -
¢
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 EFRRSHFALTME
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(@) Directors’ and senior management’s (@) EFREHREEABSHMN
emoluments
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-FT-_RaF=A=+—HL
FE
Employer's
contribution
Salaries and  Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees other benefits bonus scheme Total
S | BHRR BiktEZ
ik Htnigs 128 BE MR ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT TET FTERT FTET
Non-executive Director EHTES
Mr. Ma Weihua (Note () BRERE (HI5H0) 613 - - - 613
Executive Directors HiTES
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHELL - 2,321 - 18 2,339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Note (ii)) BERiE (M) = 1,431 - 17 1,448
Mr. Gong Huanghui (Note (i)~ BRJ@¥EZE4E (i 3kii) - 1,295 - - 1,295
Ms. Cao Li (Note (i) BB T () - 184 - 184
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit (Note (v)) ZEAESE (H3EV) - 153 - 162
Independent non- BIUFQTES
executive Directors
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Note (vi) BIEREE (FVI) 184 - - - 184
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Note (vil) SB1Z 24 (i) 83 - - - 83
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEELE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen BEREE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chen Chao (Note (viil) BRiBSAE (PR aE(vil) 107 - - - 107
1,287 5,384 - 44 6,715
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_TZ-_mE=RA=+—HL
FE
Employer's
contribution
Salariesand  Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees  other benefits bonus scheme Total
S e BURS BIKEEZ
FoEa HiigF 128 BEHR 43t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FET FET
Executive Directors HiTES
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHELT - 2321 - 18 2339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEREE - 2,341 - 18 2,359
Independent non- BIFQTES
executive Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung (Note (X)) BT SR 4 (HizE(X) 88 - - - 88
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter KACKE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEELE 150 - - - 150
Ms. Wong Chi Yan (Note (X)) BsEt (fizK) 35 - - - 35
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Note (xi)  ##B R4 (fi5) 42 - - - 1Y)
465 4,662 - 36 5,163
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
Directors’ and senior management's (a)

(a)

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Appointed on 21 August 2024.

(i) Resigned on 10 February 2025.

(i) Appointed on 26 August 2024.

(iv)  Appointed on 11 December 2024.

V) Appointed on 10 February 2025.

(viy  Appointed on 11 December 2024.

(vil)  Resigned on 21 October 2024.

(viii)  Appointed on 21 October 2024.

(iX)  Resigned on 2 November 2023.

(X) Appointed on 28 September 2023 and resigned on 22

December 2023.

(xi)  Appointed on 22 December 2023.

No Director waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year (2024: Nil). Fees paid to
independent non-executive Directors during the year
amounted to HK$674,000 (2024: HK$465,000).

No emolument has been paid to the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year ended

31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Emolument bands

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

13 EERREFALIME @

EEREREEAEHMN @)

PysE

(i) RZZEZMNENBZ+—BEZ
fFo

(ii) ERZE_RAE"F+HEHEe

@iy MIZZMFENBZ+AHEZE
fFo

vy WMIZZNF+ZA+—HBEZ
fFo

V) WRIEZREF-_B+HEZRFT-

vy RIZZNE+ZB+—HEZ
fFo

i)y BRZZ_WNE+B-+—H&
fFo

iy RWZZ2EZMNFE+AZ+—HBHEZE
fFo

ixy MIZE_=F+—B_H#HT-

X RIZE_=FAB-+N\HEZ
FERR_E-_=ZF+-RA=+=
HEHE-

)y MRIZE_=F+"B-+_-H%E
FEe

rEER EZMEREARE
WEEAMNS (C2NE &) o
FEERNINBIENTESZ
W 5674,000588 7T (ZF ZPU4F !
465,0005 7T) ©

RBE_Z_HAF=B=+—H
LTEER TERERESM
ERIE = > (E R 1RSI0 32 S RIR D
BAEFRZ RSB HE CS
DU ) o

Number of individuals

& F A
2025 2024
—E_RE —_E e
Nil = HK$1,000,000 = #7552 1,000,0007 7T 8 5
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 75 Z2,000,0007 75 2 =
HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,00178 75 2 3,000,0007 75 1 2
11 7
TERFER
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 EFEREEHALTHME @

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)
The Directors’ emoluments presented above include
the emoluments of three (2024: two) highest paid
individuals in the Group. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2024. three) highest paid individual
during the year ended 31 March 2025 were:

TagE#HAL
EXFREFEEFHFMEE=52 (=
TNF ) AEBRSHA
TZME-RNBE_ZE_AF=A
=t+—HLEFERGETMmR (CF
_EE =%) B ALZiE

2025 2024
—E"RE —EmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, bonus, other allowances ¥~ {641~ ELMt2 A&
and benefits in kind EYH @ 2,250 2,997

Employer’s contributions to BIREEI 2 BEMR

retirement scheme 36 51
2,286 3,048

Emolument bands

Number of individuals

MEn T A¥
2025 2024
—ECREE CEONE
Nil — HK$1,000,000 =TT E 1,000,000 7T = 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 75 22,000,00078 75 2 1
2 3
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

(a)

14 ME -RERBIVMREREEE
(@ ME- -RERSIHM

Furniture
Leasehold and Motor
Property improvement fixtures vehicles Total
mE HERE HARRE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TER TER FET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=£NE—AH
Cost B 37,427 14,446 10,826 10,104 72,803
Accumulated depreciation REtifE (5,732) (12,514) (8,858) (8,795) (35,899)
Net book amount IREFE 31,695 1,932 1,968 1,309 36,904
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-T-NE
ZA=+—-HALEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 31,695 1932 1,968 1,309 36,904
Currency translation differences ERREE (1,662) - 47 (43) (1,752)
Additions HE - - 16 1,080 1,096
Disposal HE - - - 27 27
Depreciation (Note 8) i (HizE8) (755) (1,902) (1,260) (822) (4,739)
Closing net book amount FREEZE 29,278 30 677 1497 31,482
At 31 March 2024 RIZE-ZME=B=1+—H
Cost A 35,458 14,227 10,729 10976 71,390
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (6,180) (14,197) (10,052) (9,479) (39,908)
Net book amount REFE 29,278 30 677 1,497 31,482
Year ended 31 March 2025 HEZTCEHE
=A=+—-ALEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 29,278 30 677 1,497 31,482
Additions HE - 2,639 43 1,120 3,802
Disposal HE - - (300) (82) (382)
Depreciation (Note 8) E (F528) (248) (671) (272) (705) (1,896)
Transfer to investment property (Note 15) BB EHREWE (H:£15) (29,030) - - - (29,030)
Closing net book amount FREEFE - 1,998 148 1,830 3976
At 31 March 2025 RZB2ZRFE=A=+—H
Cost B - 16,866 10,472 12,014 39,352
Accumulated depreciation REtifE - (14,868) (10,324) (10,184) (35,376)
Net book amount REFE - 1,998 148 1,830 3976
f' —z=—aeexr 219




MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YME-RERBMRERAEEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) (&
(b) Leases (b)y HE
This note provides information for lease where the Ay FiRH B AEREA KA
Group is a lessee or lessor. AFHEBAZHREER -
The Group leases office premises for its operations AEBHREERERNFAEMR
with lease terms between 36 months to 40 months EHA36E R E40@ A InE D HE
and subleases certain of the office premises area to B A= IR T AR B 2 BB
the Company’s then associate. =N
(i) Right-of-use assets () EHREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of- AEBFRNEREEENRE
use assets and the movements during the year BRBREmEW T -

are as follows:

Office

premises

MAZE

HK$'000

FET

As at 1 April 2023 R_E_=FMF—H 16,727

Depreciation (Note 8) e (BIEE8) (8,364)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE_WNE=ZB=+—HK&

“ENEW™A—H 8,363

Addition 1N 1,711

Depreciation (Note 8) ITEE (f15E8) (8,458)

As at 31 March 2025 ACE_RHFE=ZA=1+—H 1,616

(i) Net investment in sublease (i) SWREFE

2025 2024

—E_RE S 1) e 2

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Net investment REFEE - 1,902

Less: Allowance for ECL B TR E SRR = =

- 1,902

=




14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)
(b) Leases (Continueqd)

(i)

Net investment in sublease (Continued)

The Group entered into a sublease arrangement
with the Company’s then associate as the
intermediate lessor for office premises, which
has an initial non-cancellable lease term of 40
months. This lease does not include purchase or
termination options.

Information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risks and loss allowance for net
investment in sublease is included in Note 3.1(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Below is a maturity analysis of lease
payments receivable and the reconciliation
of undiscounted lease payments to the net
investment.

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

14 ME - -RERBMREREEE

(b) #HE

(i)

()

DERERE B
AEBERTEHBEATM
ANE (EAFAPIENTSE
4018 BFEHA) A RE Z Al
BEQRRT —MOEW
FoBEEARWEI P LE
e

ERxEREARARIKO
URDEREFEBERER
NERER A GRS M BRER
FF5E3.1(0)

TR EWEEREE D
U RRFTEEERRAKRSE
PR HR o

2025 2024

B —E_O4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Past due [ st = -

Year 1 £—1F - 1,950

Year 2 B _F - _

Undiscounted lease RITEEWHEER

payments to be received - 1,950

Less: Unearned finance income 78 : REIRERIUA - (48)
Net investment (net of ECL) 2 %%E (NiRTEEAEE

518 1) = 1,902

Less: Current portion AL ) = (1,902)

Non-current portion JERENZR1A

The interest income on net investment
recognised during the year amounting to
approximately HK$48,000 (2024: HK$135,000)
(Note 7).

RERKREFEEREDFE
g A #948,000 75 (ZZ M
£ 1 135,000%70) (MiEE7) ©

"ERFFER
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)
(b) Leases (Continued)

(b) HE @

14 ME-RERBMREBEEE

&

(iii) Leases liabilities (i) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNEEEEZRABRE
movements during the year are as follows: BT
2025 2024
“EZRE e
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
MIEE FHET FHET
Balance at the beginning  E 45 8%
of the year 10,705 20,882
Addition i)l 1,711 -
Accretion of interest FRN D
recognised during PSSPl
the year 9 281 793
Payments (NEN (10,971) (10,970)
Balance at the end of FRAEH
the year 1,726 10,705
Analysed into: ST
Current portion TRENEL 505 10,705
Non-current portion JERENE 1,221 -
1,726 10,705

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 3.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HEBBENIBEIHNES
BT RRMIEE3. ()RR EE
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Leases (Continued)
(iv) The amounts recognised in profit or loss

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 ME - -RERBMREREEE
&)
(b) HE @
(iv) HEZPEDSHNEEEERR

in relation to leases are as follows: BIEEEWT ¢
2025 2024
“EZREF B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FHET FET
Sublease interest income DI EF] BULA 7 (48) (135)
Interest on lease liabilities HE&EF B 9 281 793
Depreciation for right-of- {FREEEFE
use assets 8 8,458 8,364
Expense relating to BIGHAEE
short-term leases BRENEX 8 327 298
Total amount recognised 8% PRSI FUE
in profit or loss 4ERE 9,018 9,320

(v) The total cash outflow for lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 31(b) to the consolidated
financial statements. The lease payments not
included in measurement of lease liabilities was
approximately HK$327,000 (2024: HK$298,000).

vy HEBBRRSAHEER
FEMBEIRKRMEE31(b)F iR
BE ol kmATRESRT=2
IR & {F 34 A327,0007%8
7T (T Y4 © 298,0008
JT) °©
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15 REYE
2025 2024
—EZHE =Sl ) ¢f= 3
HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Balance at the beginning of the year ~ F #4586+ 37,044 39,900
Change in fair value REEE = (763)
Currency translation differences b 25 EE - (2,093)
Transfer from property, plant and B REKREMER
equipment 29,030 -
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied ZEF(ERYEEEERESYEN
property upon transfer to investment  EfhURE
property 5,746 -
Balance at the end of the year FRERR 71,820 37,044
Particulars of the investment property KREMEEN
Location Use Tenure
buf R& FHHA
17th Floor, Block B, Commercial building Medium-term leases
Xintian Century Business Center, for rental

Shixia North Street,

Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong, PRC

FEERE R mEREAEILE HHEEEXE
Rt 42 P9 75 R0 BRR 1748

(a) Valuation processes of the Group
The Group measures its investment property at
fair value. The fair value of the Group’s investment
property has been determined on the basis of
valuation carried out by an independent and
professionally qualified valuer.

The management of the Group has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at annual
reporting date.

FRERTEAY

(@ #TEBEZGHERR

FEBBRANEFEHKRENZE-
FEBKENENAAREHRE
BUEEGERGEMET ZMG

BMETE

REERSERETHER  £&
HEEECEREMmRmEER

R fEERER-



15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

(b)

Valuation techniques
The investment property was revalued on the
investment method.

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is
estimated on the basis of capitalisation of existing
rent receivable from the existing tenancies and the
potential reversionary market rent of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of
the investment property, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and
other factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated
rental value and reversionary yield, while it takes into
account the rental value generated from the existing
lease term to arrive at the term yield.

The key input was the estimated rental value, term
yield and reversionary vyield, which a significant
increase/decrease in these inputs would result in a
significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the
investment property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is their current use.

MEHFHRBRAE]
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15 BEYE ®)
(b) HERFZE

BREMEDRKRERETER.

R
BERE S ARETEEEYE
HRAMEZ MKRERSRE
HEBTBES T UE SR
HETif 3t o

ETHEREEREERENE
2R SENE -BR R R
B BE ERFENREMER
URtEstHEBERER RS
o ERERBHEEHERPEEZME
TEBE UBHEHRREK-

FTEBABBERMGAESEEF
AR mERERBE@E R FH
ABIBERIE LA TR 88
REMERRBARBLA T

TEEZMEZ A RER  ZE
ERZREARBRRERGK
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MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 15 BREYE ®
(c) Information about fair value (c) BRERAEARFTHRBAY
measurements using significant BZARENE (B=Hh) 2E
unobservable inputs (Level 3) il
Range of
Fair Value at Valuation  Unobservable unobservable
31 March 2025 techniques inputs inputs
R-B_EF
=B=+—H ARz Ik
ZARE fHEHE WA SR BARIEZEHE
Investment property
in the PRC
R ZREME
- Commercial office RMB66,500,000 Investment  Term yield; 4.00%
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4.00%
approximately Estimated net market RMB138
HK$71,820,000 unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—“BERAE A E 166,500,000 RE* FHR A E 4.00%
(FBERH ERWER 4.00%
71,820,00078 71) BENHERR AR1387T
Z{EE IR FHE
B ANRERT/SFAXK)
Range of
Fair Value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable
31 March 2024 techniques inputs inputs
RZZEZWE
=A=+—H Az IRk
ZRAnE  fHERE WARUE WMABEZEHE
Investment property
in the PRC
REZ I EME
- Commercial office RMB34,300,000 Investment  Term yield; N/A
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4.00%
approximately Estimated net market RMB140
HK$37,044,000 unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—BERAE A E 34,300,000 R&E* R NER
(HERHN EHW@E 4.00%
37,044,000% 7T) SBEAUNHERR AER#1407T
2t TigF M E

B \RBT/B8¥HXK)

BHE_T_AFKR_ZFT_OFE=
B=+—HIEEE - BEFE—E>
FIEAREZBHEHRENER-

There was no transfer among levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 15 BREWE ®
(d) The following amount has been recognised in the (d THEBEBERGEEZREMS
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other EU R PR
comprehensive income:
2025 2024
—T-RE == 111 =5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Rental income G N 994 900
Direct operating expenses from EXHEWBAZYEZ
property that generated rental EREEMAX
income (985) (401)
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no investment property was NI ZAFERZZEINF=A=+—
pledged as collateral. B R EEDIRR
16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 16 HE QTR
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group REE_Z_NHE=B=+—HIH
disposed of its 29.48% equity investment in Royal Century > REBERR™E ELL£915,528,000
Resources Holdings Limited (“Royal Century”) on-market BLTZERE HERCEERZERA
at an aggregate gross consideration of approximately RAB (MZEEIRY) 229.48% 140 #%
HK$15,528,000. Royal Century was accounted for as interest BofEERTHEEBRIRIN AR E
in an associate prior to the disposal. NE)Em AR
2 —=—gery 227
-




MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 16 BiERTHED @
2024
“ETF
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 April RIUA—H 14,146
Capital injection through rights issue BAHRIEE 10,631
Profit or loss for the year: FRBEE
- Share of post-acquisition results and other —DMEWEREER
comprehensive income Hith2mm (3,381)
Disposal HE (21,396)
As at 31 March R=B=+—H -
Details of the Group's associate immediately prior to the REBBE AT EEIEHENFEU
disposal are as follows: T
Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation issued share capital held
Name of associate and operation by the Group Principal activities
HE AT LB PR IL R A5t B FEERENERTRAEELLH FEEHE
Royal Century Hong Kong 29.48% (i) Provision of design, fitting out
CEER 5% and engineering and procurement
of furnishings and related products
services, (ii) Leasing of construction
equipment and provision of related
installation services, (iii) Sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines
and (iv) Provision of financial services.
(MR HaR5T R R TRUKRIRER
ERABRIE DR ((HERER
RiR BRI L EARES (=B H K
(ViRHERIARTS
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in FHERBENT IR AER Z 558
the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the FEIRFT AR LR ©
disposal.
£ S
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BEREEREE

2025 2024
—EZRE =Sl ) ¢= 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREE
Trading right R 1 500 500
Licences R HR - 5,025
500 5,525
Trading right represents the right that allows the Group to RAEARTAEENKHIMEESRES
trade securities on the Stock Exchange. ZHER] o
Licences comprise the licences for Type 1, 2, 4 and 9 MREENEZHESRAERARFEZ
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures 12 ARFEIEEN 2 R R -
Ordinance.
HK$'000
FAET

INTANGIBLE ASSET - LICENSES

COST

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025

BEREE—IRR
[
AR —FA—H> T2 T OF
=B=+—HKZZE_AHF

=B=+—H 21,000
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT R EE
At 1 April 2023 NZE_=FMA—H 4,700
Provided for the year (Note 8) FrE#H (H5E8) 11,275
At 31 March 2024 RIZE-OMFE=HA=+—H 15,975
Provided for the year (Note 8) FrRE#H (H5E8) 5,025
At 31 March 2025 RIE-HF=-A=1+—H 21,000
CARRYING AMOUNT ERmE%E
At 31 March 2024 NZ_EBZWE=/=+—H 5,025

At 31 March 2025

R-B_AF=H=+—~8” =

"ERFFER
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

17 BEREERBZE @)

(Continueq)
HK$'000
FET
GOODWILL 5
COST s
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RZZEZ=FNA—H ZZ2WF
31 March 2025 —A=+—HAKRZZEZRHF
=A=+—H 75,695
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT R EE
At 1 April 2023 A_E_=FME—H 75,695
Provided for the year (Note 8) FRE#H (H5E8) =
At 31 March 2024 A ZETOFE=F=+—H 75,695
Provided for the year (Note 8) FEREE (H:E8) =
At 31 March 2025 A ZETHF=F=+—H 75,695
CARRYING AMOUNT IRE$%E
At 31 March 2024 A _E_NME=B=+—H 1,000
At 31 March 2025 RZEZHRFE=B=+—H 1,000

Goodwill arose from acquisition of (i) 100% equity interest
in Comercializadora Ven 2010 C.A Limited and its subsidiary

ﬁEEEE (N ZZ—EHFELtANBWEC
BERABRABDKRAENE LB Z2100%

on 9 July 2014; and (i) 100% equity interest in ChaoShang HQK%%E s RV ZE—hE+ZA
Financial Holding Limited and its subsidiaries on 31
December 2019.

=t -HREIBERERBRAD R
HM B AT Z100%R S EmPAEL
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continueq)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and
goodwill

Intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated for
impairment testing purposes to the following cash-
generating units (“CGUS"):

- the operating activities of Comercializadora Ven 2010
C. A Limited which is engaged in finance leasing
business (the “Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU"); and

- the operating activities of ChaoShang Financial
Holding Limited which is engaged in provision of
financial services business (the “ChaoShang Financial
CGU").

The carrying amounts of intangible assets and goodwill

17 BEWEERBE @)

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

Hit\p B EREERERNS

BEERMECMAERARZBENMS
REUATREELEEN (REELESR

firJ) :

CIHBBRRABT ZEEES Al
REREREXE (CHEBR

TELEBM) ;&

HEERERBERARZEER
g Bt FRESRMARBES (T
BEmMREEEEM) -

PERERTELBEUCETVEERBE

A — B — — = — puy =4+
allocated to the CGUs as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as CERCAFRFNEZRAZ=A+
fo”ows: EZEEE{EQD—F .

Intangible

RZZEZHE assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2025 =RA=+—H EmEEE 5k “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU {“iEARSEEE M
Cost 7 1,000 1,000
Less: Impairment loss recognised B Bl 2R EEE = =
- 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU HEERIREEEEM
Cost 7 21,500 75,695 97,195
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BRERZRERE (21,000) (75,695) (96,695)
500 - 500
500 1,000 1,500

Intangible

RIEZME assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2024 =ZA=+—H EmLEE meE “Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU {“HEHBRESEEEN
Cost 7 - 1,000 1,000
Less: Impairment loss recognised B ERERRZRERE = = =
e 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU HEERIREELEEM
Cost 7 21,500 75,695 97,195
Less: Impairment loss recognised A BRESRZRERE (15,975) (75,695) (91,670)
50" . 5,525
5,525 1,000 6,525
—E_RFFR
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continued)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and
goodwill (Continuea)

Intangible assets and goodwill with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually or when there is
impairment indicator. Details of impairment testing are set
out below.

ChaoShang Financial CGU

An independent professional valuer was engaged by the
Company to perform an impairment test for intangible
assets and goodwill allocated to the ChaoShang Financial
CGU by comparing their recoverable amounts to their
carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period. The
recoverable amounts of the ChaoShang Financial CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by the senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
10.5% (2024: 11.5%), and the cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.5%
(2024: 2.5%). Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted revenue and profit margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development of
the ChaoShang Financial CGU. There was no change in the
basis on determination of the recoverable amounts as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

Since the recoverable amount of the ChaoShang Financial
CGU determined based on value in use calculation was
less than their carrying amounts, impairment losses on
intangible assets of approximately HK$5,025,000 (2024:
HK$11,275,000) were recognised during the year.

For sensitivity analysis, if the discount rate is increased or
the growth rate beyond the five-year period is decreased
by 100 basis points respectively, the recoverable amount
of the ChaoShang Financial CGU would be lower than
its carrying amount and the impairment loss on the
ChaoShang Financial CGU's assets would be increased by
approximately HK$8,000,000 and HK$7,000,000 respectively.

17

BREEREE @
HtE\EREEREERENS @

BEERACEAFHZEVEERBS
EOSFYNHRREFREETHE
A - ARAREANSZF BT

HEERIREEEEN

AABEEFEBEILSEEGEMBEBLL
BRZENAREHEARP TR E S 564
HEEmE o2 dmsnmReEL
BUNEFEERBEETRERR-
HEERIREEEEU 2 IWEIEEETS
REEREEET FHEENERES
HEBABMERERERMBEE
ERREREBAFE - ReEREEA
FriE Az BEIRE A10.5% (ZZ _PU4F .
11.5%) MAFPARZRERENER
2.5% (CEZHE 1 2.5%) 212 EXIf
HopstEEREEMANAEMNEER
RERSRA REGstER 298
EEEWE KR E > BRMGEHER
HEtRReESEUZBERERE
EEHmBERE B BE_E "1
FM_ZE_NE=B=+—H HBEd
Y [0l BB 2 ¥ i AL o

HRREBEEABEEEZ BRI
EEBAZIREIEHRENREE B
IR AFAEHEBELEERERBEN
5,025,000/ 7T (ZZ Z 94 : 11,275,000
BTT) °

MBREDHME > HAERRE NN E
FHIRIERZFR /D2 BI10085F > BIE ™
TR EL B AT REISEERER
HirEEEREYRemReELEUE
E Z BB R B 5 518 AN%98,000,0007
7T 527,000,000/ 7T ©
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BREEREE @

(Continued)
Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU CImEAREELEE
During the year, the management reviewed and assessed RAER BEEBERMIECIHESR
the value in use of the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU to HREeEFBEUNFEREEUEEETK
determine its recoverable amount. No impairment loss was IEI%%E ChhaBReELBUUED
recognised for the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU (2024: RZBERE (CETIEE &) o
Nil).
LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 18 BWRERKIE
2025 2024
—E_RE b= r1s =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loan receivables FEWER 156,063 176,908
Interest receivables FEWHI 2 31,236 32,267
Loan and interest receivables EWEHREF B 187,299 209,175
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (27,221) (44,738)
160,078 164,437
Current portion of loan and interest FEWE R R F B mEn 3t Hn
receivables 160,078 65,586
Non-current portion of loan and interest FEUR & = K& B IEREN 215
receivables - 98,851
160,078 164,437
Analysed as: DT
Within one year —FR 160,078 65,586
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ _Z=F AT (BiEEREME) = 98,851
160,078 164,437

—z=—neexg 233
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18 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables are

18

EWRE=R KR E @

B ERRF B Z REEN T EES]

denominated in the following currencies: B!
2025 2024
“E"RE ZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
HK$ HBIT 33,968 32,954
RMB AR 126,110 131,483
160,078 164,437

The aged analysis of loan and interest receivables that is not

T REBEREZERERKRT S RE D

considered to be impaired is as follows: M -
2025 2024
—E-REF —EmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Neither past due nor impaired BE R BRR TR AR BB 101,894 118,645

Past due but not impaired BRI ERRBE

0 to 30 days 0&30H 371 355
31 t0 90 days 31E90H 1,471 734
91 to 180 days 91E180H 3,981 1,089
more than 180 days 180H U k& 52,361 43,614
160,078 164,437
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18 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 18 BWERKRFE @

(Continueq)

Loan receivables are interest-bearing at approximately
3% to 18% (2024: 8% to 18%) and are repayable with fixed
terms agreed with the Group’s customers. The maturity date
for each loan contract is normally not more than 3 years
and were unsecured. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at each of the end of the reporting period is the carrying
value of the loan and interest receivables.

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for loan and interest receivables,
which permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision
for these loan and interest receivables, unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, which the Group then recognises lifetime
ECL. The management assessed the expected loss on all
loan and interest receivables individually and the credit
quality of loan and interest receivables has been assessed
by reference to historical information about counterparty
default rates.

The movement in the provision for impairment of loan and
interest receivables are as follows:

BB RULZ%E18% (ZT ZHF :
8%E18%) 5t B W EALEEEZERETE
WEEHRANER KERGREEIHH
—RABIESF > WA B - NERE
HIRFIEENRAEERRSEWER
KA SREREE

AEBEHRA—RA L HERERK
FEMEBMBHREERFIFRES
RERPEEERZEE EPAFMIE
ERBERKNEXRBRELSRREE
BEEE RIFEVREDREERR
ERERN AEEAEDERFHR
HREERE -EEEHNMARKERK
F BRI AR MERERKRHE
MEEERNDSEAMBFHENRY
BEBREETE

W ER AN SR EREESUT

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 April 2023 ATE_=FM8—H 31,677

Provision for impairment R ERE 14,159

Written off MisH (116)

Currency translation differences ERmEER (982)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 A ZEIWEFE=A=+—H

RZEZMOFEMEB—H 44,738

Provision for impairment REEE 15,759

Written off /) (33,276)

At 31 March 2025 RIBZHRFE=B=+—H 27,221

—E—nsEx 235



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

19 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 19 FEURERFR

2025 2024
“E"hREF =IO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Receivables arising from securities NEBHFCLEBEL
broking business: FEWLAR RN -
- Loans to margin clients —AREBEEEFREMR 42,266 44,660
- Clearing houses —EERT 405 1
42,671 44,661
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (31,521) (28,499)
__________________________________________________________ QSO 16162
Receivables arising from trading NEEFERES 2 BWIR
business 262,610 245,638
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (31,576) (31,125)
_________________________________________________________ El0SEN 214513
Total trade and account receivables FEUL AR TR 4B 2B 242,184 230,675
Receivables arising from securities broking HERLEENREIART
With regard to receivables arising from securities broking, MBARLELEZBBIRAIME » A&
the Group seeks to maintain tight control over its & = SR A 48 R A8 42 1) E 2R Uk O] 7B UK AR
outstanding account receivables and has procedures and FONREBREFRBERLGIHERZE
policies to assess its clients’ credit quality and define credit EEZNECBRAEPRNEERE %
limits for each client. All client acceptances and credit limits SERNECEERBEHIAHIEEMZA
are approved by designated approvers according to the EREBEEPNEEE R MZ.

clients’ credit quality.

o
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19 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 19 FEUERTR (&
(Continued)
Receivables arising from securities broking ESKLEEE ZRWERR @)

(Continued)

The normal settlement term of cash clients and clearing
houses account receivables arising from the ordinary
course of business of securities broking is two trading days
after the trade date.

Loans to margin clients are secured by the underlying
pledged securities, repayable on demand and bear interest
at commercial rates. As at 31 March 2025, the total market
value of securities pledged as collateral in respect of the
loans to margin clients was amounted to approximately
HK$34,832,000 (2024: HK$61,800,000). Securities are
assigned with specific margin ratios for calculating their
margin values.

Receivables arising from trading business
The Group's trade receivables are generally with credit
periods of 60 to 120 days (2024: 60 to 120 days).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the end
of the reporting period is the carrying amount value of the
trade and account receivables. Except for the receivables
arising from securities broking, the Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of the trade and account receivables
are denominated in following currencies:

RBSELCABEBBEREEZRK
RERPREEMRRHN—REERD
RZBEMERZH -

AREEE LB UERMIEIRE S
IR BREEKRER  WigmEHN XM
B RIE_RHF=B=+—HB 58\
REBEEEFERIBREEFRZES
Z AT {EAY 734,832,000 7T (ZZ Y
£ 1 61,800,000 70) © 55 M THE

ZRBEHEEUHBEERESEE.

BHEBRELNEIRERR
REENERERZ EEHE—RA0E
120k (C B ZPU4E © 60FE120K) ©

RERSHF BERZRAEERART
BUWRRZREE RRFELEEZ
FEWBRRRSN R E BT BT A AR
m iR IR

AR EIREEU T FIEETE !

2025 2024
—ECRE BT OE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 11,150 16,162
RVB AR 231,034 214,513
242,184 230,675
—g-—ngEy 237
4 B
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Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

19 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 19 FEUWERFR &

(Continued)

No ageing analysis of cash clients account receivables and
loans to margin clients is disclosed as in the opinion of the
Directors, the ageing analysis is not meaningful in view of
the nature of the cash clients account receivable arising
from securities broking and the revolving margin loans.

An aged analysis of receivables arising from trading
business, net of allowance for impairment, at the end of the
reporting period, based on the date of invoice (or date of
revenue recognition, if earlier), is as follows:

ENREREFCLZEBIIRTE R RN
RERFEEEMZUEE  EFBRK
EoiESE S EREAREK
REBRRRKRAFREEZET R EMZER

B Do

R|EHFR HEZAH Bk A
B WER) 2 BREFHESEZBUIRM
BN EREZREDANT

2025 2024

ZEZRHE —E s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFAET

0 to 30 days 0&30H - 16,871
31 to 60 days 31E60H 21,757 19,899
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H - -
91 to0 180 days 91E180H 11,641 2,653
More than 180 days 180U k& 197,636 175,090
231,034 214,513

The aged analysis of receivables arising from trading and
asset management businesses that are not considered to
be impaired is as follows:

T ERBEREZESREEEEERE
BEEZ BWOARRIRE 20T ¢

2025 2024

“E"RE =S s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT TFAET

Neither past due nor impaired BE R BRR TR AR BB 21,757 39,157
Past due but not impaired BEEHERBE

0 to 30 days 0&30H - -

31 t0 90 days 31E90H 11,641 21,540

91 to 180 days 91£180H 25,475 27,487

more than 180 days 180H A & 172,161 126,329

231,034 214,513
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19 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 19 FEWERI @
(Continueq)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide AEBBERBBICH X HTABWER
lifetime ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for all trade and account AR EBMBREENFIFTHETIR
receivables. The management assessed the expected l0ss B RFHREERE - BI2E @RI
on trade and account receivables individually. B EWERR B TasT I8
The individually impaired trade and account receivables are tEEHERERKERBDERESR
recognised based on the credit history of its customers, FPREE4LAH fIU 5 EIE S FUE
such as financial difficulties or default in payments, and 2 RIBITHIBBERIERRD L IZBFIE
current market conditions and are adjusted for forward- BIRL AN S5 /1 A BUS BRI BE M B R
looking information that is available without undue cost or FEE o
effort.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk DUN 8155 R R B AR FE BY FE W AR =R
exposure on the Group's trade and account receivables ERRRKOER :
using a provision matrix:
31 March 2025 —E-HFE=HB=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
than
0-90  91days-  181days- 2 years Over
Trade and account days 180 days 365 days BBIE 2 years Total
receivables due FEMER AR 0 (— 90E|) 91-180H  181-365H fBbp2s BiR2E 4Bt
Note,
(B 3%)
Effective expected HHANEREE
loss rate 41.82% 1.13% 10.58% 12.19% 21.87%
Gross carrying amount FREEE 76,573 25,767 40,778 92,955 69,208 305,281
Provision Bkt 32,026 292 4,314 11,328 15,137 63,097
31 March 2024 TEIMFE=A=+—H
Over 1year
but less
than
0-90 91 days - 181 days - 2\years Over
Trade and account days 180 days 365 days BioE 2years Total
receivables due FEMAR TR 0—(908) 91-1800  181-365H BIR2AE BB st
Note
(iEa)
Effective expected SEEER e ES
loss rate 27.86% 218% 8.61% 15.06% 60.54%
(Gross carrying amount REEE 106,540 28,101 64,410 69,208 22,040 290,299
Provision R 29,681 614 5,562 10,424 13,343 59,624

Note: Rank 0-90 days include cash clients account receivables and
loans to margin clients arising from securities broking business
of which no ageing analysis is determined.

Maximum exposure of credit risk and effective expected
loss rates are adjusted by settlements and/or collaterals
secured subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

|
ST

izt : 0-90H BB IER B FEALEBME
REDMBAZERREEERRRKE
REEEREM-

RAEARBRAERBSARBEEERD

RBARRESAREEIBNERR,FIK
REEETHE

—E_LFER
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19

20

TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 19 REUWERR @

(Continued) .
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade and FEWRFURBBE R HEEEUT ¢
account receivables is as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2023 ATE T =FMB—H 72,002
Derecognition through de-registration of a SFEEMY B A Bl B AR IEFE ST
subsidiary (13,235)
Provision for impairment BERE 27,462
Written off i H (24,182)
Currency translation difference ERHMEEE (2,423)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE-_NE=BA=1+—HkK
“ETMgEmE—H 59,624
Provision for impairment B ERE 25,387
Written off | (21,914)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RFE=FB=+—H 63,097
FACTORING RECEIVABLES 20 FEWR{RIEFRIE
2025 2024
“EZRE =Sl ¢ = 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Factoring receivables FEU(RIEFRIE 18,360 18,360
Interest receivables FEUF] & 1,120 639
19,480 18,999
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (1,158) (550)
18,322 18,449
The carrying amounts of the factoring receivables are FEWRIBRIBZ IREEUAREIIE
denominated in RMB.
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL AEEERA MG A BEWIRER
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for factoring receivables, which BRME B BERGERBIORHE
permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision for these BHEEHREZ &R EPATHRILSE
factoring receivables, unless there has been a significant FEURIZRRIBIR A 128 5 FRAAE B 6518
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, which the Bt FRIFBIRERREERRE B
Group then recognises lifetime ECL. EZ80 AEERERERFHRTERE

it
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20 FACTORING RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 FEWRIBFIE @)
The movement in the provision for impairment of factoring EURRERIBRERESENT .

receivables is as follows:

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FME—H 626

Reversal of impairment loss AL 43)

Currency translation differences ERnEER (33)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 S _g_mﬁ A=+—HkRK

“Z2ZMFEMA—H 550

Provision for impairment AEEE 607

Currency translation differences ERnEER 1

At 31 March 2025 N _E_HEF=RA=+—H 1,158

—E=—neryg 241 I
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21 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 21 FERREHEERIE
2025 2024
—E_RE = Vi =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current portion of finance lease FEW R E TE E B RBN D
receivables 24,473 26,080
Non-current portion of finance lease  FEUNFRRE R EFIEIERBIZ D
receivables - -
24,473 26,080
Less: Impairment loss B ORERIE (5,179) (4,029
19,294 22,051
The carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables are ERRERERIE REEUARKS
denominated in RMB. =
Minimum finance Present value of minimum
lease receivables finance lease receivables
REEKREHEERE RIEEWRBRENIBRE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E"RE ZZINF —EREF “ETWF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FHET FHET
Within one year —&R 24,473 26,089 24,473 26,080
In the second to fifth years, £_Z=ELE (B1F
inclusive HEMFE) - - - -
24,473 26,089 24,473 26,080
Less: Unearned finance B RBIRBBEWA
income - ©  N/AFREHR N/A F B
Present value of minimum  REEKRSHEE
finance lease receivables  FIBRME 24,473 26,080 24,473 26,080
Less: Impairment loss B REETE (5,179) (4,029) (5,179) (4,029)
19,294 22,051 19,294 22,051

Less: Current portion of wEWRERE
finance lease FIERE
receivables Bo (19,294) (22,051)

Non-current portion of EWREREIE
finance lease receivables  FERENEF - N
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21 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 EBWRERERIE @
The aged analysis of finance lease receivables that is not T RAEBREZE mﬁé%ﬁ%%lﬁﬁﬁé’%
considered to be impaired is as follows: DU
2025 2024
HK$ 000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Neither past due nor impaired BERBHATR R R E - 407
Past due but not impaired BERHERRE
0 to 30 days 0Z30H - 20,220
31 to 90 days 31E90H - -
91 to 180 days 91E180H - -
more than 180 days 180H M k£ 19,294 1,424
19,294 22,051
Set out below is the information about the credit risk LU B REREEEREN RN RS
exposure on the Group's finance lease receivables using a HEHBEERREKOBE
provision matrix:
31 March 2025 —E-RE=A=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days- 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
BBIE
Finance lease receivables due FEWRI BT SRR 0-90B  91-180R  181-365H fBbir2s BB st
Effective expected BHBENEHEE
loss rate - - 18,62% - 52,83%
Gross carrying amount REBE - - 22,652 - 1,821 24,473
ECL provision BEeE - - 4,217 - 962 5,179
31 March 2024 “EINFE=HF=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days- 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
BiRE
Finance lease receivables due FEWRI BT EHIERE 0-90B  91-180R  181-365H fBbresE BB st
Effective expected BHENEREE
loss rate 2.96% - - 52.82% 80.56%
Gross carrying amount REEE 21,256 - - 1,753 3,071 26,080
ECL provision BEeE 629 - - 926 2,474 4,029

Maximum exposure of credit risk and effective expected
loss rates are adjusted by settlements and/or collaterals
secured subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

|
ST

RAERRBAEREFEREFERE
BB RESAREEINERR,HIK
HEEETHE

—E_LFER
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21 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continvea) 21 BEWREHRERIE @

The movement in the provision for impairment of finance
lease receivables is as follows:

R REERERRAEREEINT

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2023 N_E_=—FMmWA—H 13,262

Reversal of provision for impairment (Note 8) BB E LI (H5E8) (3,376)

Written off b 67! (5,191)

Currency translation differences ERBEER (666)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 G:E_@E B=+—HBkKk

“ETEMPA—H 4,029

Provision for impairment BEEE 4,153

Written off /6] (3,003)

At 31 March 2025 N ZETRF=B=+—H 5,179

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, finance lease receivables
were secured over the leased assets mainly by machineries
and equipments.

The maturity date for each finance lease contract is
normally not more than 5 years. The interest rate inherent
in the leases is fixed at the contract date for the entire
lease term. The effective interest rate is approximately
10% to 15% (2024: 10% t0 15%) per annum. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at each of the end of the reporting
period is the carrying value of the finance lease receivables.

There was no unguaranteed residual value of assets leased
under finance leases as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The
Group applies the simplified approach to provide lifetime
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for finance lease receivables.
The management assessed the expected loss on all finance
lease receivables individually and the credit quality of
finance lease receivables has been assessed by reference
to historical information about counterparty default rates
and fair value of collaterals, if any.

RIBE-AFERZEME=A=+—
H> BUREEEREMERZEEE
EZRRERRE-

EMERESREIEA —RTBBSE-
REERSHRN  AEHNEUEEHE
FrEEEAE BREMNELHAI10%E
15% (ZZ_PO4E : 10%ZE15%) ° AR,
SR BEASRAEERER TS FE IR
BERIBZREE

TJQZEZEE&ZEZEEEH =t+-—

CIEREEAERTERBRAEEZ R
?Fsﬁfﬂ FEE - AEBRABLL A
HEWREEEREMREBMBREE
IR EstiRE B EHRMEES
B-BEBHMARWREEENIEAR
BIETETRHIRGIE M WRERE/IE
WEEERTHSEAMBEFHENERN
BEER KRR W0A) R EET
GREE
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22 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22 RBE-FEMNRIEREMEWRRIE

RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
“EZRHE —E YL
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Deposits paid, prepayments and other 21132 % ~ AT FIE
receivables (Note) Fe L FEUSRIE (M 5E) 60,001 79,943
Less: Impairment loss B ORERIE (13,130) (11,248)
46,871 68,695
The movement in the provision for impairment of deposits BERAEMEBWRIEREREBEEN
and other receivables is as follows: T
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2023 N _E_=FMA—H 4,532
Provision for impairment BEEE 6,846
Currency translation differences ERmEER (130)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZ2ZIMOF=F=+—H
—EENPA—H 11,248
Provision for impairment REREE 6,941
Written off b 67! (5,059)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ2_AF=B=+—H 13,130
Note: Included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables was the M5t - BIEREE BORIEREMERRIERE
net amount of the compensation receivables from the vendors FoBE—EHARBEZE—NAE+Z
in relation to a profit guarantee given by the vendors when the B=+—HUWENmESMIERERAE
Company acquired ChaoShang Financial Holding Limited on 31 FRELAHBEFHATNENRSE BHEN
December 2019. The carrying amount of the net compensation HEEER - RE_AF=B=+—
receivables amounted to approximately HK$31,708,000 as at 31 Hr RWEIEWBEERFERERERDN
March 2025 (2024: HK$42,662,000). 31,708,000/ 7T (ZZ =M : 42,662,0007%
7o) °
—z=—peeyg 245
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23

24

HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 23 FHIFEERE
2025 2024
ZEZREF “Z2TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through R ARBEStAEZNEMEE
profit or loss
Equity securities held-for-trading: FIEEBERARE
- Listed in Hong Kong —REBL™ 22,979 12,957

The held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of listed
equity securities are determined by reference to the bid
prices on the Stock Exchange.

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with
licensed banks to hold securities clients’ monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients” monies as “Cash held on behalf of clients” under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement
of financial position and recognised the corresponding
account payables to respective clients on the grounds that
the Group is liable for any loss or misappropriation of the
clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use the clients’
monies to settle its own obligations.

24

RFEEERENBSHRELAAESR
Fle EMRAREFZ A NES RSP
BYR B RE ©

ER{EEER

REBRFRIRTRILIEILEFERP
UEFBEEREFEBRTEENESS
FBIRIE @R R ERER B
BERGEMBRREDPRBEE AT
ERHAERZBRNERER ZER
ZERTEEIEHZEBNERETERZ
FR-AERERBATR ZFRLUE
HAEEZEE-
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25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25 RERIIRITEE
2025 2024
—EZRE =Sl ) ¢= 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT TFAET
Cash at bank and on hand IRTTAFERS 59,845 129,045
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are B MIRTEFZREAEN TGS
denominated in the following currencies: & :
2025 2024
ZEZRHE =Sl ¢= 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
HKS =TT 19,625 34,762
uUs$ ETT 1,058 1,121
EUR BRoT 4 4
RMB AR 39,158 93,158
59,845 129,045
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign o B B 45 BR 50 HR 43 SN I A% 1D 25 S S
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies RITEFRRIREEHPE BETHE
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are B i S B & 5l 78 5 2 48 R AR Bl Keo%
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange Fio

control promulgated by the PRC government.
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26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 g7
(@) Authorised capital (@) EERE
Number of Nominal
shares value
KRir& B mHiE
HK$'000
TFAET
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RIE_=FmWA—Q"

and 2025, ordinary shares of TEIMFERZZIRE

HK$0.02 each —A=1+—H SKEE
0.028 Tz Z@mR M 5,000,000,000 100,000

(b) Issued and fully paid capital (b) BERITRERZEE
Number of Nominal
shares value
K& E EE
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RIE_=FWA—H>
and 2025, ordinary shares of TEIMFER-ZZEIHE
HK$0.02 each =B=+—H8H =sREE

0.02B Tz E@mRMN 4,120,600,000 82,412




26 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

()

Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 28 September 2023, the shareholders of the
Company approved the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in replacement
of the old share option scheme which expired on 2
September 2023. The Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 28
September 2023, unless otherwise terminated. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Company with a flexible and effective means of
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the Directors, employees
and other participants of the Company and the Group.

The total number of share options to be granted,
at the end of the reporting period, under the new
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued shares of the Company as at 28 September
2023, which was 412,060,000 shares, with a service
provider sublimit at 1% of the issued shares of the
Company as at 28 September 2023, which was
41,206,000 shares.

The Company may seek approval of the shareholders
in general meeting to refresh the scheme mandate
limit and/or the service provider sublimit under
the Share Option Scheme after three years from
the adoption date (or the date of shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment), provided that
the limit so refreshed must not exceed 10% of the
relevant class of shares in issue as at the date of
passing the relevant resolution. The Company must
send a circular to the shareholders containing such
information as required under the Listing Rules.
Any refreshment of the scheme mandate limit and/
or the service provider sublimit to be made within
three years from the adoption date (or the date of
shareholders approval for the last refreshment) shall
be subject to independent shareholders” approval.
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26 MA@

(c)

fERRtEst &

RAEABD ZZEZ=ZFEALAZ+N\
ARTZREBFAG L AT
R ERMBRESE (TBR
g URHREZZ =51
B HEMBERBRESS fR5
TRIESN BRESEIE-E =
FARZHNBEFEEMRE
Mo+ F-BRESEEER
RRBEREEBEREEAEN
HERERBRAEEAZES B
ERHEMBEERMEESEE)-
< R, SRR o

RIE BRI B IR RERR
WEOARSHEER FEBAEC
E_—FAAZ+HNBARFEE
B1TIRHHI10% > B1412,060,000
BRERG hABBa_—_T "=
NBZ+NA\BAXARBBEETR
M BI1%ER TSR 5 D IBPR %8 > Bl
41,206,0008% P& 15 ©

AAE) A BIRA B R (SRR EHLE
BRE—REHER) E=FEEBRRK
BAG EESRREHAEFENER
TR B TR ERER X
ARSI HE D IEIREE  EEFER
BASHEEEBHEBRERZREH
Z BEITHERERIRD Z210% ° &
NEIBARKRRTEHE TR
FriRE AR E R Z @K - B4 H
HHERRILERE—REFHEH)
EZFENEHTERERER
FARFSIREE D IEIREE BRI
PR R A o

—E_LFER
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26 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 26 B 4
(c) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (c) HERR#ESE @
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the RIEBREFSEERERENE
Share Option Scheme will not be regarded as utilised RN B s8R KRR
for the purpose of calculating the scheme mandate REEBDEREFETERGEA
limit and the service provider sublimit. Bi7fEe
The exercise price, vesting period, the exercisable SRR EBEHBERERET
period and the number of shares subject to each HEREZITEE REB ﬁ@
option will be determined by the Board at the time of AR P K R AD 8B - B4 B HA
grant. No option has been granted by the Company ERFEHE AARTREEDS
under the expired share option scheme and the Share EmeEREST 8 Rt R
Option Scheme since its adoption to the date of this RIS o
report.
27 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 27 BRERIBEE, (BR)
The major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the AEBCRILELERBEE (87
Group are as follows: ZEEEHUWT :
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEREEE BEREEE
Fair value
Revaluation  adjustment on
Allowance on  of investment intangible
doubtful debts property assets Total
RIRERE BB RaEREE Foh
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET FTERT TET
At 1 April 2023 RIE-=FWE—AR 17,498 (648) (2,689 (3,337)
Recognised in profit or loss BiEm T 4,793 191 1,860 2,051
Currency translation difference ERHREEHE (601) 32 - 3
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZF-ME=R=+—H
RZZ-MENB—A 21,690 (425) (829) (1,254)
Recognised in profit or loss BiEm R (9,756) - 829 829
Recognised in other comprehensive BEMZEK TR
income - (1,436) - (1,436)
At 31 March 2025 RZB-H1&£=B=+—A 11,934 (1,861) - (1861)
At 31 March 2025, the Group did not recognise deferred tax RIE_HEE=ZA=+—H > &~&EH
assets in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately TEREIDBRARKEBEBENIELERIE
HK$420,225,000 (2024: HK$228,558,000). The Hong Kong iﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁ%’\]%l&O,ZZS,OOO%ﬁ (==&
tax losses of approximately HK$260,159,000 (2024: Z P4 : 228,558,000/ 70) o BEIRIA
HK$228,156,000) can be carried forward indefinitely and the E538%49260,159,000 75 (Z =& — 04 .
remaining PRC tax losses will be expired from 2026 to 2029 228,156,00078 7) B % (R A4S 88 K H R
(2024: 2025 to 2028). Deferred tax assets are recognised E’JEPI%RIEEE?EHB\_V _/\fﬁi_
for temporary difference on ECL to the extent that the THhECEINF . CETAHFECE
realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable Z\F) Bl o BRI BB R R ER R A
profit is probable. ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂﬁ’WAW%%Ef

BRZEREBREDELCNREE -
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27

28

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(Continued)

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless
reduced by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC
subsidiaries to its immediate holding company outside the
PRC for earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008.

The Group’'s management determines the dividend
distribution plan of the subsidiaries in the PRC. Based on the
dividend distribution plan, retained profits as at 31 March
2025 amounting to approximately HK$65,886,000 (2024:
HK$71,200,000) will not be distributed by the subsidiaries
as dividend in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation has
not been provided in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the temporary difference attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not release in the foreseeable future.

27

RIERIEEE (&R @

BT N\F—A—H0R%n FIFRE
MIBIRA T LURL » REIR AR E HE
Mt~ B EEE A MR H P EE S
ERERABDIKR B EEMI0%TEN
o

FEEEEBEETRNBARZKRE
DIKEtEl  RBER B DIKET B ZFMW
BABENR-_ZE-_RF=A=+—HZFK
BB ia ] & H#965,886,00078 7T (ZZ Y
£ 171,200,000787T) BIREIRARAE
DIKNERRE - AN AL B A EHE
Rt =R BOIRRE MEZEREE
ERFERATRARKAGEA > FIULREE
TR B B A B 7 kR B AP 51 FR Y
BRI ER 2 AREERBEL LA
B BHRERPEHR

TRADE AND ACCOUNT PAYABLES 28 FE(TERFX
2025 2024
“E"hEF B NFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Payables arising from securities REFSCAEETEE
broking business: FEITERRR -
— Cash clients account payables —ENREEPER 6,373 2,162
- Margin clients account payables —EAREEELERR 10,605 11,715
— Clearing houses — R - 32
Total trade and account payables FE{TRRFNARZE 16,978 13,909

_m?§ .
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28 TRADE AND ACCOUNT PAYABLES 28
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of trade and account payables are
denominated in following currencies:

FE 13 BRFR (@)

FETERRR Z BREE U THI G EE5(E

2025 2024

“ERE ZEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

HK$ BT 16,962 13,888
uss$ ES 16 21
16,978 13,909

In view of the nature of the payables arising from securities
broking, no ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion
of the Directors, the ageing analysis is not meaningful. The
normal settlement terms of payables arising from securities
broking are two trading days after the trade date.

ENREBHFELZBMRIME B

BRI EETER NI EKE
IREDT -NESFELCEBBERETEE
ZEMERN—REERARZ AEM
Bxx5%He-
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29 AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 29 BEff—%EEMIE
Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and FEN—REEREABRIETF - REXIZ
repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the balance ERFER ZEEGRZREBEUET
is denominated in HK$. F{E o

30 COMMITMENTS 30 KiIE

(a)

(b)

The Group as lessee

(@) AEBEAEEA

At the end of the reporting period, the lease RS AR ENAERE
commitments for short-term leases are as follows: wr

2025 2024

—EZRE =Sl )=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TAET

Not later than 1 year TIBI1E 18 93
None of the leases include contingent rentals. BMEAESSHAHE-

The Group as lessor

(b) FEBEEHEHEA

At the end of the reporting period, the operating lease Eé%ﬁfﬂt/ﬁﬂ* » ASEH A i A MO
rental receivables are as follows: mE

2025 2024

“EZRHE —E UL

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Not later than 1 year TIBFEF 1,832 -

Later than 1 year but not later ZIEBRERSE
than 5 years 198 -
2,030 -
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31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 1 ZEHEERE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) BRMRAIRSIEARES EFEAAR
cash used in operations EZHER
2025 2024
—E_RE —ETUE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TFHET
Loss before taxation PRI AIES 18 (83,817) (91,767)
Bank interest income RITH EUA 7 (848) (751)
Sublease interest income DHEBEF SBWA 7 (48) (135)
Dividend Income & B UA 7 (302) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary Hj‘iﬁﬁ):' NIl & 7 (352) -
Written back of other payables E &< 7 IE[o] 3 - (2,849)
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and — W R A
equipment 14(a) 1,896 4,739
- Right-of-use assets —fEREEE 14 (b)) 8,458 8,364
Impairment loss on loan FEWE R F ERIE
and interest receivables #5918 18 15,759 14,159
Impairment loss on trade and ~ FEWERFURI{E A58
account receivables 19 25,387 27,462

Impairment loss/(Reversal of  FEWRIEFNIERE

impairment loss) on factoring 548, ([B]3%)

receivables 20 607 (43)
Impairment loss/(Reversal of  FENFE B RS HIE

impairment loss) on finance  E{EESIE, (E#)

lease receivables 21 4,153 (3,376)
Impairment loss on deposits e R EMEWIE

and other receivables AERE 22 6,941 6,846
Loan and interest receivables  FEW E R R F] S #iEH

written off 18 - 4,407
Loss on changes in fair value of &Y E A REEENEE

investment property 15 - 763
Impairment loss on intangible mLEERERE

assets 17 5,025 11,275
(Gain)/Loss on changes in fair  FFHEEBRE QN ABEES)

value of held-for-trading (W) B8

investments 8 (12,653) 3,474
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of HERFIEFEBERE

held-for-trading investments ~ &548, (Wgik) 8 637 (10,815)
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of HEWE REREM

property, plant and equipment  &518, (&%) 8 271 )
Loss on disposal of interest in -~ HHEB = QA B R E 8

an associate 16 - 5,868
Loss on de-registration of sFEEMYE A B R 1R

a subsidiary 8 - 10,579
Share of results of an associate DhE= A B 24 16 - 3,386
Finance costs FE A 9 281 793

254  snnval re rt
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31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 1 FRRERER @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) FMRMRAIEHEAKEERERAR
cash used in operations (Continuead) EZHER @
2025 2024
—EBCRE —EpuE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET
Cash used in operations before Kit&=EESEHHFILE
working capital changes (AR E (28,605) (7,623)
Decrease in other non-current  EAthIERENE &= i
assets 25 -
Increase in loan and interest  FEWE R RF E 140
receivables (11,400) (12,283)
(ncrease)/Decrease in trade  FEURBRFR (B8m) /i
and account receivables (36,896) 12,387
(Increase)/Decrease in factoring FEUIRIBFRTE (3E00) L
receivables (480) 786
(Increase)/Decrease in finance FEUWBIE A EFIA
lease receivables g R (1,396) 13,428
Decrease in deposits, & R AMEWEIE
prepayments and other e
receivables 14,883 867
Decrease in amount due from  FEUER & A S FRIE R
an associate - 2,546
(Increase)/Decrease in cash ER{EEER Em R
held on behalf of clients (2,764) 8,201
Increase/(Decrease) in trade  FE{FERFRIZ NN, GRizL)
and account payables 3,069 (19,196)
Increase/(Decrease) in accruals, FE&TE A~ HhES B K&
other payables and Bun£Em, GRb)
deposit received 5,019 (4,704)
Cash used in operations REEEPTRRE (58,545) (5,591)
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31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31 ZERERER @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for the years ended 31 March

2025 and 2024 presented.

(b) %i‘%iﬁ%ﬁiﬂﬁ
FHHEINBE_T_RER"
“MmME=Z/A= —|— EIJJ:EEEFEE
SIEF FRREH FREHND

o
2025 2024
—E-RE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 59,845 129,045
Borrowing &
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (1,726) (10,705)
- Amount due to a Director —EN—%EERIE (306) (70)
Net cash &5 57,813 118,270
Liabilities from financing
Other assets activities
HthgE MEIBELZEE
Cash and Amount
cash duetoa
equivalents Lease Director
RE&Rk liabilities FEft—% Total
REZEN HEAE EEHE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FER TET TER
Net cash as at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FNA—BH
Eﬁ%@%ﬁ 138,497 (20,882) (1,536) 116,079
Cash flows changes: RERELE.
Cash outflows Remd (5,522) 10,970 1,466 6914
Other changes: Hithgs .
Interest expense FEZH - (793) - (793)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMEZRE (3,930) - - (3,930)
Net cash as at 31 March 2024 RIZZME=A=1t—Hk
and 1 April 2024 “Z-MENE—BH
IE%%%E 129,045 (10,705) (70) 118,270
Cash flows changes: REnmEgs.
Cash inflows REmA - - (236) (236)
Cash outflows REmd (69,709) 10971 - (58,738)
Other changes: Hithgs .
Interest expense FEx - (281) - (281)
Addition 1&m = (1,71) - (1,71)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMEZHE 509 - - 509
Net cash as at 31 March 2025 RIZZHE
“A=t+-HNRE3E 59,845 (1,726) (306) 57,813
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

(@) Transactions with related parties

Related parties relationship Nature of transaction

BB ZRifR RHULE

32 BEALRS
R A BRELMBHREZRS
MAEERSN > A MR A R BRI /5 2
TTHTRS

(@) BERERZRS

2025 2024
—EB_RE —E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Associate company and
companies controlled by the
associate company

B A B R 2 B R Bl
A E]

Rental income in relation to sub-
lease of office premises - (1,787)
BRESHEBAEZHEETIWA

(b) Key management compensation

The remuneration of key management personnel of

(b) FEEIEASIRM
REERAEETEEEAEN

the Group during the year was as follows: BT -
2025 2024
—ERE —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Salaries, allowances and other i R R H M ER]
benefits 9,125 8,186
Contributions to retirement benefits B tR#@F] st EI (1R
scheme 123 130
9,248 8,316

—E-ngEw 257



MODERN INNOVATIVE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(formerly known as Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk 3 S 5 Fi AR B

RIIER AT
RABEERNRE R L FEEMAIL
ZSuperb Smart Limited2& 722 B B 4% 4%
RYNCIK

33 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 33
The Directors of the Company regard Superb Smart Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as
being the ultimate holding company of the Company.

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34 FTABHMBRRARKRFEFES
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
(@ Information about the statement of financial position @ AERBIRMEMERZMBRTER
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is BRI
as follows:
2025 2024
“E"RE B NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ERN =Y Er Y] 5 15
Right-of-use assets ERAREE = 2,700
Investments in subsidiaries B ARKRE 88,000 119,000
88,005 121,715
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries, FEW B AR RRIE > FRE
net 498,622 543,868
Deposits, prepayments and B FANRIER
other receivables H g =IE 33,896 48,052
Held-for-trading investments FIEEERE 22,979 12,957
Net investment in sublease DR E FEE - 1,902
Cash and bank balances RERIRTTHERF 960 4,085
556,457 610,864
Total assets BEEHE 644,462 732,579
EQUITY Vi
Capital and reserves BARRKEE
Share capital (&N 82,412 82,412
Reserves G 555,460 641,985
Total equity g k] 637,872 724,397
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (continuea)

(@ Information about the statement of financial position
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is

as follows: (Continued)

MEHFHRBRAE]
(FIBEBHmEBFRALE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FABMBRARRFEEES

f-7

@

RRABPRREPRZHH R R

BT @

2025 2024
“EZREF —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current liabilities REAaE
Lease liabilities HEsE - 4,750
Accruals, other payables and FESTE A~ A
deposit received FIERBWZS 6,284 3,362
Amount due to a Director B —REEHIA 306 70
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 6590  818&
Total liabilities wmamF 6,590 8,182
Total equity and liabilities ExkaEiEsE 644,462 732,579
Net current assets RBEEFRE 549,867 602,682
Total assets less EEEERTBER
current liabilities 637,872 724,397

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June

2025 and was signed on its behalf.

Ma Weihua

BRTE
Director

EZE

ERBZMBRRIRENR -
THERBITAHEESEH

EWHREREE

Zheng Juhua

EBETE
Director
EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 3 I D5 AR Y

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34 XRBPBHBRARKRFEES

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE (&)

COMPANY (continued)

() Information about the reserve movement of the b)) EKRBIRREMERZFHEEHE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as BT
follows:

Share  Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total

BN EE BRRE Zitiie ekl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

TERT TET TER TERT

At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FMA—H 1,000,745 34,178 (293,807) 741,116
Loss for the year AEEBE - - (99,131) (99,131)
At 31 March 2024 RIZEZME=F=+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (392,938) 641,985
Loss for the year AEEBE - - (86,525) (86,525)

At 31 March 2025 RIZEZHE=B=+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (479,463) 555,460
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35 FEWELE
THABRABDNR _E_RE=ZR=+—

35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2025: Bz XEMNBAE :
Particulars of issued/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/  registered and fully paid Principal activities and shares held by
Name Note registration share capital place of operation the Company
EATFRE
218 53 R tE R BETRBREERES TEEBREEHY BRIFE AL
Shares held directly:
Ef5E
Noble Century Investment British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 each Investment holdings 100%
Group Limited HEERRHS RERERIETZRG REER
Shares held indirectly:
5 -
Noble Century Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Money lending operated in Hong Kong 100%
CIHHBERAS BB 10,000 7T REBREREER
3% () mEHRERRAR @  People's Republic of China  US$43,000,000 Finance leasing operated in the PRC 100%
H 43,000,000% 7T RAELEHEREER
3 (R EZERAT @) People’s Republic of China  RMB200,000,000 Trading in the PRC 100%
H A\ #200,000,0007T RPBRREEZEH
EIREE (RY) BRAF @) People’s Republic of China HK$40,000,000 Trading in the PRC 100%
H 40,000,000% 7T RREEEE %%
CHEBE (R BERAF (@ () People’s Republic of China - RMB50,000,000 Provision of entrusted loan in the PRC 100%
H R #50,000,0007T RPBRRERTER
I () EXBRAT @)  People's Republic of China  US$150,000 Provision of consultancy and 100%
H 150,000% 7T factoring services and
general trading in the PRC
RARER (B RARIEIRTS &
CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Provision of asset management services 100%
LIMITED S 10,000,000% 7 in Hong Kong
HEEEERERAT REBREEEEERE
ChaoShang Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$102,780,000 Provision of securities brokerage, 100%
HEESERAR B 102,780,000 7T underwriting, placing, margin
financing services in Hong Kong
REERERESCL 08 BE-
RECHERSE
—=—perg 261
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35

36

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprises
under the PRC law.

(b)  The subsidiary is registered as a limited liability enterprise under
the PRC law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the reporting period or at anytime during both
years.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balance of approximately HK$39,152,000
(2024: approximately HK$92,058,000) are held in the PRC
and are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These exchange control regulations provide for restrictions
on exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

COMPARATIVES FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year's presentation.

35

36

FEMBAT &

P5E

@ EWEASNREREEEEHANE
BHE %o

() ZMBREARBTENEREFEMAIDE
REFERAF-

MEARBENREARAMEFEER
ERIRE T ERERES

EFZRD LERAVNA AT WEAF
FTEREAFTEXRUBUEAEREE
FEZEZHM -EFBRIHEAMMN
BREZHBRLRIBARTR

BAPRH

HE RIRITHET74I39,152,000 Hig (T =
U4 : #992,058,0005 7T) 1 REEE
TEMIINES R c ZEBSHINES
FARHH B ' HEINEMR S 15
BB B ERRIN o

EEgEF
ETLBRAFEEEMDBUTEEE
225
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2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-hE BpNE E”Z=F - _Z”_-&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FTAET TER FET TER
Results £
Revenue W 73,706 144,950 198,924 169,386 337,853
Loss before taxation PRI AIES 1R (83,817) 91,767) (44,855) (26,387) (24,409)
Taxation (expense)/credit "B (BR) /&R (5,146) 4,204 3,062 (768) 960
Loss for the year FEERBE (88,963) (87,563) (41,793) (27,155) (23,449)
Loss attributable to KNBFAE AEN
owners of the Company B (88,963) (87,432) (41,749) (26,842) (23,168)
Loss attributable to JEIERR R AR e
non-controlling interests B8 - (131) (44) (313) (281)
Dividends RE - - - - -
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Total assets BEHEE 677,406 767,563 916,102 1,018,657 1,067,749
Total liabilities BEEE 37,765 43778 83,007 94,321 143,774
Net assets BEFE 639,641 723,785 833,095 924,336 923,975
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